
MEETING: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION PANEL

DATE: Friday 9th July, 2021

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: REMOTE

DECISION MAKER: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
PANEL

Councillor Lappin
Councillor Byrom
Councillor Dutton
Councillor Grace

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Jayne Vincent
Consultation, Engagement and 
Performance Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 3840
Fax:
E-mail: Jayne.vincentl@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
 1.  Welcome and apologies

 2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

 3.  Minutes of meeting held on Friday 28th May 
2021

(Pages 5 - 
14)

 4.  Matters Arising

 5.  Feedback and Evaluation report - 
Coronation Park

(Pages 15 - 
44)

 6.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Hesketh Park 
Improvements

(Pages 45 - 
52)

 7.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Coast & Parks 
User Satisfaction Survey

(Pages 53 - 
74)



 8.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Integrated Care 
Partnership Communications and 
Engagement Approach (Presentation at 
Panel)

(Pages 75 - 
84)

 9.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Co-Production 
Report Day Care Opportunities

(Pages 85 - 
100)

 10.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Supported Living 
Briefing Paper

(Pages 101 - 
104)

 11.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Bootle Area 
Action Plan Community Engagement 
Strategy with presentation at Panel by 
Michael Clare

(Pages 105 - 
130)

 12.  Proposal to undertake Public Engagement 
and Consultation Activity - Mental Health 
Survey in Sefton Schools / Colleges

(Pages 131 - 
256)

 13.  Any Other Business

 14.  Date of next meeting - Friday 10th 
September 2021, 10.00 a.m. Venue to be 
confirmed - either Assembly Hall, Bootle 
Town Hall with video conferencing in 
Southport Town Hall or Remote



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 

Meeting held on Friday 28th May 2021 
Remote Meeting 

 
 
Present:  
  
Councillor Paulette Lappin (Chair) 
Councillor Leslie Byrom (CBE) 
Nigel Bellamy – VCF Sector Representative 
Wendy Anderson – Healthwatch Sefton 
Joel Thornton – Sefton CVS, Sefton Young Advisors 
Georgia Ribbens – Young Advisor Project Officer for Sefton CVS 
Martin Sarbutts, Facilities Development and Management Officer, Green Sefton, 
Sefton MBC  
Rachel Northover, Team Leader – Community & Resources, Green Sefton, Sefton 
MBC 
Joshua Cross, Business Intelligence Officer, Sefton MBC 
Paul McCann, VCF & Equalities Officer, Sefton MBC 
Jayne Vincent - Consultation & Engagement Lead, Sefton MBC 
Joanne Edgar – Admin Support, Sefton MBC 
 
Apologies: 
 
Councillors Brough, Grace and Dutton 
Debbie Appleton, Director of Strategy & Performance, Merseyside Fire & Rescue 
Service  
Lyn Cooke – Communications & Engagement Manager, South Sefton and Southport 
& Formby CCGs 
Jackie Sutton, IRMP Officer, Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 

 
The reports presented to the Public Consultation and Engagement Panel can be 

found here: 

 

Sefton Council Panel Meeting 28th May 2021 

 

 

Action 

1. Welcome and Apologies 

Apologies:  

Councillors Brough, Grace and Dutton 
Debbie Appleton, Director of Strategy & Performance, Merseyside 
Fire & Rescue Service  
Lyn Cooke – Communications & Engagement Manager, South 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=10325&Ver=4


2 
 

Sefton and Southport & Formby CCGs 
Jackie Sutton, IRMP Officer, Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 

2. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 

interests were received. 

 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12th March 2021 are a 

true and proper record. 

 

4. Matters Arising 

Item 5 - LCR – Race Engagement Equality Plan  

Nigel Bellamy raised that Emeka Onoura had not contacted him to 
discuss CVS work with and knowledge of the BAME community. 
Jayne Vincent said that Emeke had not sent a statement for the 
Ward Councillors.  Jayne to follow up these points with Emeke. 

 

 

 

 

Jayne Vincent 

5. Feedback and Evaluation report – SEND Spring 2021 
Parent and Carer Survey 

Jayne Vincent and Joshua Cross presented feedback on the SEND 
Spring 2021 Parent and Carer Survey which closed on 26th March 
2021.   

Summary of Consultation Results: 

• Sefton has 2,061 children and young people with an EHC 
Plan and currently 186 open EHC assessments. 

• The survey was completed by 273 respondents, with a 
response rate of 12%.  This was a similar response rate as 
the last 2 surveys (in 2019 and 2020). 

• The response rate differed across sections, with a 77% 
response rate to the education section (corresponding with 
the number of children and young people attending 
educational establishments), 54% to health and 19% to 
social care. Of the children with an EHC plan 313 are known 
to social care, so the lower response to the social care 
section was not surprising.   

• There was insufficient evidence to say that responses 
differed depending on how long engagement had been with 
SEND services apart from SEND Local Offer and 
SENDIASS – the longer they had engaged with SEND, the 
more likely they were to have heard of the services. 

Jayne noted that feedback had been very useful and had been 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



3 
 

cascaded to the SEND Continual Improvement Board to support 
the improvement plan and the SEND Co-production sub-group, 
where they agreed to look at how to increase the response rate for 
future surveys  Jayne highlighted that there had been some 
improvements to the Key Performance Indicators in terms of 
communication and contact details but there are still some areas 
were improvements  are needed. They are waiting to hear whether 
there are  plans for another short survey or a full one to be 
undertaken next year.  Jayne said that they will keep the Panel 
informed of engagement required. 

Councillor Lappin felt that it was an excellent report and that it was 
an example of good practice, which should be referenced to the 
Panel.  

Nigel Bellamy commented on the different cohort sizes around 
social care. He asked whether it is worth targeting some 
questionnaires? He wondered whether there is a way of breaking 
up the survey to get greater clarity?  Jayne responded that if they 
do the survey online again the Task and Finish Group could 
consider how it is structured – by having a content as opposed to a 
linear survey.  She felt that the education section is applicable to 
most, though people may also want to discuss health but not  the 
social care section as it may not be applicable 

Councillor Lappin thanked Jayne and Joshua for the report. 

6. Equalities Monitoring Analysis for the Southport Golf Links 
Consultation 

A feedback and evaluation report was presented to the 
Consultation and Engagement Panel in March 2021 on the 
Southport Golf Links Survey.  At this meeting the Panel requested 
information on the analysis of the equalities monitoring responses.  
Martin Sarbutts returned to the Panel to present findings of the 
results. 

Summary of Equality Monitoring Analysis: 

• Respondents were mainly in 40-69 age group – 
predominantly male (83%) – corresponding with golf users 
of the course. 

• Ethnicity: mostly white British (49%) – 39% white English –
corresponding with the profile of golf users on the course 
and wider golfing demographic. 

• In terms of disabilities, 85% did not have a disability, 7% 
preferred not to say, and of those with a disability, the largest 
proportion was a long-term health condition (of which there 
were a broad spectrum of health conditions) 

Martin reported that in order to increase membership for younger 
age groups, there was a free junior membership promotion in April 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



4 
 

2021, which recruited ninety new members at the Southport course. 

Given that the cohort of golf users on the course reflects that of the 
national cohort profile, Council Lappin asked how can we 
encourage other users, for example people who have never played 
before? She said that perhaps one of the strengths of the course is 
that it is municipal golf course as opposed to a club and may be 
regarded as more affordable and less cliquey. 

Martin responded that in addition to the free membership offer in 
April, they will be running a  junior coaching session at Meols Cop 
High School for year 8 boys and girls with the offer of free 
membership at the end.  The plan is to offer this to more schools in 
Southport and then roll out to Bootle.  Meols Cop have already 
indicated that Stanley High School are interested. Martin 
highlighted that in Bootle promotional activity is being undertaken 
regarding the new driving range being built and shortly there will be 
a soft market test activity to employ a professional to provide 
lessons on Bootle Golf Course, which will hopefully attract a new 
user group.  In addition, work is underway with the Communications 
Team to promote the golf courses. 

Council Lappin suggested linking up with Sefton CVS as they are 
connected with voluntary sports people.  Nigel Bellamy said he was 
happy to link up with Martin on this. 

Martin felt that once a golf professional is employed, this will enable 
them to put people together who have never played as he 
acknowledged it can be daunting for first timers on the golf course 

Council Byrom commented that golf is not really a mass crowd 
game and can be developed as a way of keeping people in a Covid 
protected way, perhaps offering a new lease of life to what was 
considered an elite sport? Martin responded that usage since the 
golf courses reopened has been very good – with nearly 6,500 at 
Bootle since the end of March and Southport has exceeded this 
number.  Martin agreed that it is fairly easy to be Covid secure on 
the golf course, socially distanced and that it is very healthy given 
the amount of walking.  Indeed, members are booking ahead to get 
regular slots. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Martin Sarbutts 

 

7. Proposal to Undertake Public Consultation and Engagement 
Activity – Allotments 

Martin Sarbutts presented the proposal for engagement activity 
with regards to allotments.  He explained that they are in the 
process of creating a new allotment strategy as the previous one 
has expired.  Currently waiting lists are at an all-time high and 
availability of new allotments is very low.  The intention is to create 
a strategy for the next 10 years and they want the views of current 
allotment holders, ones on the waiting list and those who are not 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



5 
 

on the list.  Martin said that the perception of having an allotment 
is that it is easy, but the reality is that it is hard work and they are 
keen to find out people’s feelings about it and the price and are 
looking to commence a survey within the next few weeks with a 6-
8 weeks duration.  As part of the strategy they are also looking to 
create a forum for allotment holders, to help drive information 
through.    

Jayne Vincent asked whether there were any plans to engage with 
allotment holders other than via the survey, to reach those who 
perhaps have not got access to the Internet?  Martin responded 
that they are planning to go on site with associations and provide 
paper copies.  In addition, as part of the engagement they will be 
asking them to update their contact details so they can direct mail 
shot to capture all groups.  

Councillor Lappin said she had been an allotment holder for twenty 
years. On her site one plot had been empty for five years.  She said 
that they needed to be prepared for people being cross and feeling 
that this area had been neglected. Some of the plots are very 
overgrown and again these are the issues which people will 
feedback.    Councillor Lappin agreed that having an allotment was 
very hard work and thought that creating a forum was a great idea.  
She recalled going to Ward Councillors and getting skips which 
were full in a very short time.  Councillor Lappin raised the need for 
Green Sefton to address the issue of finding money to improve 
things and offered as a Cabinet Member to lead the charge to find 
more money with Councillor Moncur.  She said there are a whole 
range of issues and suggested contacting CVS for help in 
understanding them.  In addition, she also offered to help in any 
way but recognised that it will be difficult as there has been neglect 
for fifteen years. 

Wendy Anderson asked whether allotments are privately owned or 
do Voluntary, Community, Faith  sector (VCF) have any, or are their 
plans to engage with them regarding spaces?  Martin responded 
that some groups do have them, including scout groups and Sefton 
Veterans – community spaces across a number of sites rather than 
individual plots.  

Councillor Lappin clarified that Sefton own the land and the 
allotment holders rent the land off them.  

Jayne Vincent raised that in the survey to allotment holders there is 
a question regarding ranking top 5 improvements with a long list to 
select from and she is concerned that this is possibly raising 
expectations? That all these areas will be included, and this may 
not be the case, so this may require clarification.  She also asked 
whether it will be possibly to identify  from the people responding 
the priority for each plot? Martin responded that this should be 
possible, as people are being asked to identify their plot and results 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Martin Sarbutts 

Councillor Lappin 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



6 
 

could be filtered but agreed priorities may be different for different 
sites.  He agreed there was a need for a caveat to be added, but 
this will help to identify priorities.   

8. Proposal to Undertake Public Engagement and 
Consultation Activity – Ainsdale-on-Sea Vision 

Rachel Northover (in place of Mark Shaw) presented the proposal 
for public engagement and consultation with regards to Ainsdale-
on-Sea vision, discussing the plans for an open consultation on the 
vision for the Ainsdale gateway and information regarding proposed 
developments due to be delivered summer/autumn 2021. 

Consultation on Ainsdale-on-Sea was first proposed in winter 2019 
and was due to take place during the summer season of 2020, but  
did not go ahead due to Covid. Since this time other consultation 
which included Ainsdale has taken place and a number of 
improvements to the area took place in 2020 and more are planned 
for 2021.   

An informative consultation on these improvements will form part of 
the consultation process, signposting the opportunity to comment 
through the planning process on the improvement plans via visitor 
‘ambassadors’ and on-site information. The consultation is 
scheduled to run from 1st June 2021 until 30th September 2021, 
with a questionnaire on the Council website and may be run in 
tandem with a wider customer satisfaction survey for visitors to 
parks and coastal areas across Sefton this summer.   

Jayne Vincent commented that due to the break last year, it is really 
important to set out what is information and what is consultation as 
toilets and off-beach car parking improvements for example, are 
already in development.  Rachel responded that there would be 
scope through the planning process.  Jayne advised this needs to 
be made clear within the consultation.   

Jayne said that Ainsdale Beach Forum are very keen to get 
involved. She asked whether the group included younger 
representatives? Rachel responded that it does not involve young 
people and that is a good point.  She said that they have engaged 
with youth representatives from Sefton CVS and hope to speak to 
them about this.  In addition, over the summer the intention is to do 
face-to-face questionnaires with families and gather some 
feedback from children.  Rachel highlighted that predominantly 
users of the site are families with children and their dogs and older 
people. She noted that in the past those aged under thirty have not 
been represented.  It is proposed that as part of the Ambassador 
Days they can tie in with activities and ask people their views.   

Jayne mentioned that the National Trust in Formby had done some 
public events i.e. walkabouts for a previous consultation.  In 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



7 
 

addition, linking in with the Southport Town Deal Plan, she 
mentioned that some work had already been done with schools and 
she suggested contacting Rebecca Johnstone in Regeneration to 
discuss. 

Councillor Lappin suggested that they contact Young Advisors  

Nigel Bellamy suggested they contact primary and secondary 
schools in the area.  

Nigel asked whether the questionnaire had been included with the 
report? Jayne informed him that it was an appendix.  Jayne 
suggested that additional time be given for the Panel to consider 
the survey and it was agreed that it would be circulated by Jayne, 
with feedback to be given by Friday 4th June 2021.  In addition, 
Rachel highlighted a draft communications plan which had been 
developed – Rachel to circulate to the group.   

Wendy Anderson mentioned that she was a member of a volunteer 
beach cleaning group (Formby Beach Angels) and asked whether 
there is a voluntary group attached to Ainsdale beach? Rachel 
responded that volunteer groups have been attached to Sefton’s 
beaches for many years and there is an active group at Ainsdale, 
two at Crosby and one at Southport. All these groups are networked 
though the Friends Forum. There is also a communications plan 
which covers the entire coast.   

Councillor Lappin thanked Rachel for her report. 

 

Rachel Northover 

 

Rachel Northover 

Rachel Northover 

 

 

Jayne Vincent 

 

Rachel Northover 

9. Public Engagement and Consultation Activity – Equalities 
Monitoring  

Paul McCann presented a report to seek the opinion of the panel 
on the content of the equalities monitoring questions which are 
attached to consultations. This periodic review is required in order 
to ensure that what is being asked is related to the Equality Act 
2010, or any legal purpose or other considerations regarding  data 
protection.   

Summary of review: 

• Some questions did not correspond directly to protected  
characteristics in the Equality Act which gives us the lawful 
basis.   

• The report highlighted where there were concerns, issues re. 
wordings and suggested amendments, together with 
findings  of the Corporate Equality Group . 

• A question raised a number of times at the Panel and 
Corporate Equality Group was whether all the questions 
need to be asked all the time? The Corporate Equality Group 
had asked whether it is possible to ask only those questions 
which are considered relevant to the policy or function being 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



8 
 

consulted on?  Paul responded that if departments were 
allowed to leave questions out, they would have to provide 
justification for this, and the Panel would play a leading role 
in this. 

• The Corporate Equality Group recommended Jayne and 
Paul work on a small paper for the Strategic Leadership 
Board  to ensure departments  use the information if they are 
collecting it. 

Paul said he found it  beneficial coming to the Panel to listen to the 
reports and hear that departments are using this analysis and 
starting to think about the differences between service users. 

Nigel Bellamy asked two questions: 

(i) As people do not have to complete the questions, what 
percentage fill them in? 

(ii) Given that a lot of focus in Sefton is around the migrant 
community (e.g. eastern European), should we list them  
specifically as part of the ethnic groups?  

In response to Nigel’s second question, Paul responded that first 
we need to determine whether there is a lawful purpose for asking 
this information and yes, there is, as it will satisfy our duty under the 
Equality Act and enable us to get more direct information and 
provide services in different languages, for example.  With regards 
to people not answering the questions, according to the guidance 
people always have the right to not fill in and there is no way round 
this.  Paul took on board Nigel’s suggestions for breaking down the 
list and will discuss this with Jayne.  Jayne responded that she 
already had some information from Robert Brennan regarding 
these groups and will check to see this is up-to-date. 

Jayne asked whether the Panel are happy with the proposals in the 
Annex in terms of the changes and removal of the question about 
carers? Jayne suggested that the carers question could be included 
in particular surveys if relevant and removed from others as it is not 
a protected characteristic? Councillor Lappin agreed with this 
proposal and suggested that the profile of this kind of information 
be raised to emphasise its importance and perhaps include within 
Corporate training? 

Paul said that though the question around carers is not a protected 
characteristic under the Equality Act, it is something that the 
Council regards as important, but there is a need to identify our 
purpose for using.  Equality Impact Training is currently being 
delivered  with  members of staff  and it is hoped that as this is rolled 
out to more staff the significance of this training will be realised.  
Jayne thought that the report being prepared for SLB will help in 
addition. 

 

 

 

Paul McCann/ 
Jayne Vincent 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Paul McCann 

Jayne Vincent 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



9 
 

Jayne asked the Panel for their thoughts on having all the questions 
included or whether there is flexibility for officers to  include relevant 
ones and include their justification for not including the others? 

Paul responded that the default position is to ask all the questions, 
but if one is left out, they would need to provide a full justification.  
Jayne replied that in the past there have been occasions where 
departments have not been keen to include certain questions 
perhaps due to their sensitivity, when in fact it is very useful to ask 
these questions, i.e. regarding sexual orientation and gender 
reassignment.  

Councillor Lappin thanked Paul for his report. 

10. Consultation Panel Workshop Update – Verbal 

Jayne thanked the Panel for their attendance and contribution to 
the workshop on 26th March 2021 and gave an update on activity:  

• Terms of Reference redrafted to improve accessibility and 
circulated to Panel members for feedback.  If no further 
comments received  on 28th May 2021, assumed this the 
agreed version, 

• Streamlined reports from 2 templates to 1 – making them 
more accessible and able to be posted on the website 
meeting accessibility guidelines 

• Quotations have been obtained from consultants to provide 
support for reviewing standards 

• Jayne has produced a short video about the Panel and 
circulated the link to the group.  Members were asked if they 
would like  to do the same.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All Panel 

11. Any other Business 

There was no other business. 

 

Addendum: 
 

Jackie Sutton, who was unable to attend the meeting, provided the 
following update regarding Merseyside Fire Service: 

• The Integrated Risk Management Plan 2021-24 consultation 
finished on 24th May.  The final report will go to the Fire 
Authority for approval on 30th June and if approved 
publication on our website on 3rd July. 

 

6. Date and time of next Meeting 

Friday 9th July 2021, 10.00 a.m. – venue to be confirmed subject 

to outcome of poll. 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



10 
 

Councillor Lappin requested a short poll to be undertaken to gauge 
opinion as to whether people would like to carry on meeting 
remotely or face-to-face – Jayne to action and feedback outcome 
to the group. 

 

Jayne Vincent 

 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



Agenda Item 5  

Page 1 of 29 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021  
 
Title: Feedback and Evaluation report – Coronation Park, Crosby 
 
Report of:  Andy Cutts – Green Sefton Development Officer 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To provide feedback on the public consultation undertaken from the 1st 

January 2021 to the 12th March 2021 on developing a new vision for 
Coronation Park in Crosby. 

 
 1.2 The Panel have agreed to appraise the Feedback and Evaluation Reports 

in accordance with the standards of public engagement and consultation 
and will consider:- 

 

• How the activity was carried out; 
 

• the opinions of the people taking part on how they found the 
process; 

 

• The number of people who took part and the costs of the different 
methods of getting them involved;  

 

• How successful different methods were at getting the views of 
people who are not normally heard, for example, children, young 
people and people with disabilities; 

 

• How the results will be fed back to the public; and 
 

• How will the results influence policies and service plans. 
 
 

2.      Name of Issue you were Consulting On 
 

2.1  Coronation Park is popular park in the heart of Crosby providing a range  
           of recreational facilities. 
 
2.2  However the recreational features and other facilities could be developed 

further to enhance the value the park provides the local community.  With 
decreasing public sector funding, the ability of the local authority to 
support the future development of the park is diminishing. 

 
 2.3  Coronation Park is an important community asset and the ambition of this 

  project is to demonstrate how a combination of social enterprise, social 
investment and community involvement could support the future 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  

Page 2 of 29 

development of Coronation Park and provide additional benefits to the 
wider Crosby area. 

 
2.4 This consultation was designed to consult the local community on 

developing a new vision for the park and understand priorities for a new 
strategy for site-based improvements and to support future funding bids. 

 
3. The Consultation Process 
 

 3.1 The consultation took place between the 1st January and the 12th March 
2021. This was promoted online and through the existing volunteer groups 
in the park. The survey was available as paper copies on request and 
online. Posters advertising the consultation were placed in the park and a 
number of press releases were released. 

 
4. Summary of the Consultation Results 
 

4.1 A total of 557 responses were received in this consultation asking 
residents, park users, local user group and local business for their 
feedback on the current condition of the park and what they would like 
to see in the future to help us develop a new vision. 

 
4.2  Please see detailed findings as an Appendix at the end of this report. 
 
4.3  The consultation has been a real success and has captured a wide and 

diverse range of useful information on peoples thoughts and vision for 
the future of Coronation Park. Interestingly over 90% of visitors arrive on 
foot and the park is used regularly by local people with 83% of people 
living in the L23 postcode. 

  
4.4   It is fair to say that respondents enjoy and use the park but feel that it 

requires additional investment and improvement and rated the park 
average or below average. Common uses of the park include the 
children’s play area, walking and relaxing, sports including bowling, 
tennis, football and basketball. 

 
4.5  Over 71% of people said they would attend events in the park and people 

showed a strong interest in getting involve in the parks friends group and 
volunteering in the future. Social media and web sites were highlighted as 
the main method to hear about events and activities in the park. 

 
4.6  There was areas of concern from the community about safety in the park 

and anti-social behaviour with ideas to improve the park including more 
staff on site, improved lighting, cut back overgrown vegetation and CCTV. 

 
4.7  A whole range of new ideas and improvements were proposed but the 

most popular ideas included an improved play area, improved boating lake 
area, better up keep of the park, café in the park, an improved pavilion 
with toilets and baby change area and more community space and events. 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  

Page 3 of 29 

4.8  It is clear there is community support to explore developing a new vision 
and we now have guidance on the priorities for the future of the park and 
to support any bids for funding.  

 
5. Feedback 
 

 5.1  The results of the consultation have been shared with all park 
stakeholders and volunteers and local ward councillors. The results have 
also be published online to allow the wider community to see the results. 

 
6. Future engagement 
 

6.1  The new vision and plan for future investment will be developed in 
partnership with Capacity a Social Enterprise that supports organisations 
rethink and reimagine public services and the parks friends group as a 
major stakeholder as well as wider engagement with local residents. 

 
6.2  A new vision will be developed by Green Sefton and partners in the coming 

months and new funding opportunities explored during 2021. This new 
vision will be shared with the wider community and plans put in place to 
make much needed improvements based on the results of this 
consultation once funding has been secured. 

 
6.3  Further work is needed to engage with young people under the age of 18 

and over the age of 70 with any future plans for the park as they were not 
heavily represented in this consultation due to limitations caused by 
pandemic restrictions. 

 
7. Recommendations 
 

 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel are recommended to 
 
  a) Note the contents of the report and feedback and evaluation forms 
 
  b)  Request that lead officers provide the Public Engagement and 

Consultation Team with the results and reports so that they can be 
uploaded onto the Consultation Hub. 

 
  c) Request that lead officer’s report to a future Panel meeting to update 

the panel as to any additional changes that have occurred as a result 
of the consultation feedback. 

.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 4 of 29 

 

Appendix 1 - Coronation Park Consultation 
 
Introduction 
The Consultation was undertaken from the 1st January 2021 to the 12th March 2021 
to seek the views of the local community of Coronation Park in Crosby. This 
information we be used to help us develop a new vision for the park and support any 
future funding bids. This was promoted on site and online working with closing with 
the existing Friends Group. The length of the consultation was extended by one 
month due to the restrictions linked with the pandemic. 
Green Sefton are working alongside Capacity a Social Enterprise that supports 
organisation rethink and reimagine public services and are looking at improving the 
facilities within Coronation Park as it’s an important community asset. There are no 
funds available at this time however, we intend to develop ideas for the future of the 
park and use this data to help bid for external funding. 
A total of 557 responses were received in this consultation. 
 

1: Are you completing this survey as a: 

 
There were 555 responses to this part of the question. With 98% being Sefton 
residents. 
 
Option Total Percent 
Sefton resident 551 98.92% 

Local business 4 0.72% 

Visitor to the borough 4 0.72% 

Other 1 0.18% 

Not Answered 2 0.36% 

 

2: How do you travel to Coronation Park? 

 
There were 555 responses to this part of the question. Over 90% of visitors to the 
park travelled on foot followed by followed by car and bike. This relates to postcode 
data provided. 

 
0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Not Answered

Public Transport

Bike

Car

Foot

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 5 of 29 

3: How often do you visit the park? 

 

There were 554 responses to this part of the question with weekly being the most 
common at 45% followed by daily at 19%. This demonstrates the park is well used 
on a regular basis. 

 

4: When do you access the park? 

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Over 74% of park users use 
the park both during the weekend and weekends. Followed by just at weekends. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Not Answered

Don’t use it right now

Seasonal

Monthly

Weekly

Daily

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

Both

Weekend

Weekday

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 6 of 29 

5: What time of day do you usually visit the park most? 

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. The most common time to us 
the park was early afternoon at 60% followed closely by late morning and late 
afternoon. It is clear from these results that the park is used throughout the day. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Late evening

Early evening

Late afternoon

Early afternoon

Late Morning

Early Morning

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 7 of 29 

6: For what reasons do you use the park most? 

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. The most popular use of the 
park with 66% was walking followed by using the children’s play area, passive 
leisure for example relaxing, dog exercise and sports including football and tennis. 

 
Option Total Percent 

Passive leisure e.g., relaxing 261 46.86% 

Walking 369 66.25% 

Dog-exercise 154 27.65% 

Sport 42 7.54% 

Football 55 9.87% 

Bowling (women’s) 5 0.90% 
Bowling (men’s) 4 0.72% 

Children's Play Area 309 55.48% 

Tennis Courts 48 8.62% 

Walking Football 3 0.54% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Walking Football

Tennis Courts

Children's Play Area

Bowling (men’s)

Bowling (women’s)

Football

Sport

Dog-exercise

Walking

Passive leisure e.g., relaxing

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 8 of 29 

7: Would you attend events at the park? (please tick) 

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 71% of people surveyed said 
they would be interested in events in the park in the future. 

 
 
 
 

8: Existing Facilities Part A - How would you rate the existing facilities 

on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 being poor and 5 being excellent)? 

 

Existing Facilities  - Play area (swings, slide etc.) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 41% of responses rated the 
play area average in condition followed by 25% of people rating it below average as 
2 out of 5. This highlights the need for investment. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 70 12.57% 

2 140 25.13% 

3 230 41.29% 

4 102 18.31% 

5 15 2.69% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450

No

Maybe

Yes

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 9 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Play Area (wooden play equipment and boulders) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 40% of responses rated the 
wooden play area average in condition followed by 24% of people rating it below 
average as 2 out of 5. This highlights the need for investment. 
 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - Boating lake 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Over 53% of responses rated 
the boating lake as very poor in condition. This highlights this area of the park for 
investment. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 300 53.86% 

2 142 25.49% 

3 85 15.26% 

4 23 4.13% 

5 7 1.26% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 10 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Tennis Courts 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Over 60% of responses rated 
the tennis courts below average in a poor condition. 

 
 
Existing Facilities  - Park pavilion 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 87% of responses rated the 
park pavilion average or below. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 145 26.03% 

2 177 31.78% 

3 168 30.16% 

4 57 10.23% 

5 10 1.80% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200

5

4

3

2

1

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 11 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Access 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Access to existing facilities in 
the park has been rated by 63% of people as above average but room for 
improvement. 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - Ground Maintenance (shrubs, hedges, flower beds) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Ground Maintenance in the 
park scored was rated average by 39% of people but again room for improvement. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 38 6.82% 

2 74 13.29% 

3 219 39.32% 

4 185 33.21% 

5 41 7.36% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 12 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Bowling Green 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 45% of responders rated the 
bowling green average with room for improvement. 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - Parking 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Parking was rated average or 
below average that reflects limited parking in area but may also explain the large 
number of people visiting on foot.  
 
Option Total Percent 

1 180 32.32% 

2 147 26.39% 

3 151 27.11% 

4 47 8.44% 

5 32 5.75% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

5

4

3

2

1

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 13 of 29 

9: Existing Facilities Part B - How would you rate the existing facilities 

on a scale of 1 to 5 (1 being poor and 5 being excellent)? 

 

Existing Facilities  - Dog Exercise Area 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 40% of responders rated the 
dog area average followed by above average. 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - Art-work / installations (pavilion murals, wooden 
sculptures and bench art) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Artwork installation in the park 
were rated average or below average. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 74 13.29% 

2 139 24.96% 

3 230 41.29% 

4 96 17.24% 
5 18 3.23% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 14 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Ball Courts 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. The ball courts were rated 
mostly either average (37%) or below average (51%) highlighting an area for 
improvement. 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - 5-a-side Football Pitch 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. The football pitch was rated 
average or below average by the majority. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 92 16.52% 

2 150 26.93% 

3 242 43.45% 

4 57 10.23% 

5 16 2.87% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 15 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Park Furniture (benches, seats) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. 40% of people rated the park 
furniture average in condition followed by below average at 29%. 

 
 
 
Existing Facilities  - Marketing (display board and signage) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Park marketing including 
display boards and signs was rated average or below average to poor in most cases. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 102 18.31% 

2 175 31.42% 

3 216 38.78% 

4 52 9.34% 

5 12 2.15% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 16 of 29 

Existing Facilities  - Heritage (gypsum boulder) 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Heritage in the park for 
example the gypsum boulder was rated highest as average at 35% followed by 
above average at 24%. 
 

 

10: Overall, how would you rate Coronation Park on a scale of 1 to 5?  

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Overall people were asked to 
rate the park as a whole. 49% of people rated it at average followed by below 
average at 22%. Therefore this supports the plan to develop a new vison for the park 
and explore new investment and improvements. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 Poor 61 10.95% 

2 126 22.62% 

3 273 49.01% 

4 87 15.62% 
5 Excellent 10 1.80% 

Not Answered 0 0.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

5

4

3

2

1

Page 30

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 17 of 29 

11: A number of new ideas for the park have been developed. Please 

score the suggested improvements to the park (1 being least important 

and 5 being most important) 

 

Improvements to facilities - Improved play area 
There were 554 responses to this part of the question. Over 57% of people rated an 
improved play area a priority as very high priority. 

 
 
Improvements to facilities - Improved sport facilities 
There were 552 responses to this part of the question. Improved sports facilities was 
rated highly with over 69% of people rating it above average. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 17 3.05% 

2 36 6.46% 
3 110 19.75% 

4 187 33.57% 

5 202 36.27% 

Not Answered 5 0.90% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Not Answered

5

4

3

2

1

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 18 of 29 

Improvements to facilities - Improved park pavilion with food and drink and 
community space 
There were 556 responses to this part of the question. An improved park pavilion 
with food and drink and community space was rated very highly with 79% rating it 
either 4 or 5 in priority. 

 
 
 
Improvements to facilities - Improved lake 
There were 556 responses to this part of the question. Over 81% of people rated the 
boating lake area high in priority for improvement. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 16 2.87% 
2 28 5.03% 

3 55 9.87% 

4 144 25.85% 

5 313 56.19% 

Not Answered 1 0.18% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

Not Answered

5

4

3

2

1

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 19 of 29 

Improvements to facilities - Improved marketing and signage 
There were 551 responses to this part of the question. Improved marketing and 
signage was rated average by 31% followed by above average at 19%. 
 

 
 
Improvements to facilities - Extended Sensory garden and community growing 
space 
There were 554 responses to this part of the question. Over 59% people rated an 
extended sensory garden and community growing space high priority. 
 
Option Total Percent 

1 36 6.46% 
2 72 12.93% 

3 112 20.11% 

4 139 24.96% 

5 195 35.01% 

Not Answered 3 0.54% 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180 200

Not Answered

5

4

3

2

1

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 20 of 29 

12: Do you have any other ideas that would improve the park? 

 
There were 288 responses to this part of the question. This question gave people to 
provide free text ideas for the park. The most popular included an improved play 
area, boating lake, pavilion and café and improved up keep of the park. 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Activities for older children

Baby change area

Café in park

More community events

Community space

Improved play area

Improved boating lake

Improved dog area

Improved upkeep

Improve and open pavilion

Picnic area

Tennis improvements

Wild flower area

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 21 of 29 

13: How safe do you feel in the park on a scale of 1 to 5 (I being not safe 

and 5 being very safe)? 

 
There were 556 responses to this part of the question. People rated the park from a 
safety perspective as average (38%) followed by above average at 31%. While at 
the same time over 17% of people rated the park as poor on safety. 

 
Option Total Percent 

1 33 5.92% 

2 67 12.03% 

3 214 38.42% 

4 177 31.78% 

5 65 11.67% 

Not Answered 1 0.18% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250

Not Answered

5

4

3

2

1

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 22 of 29 

14: Do you have any ideas about how we could improve safety?  

 
There were 254 responses to this part of the question. This question gave people to 
provide free text ideas for improved safety in the park. The most popular included 
more rangers and security staff, improved lighting and CCTV. 

 

15: Would you be interested in joining the Friends of Alexandra and 

Coronation Parks? (Please tick) 

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. A large number of people 
highlighted their interest or potential interest in joining the friends of Group. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Address anti-social behaviour

CCTV

Cut back site lines

Improved lighting

Lock park

More rangers

Security staff

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

No

Maybe

Yes

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 23 of 29 

16: Would you be interested in volunteering or helping to arrange 

activities in Coronation Park?  

 
There were 557 responses to this part of the question. Over 58% of people said they 
may be interested in volunteering the park or helping with activities in the park. 

 
 
 
 

17: How would you like to hear about activities and events? 

 
There were 542 responses to this part of the question. Social Media and a web site 
came out on top as the best way for people to hear about activities and events 
followed by using park notice boards and posters. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Noticeboard 235 42.19% 

Social Media 441 79.17% 

Website 247 44.34% 

Posters 197 35.37% 

Not Answered 15 2.69% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

No

Maybe

Yes

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 24 of 29 

18: Do you agree for us to use your personal data in this way? 

Agree to use personal data  
There were 544 responses to this part of the question. The equality monitoring 
questions were optional and asked in accordance with a privacy notice. 

 
 

19: Please tell us the first part of your postcode (i.e. L23) 

 

There were 546 responses to this part of the question. 

L23 440 

L22 74 

L21 11 

L20 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400 450 500

Not Answered

No

Yes

L23 L22 L21 L20

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 25 of 29 

20: Are you: 

 
There were 546 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

A man 143 25.67% 

A woman 391 70.20% 

Prefer not to say 12 2.15% 

Not Answered 11 1.97% 

 

21: How old are you? 

 
There were 547 responses to this part of the question. There was no one under the 
age of 18 years old that responded to the consultation and young adult responses 
was a lower proportion to other age groups. However there was a high response rate 
from respondents that visit the play area with their young children as investment in 
children play equipment was a high priority. 

 
Option Total Percent 

16-17 0 0.00% 

18-29 23 4.13% 

30-39 165 29.62% 

40-49 137 24.60% 

50-59 88 15.80% 

60-69 96 17.24% 

70-79 29 5.21% 

80-84 2 0.36% 
85+ 0 0.00% 

Prefer not to say 7 1.26% 

Not Answered 10 1.80% 

 

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160 180

Not Answered

Prefer not to say

80-84

70-79

60-69

50-59

40-49

30-39

18-29

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 26 of 29 

22: Do you live in the gender you were given at birth? 

Gender 
There were 546 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Yes 525 94.25% 

No 0 0.00% 

Prefer not to say 21 3.77% 

Not Answered 11 1.97% 

 
 
 
 

23: Relationships (also called sexual orientation) Are you: 

 
There were 545 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Heterosexual 481 86.36% 

Bisexual 5 0.90% 

Lesbian 6 1.08% 

Gay 5 0.90% 

Prefer not to say 48 8.62% 

Not Answered 12 2.15% 

 

24: A carer is someone who provides unpaid support/care for a family 

member, friend etc who needs help with their day-to-day life; because 

they are disabled, have a long-term illness or they are elderly. 

Are you a carer? 

 

There were 544 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

No 458 82.23% 

Yes, 20 – 49 hours per week 11 1.97% 

Yes, 1- 19 hours a week 35 6.28% 

Yes, 50 or more hours a week 14 2.51% 

Prefer not to say 26 4.67% 

Not Answered 13 2.33% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 27 of 29 

25: Do you have any disabilities? 

Disability 
There were 547 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

No 477 85.64% 

I would prefer not to say 23 4.13% 

Mental health problems 8 1.44% 

Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Syndrome 1 0.18% 

Problems with my hearing 7 1.26% 

Problems seeing 0 0.00% 
I have difficulty walking or moving about, or I use a 
wheelchair 

12 2.15% 

An illness that affects your daily living on a long term 
basis (eg, diabetes, heart disease, cancer) 

19 3.41% 

Not Answered 10 1.80% 

 
 
 

26: Please select only one item 

 

If you have ticked any of the above boxes to say you have a disability or 

if you have HIV, cancer or diabetes, then you would be classed as 

“disabled” under the Equality Act 2010. Do you think of yourself as 

being disabled? 

 

 

There were 471 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Yes 24 4.31% 

No 415 74.51% 

Prefer not to say 32 5.75% 

Not Answered 86 15.44% 

 

27: Do you have a religion or belief? 

 
There were 546 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Yes 277 49.73% 

No 211 37.88% 

Prefer not to say 58 10.41% 

Not Answered 11 1.97% 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 28 of 29 

 

28: Ethnicity - I am: 

 
There were 543 responses to this part of the question. 
 
Option Total Percent 

Asian - Indian 0 0.00% 

Asian - Pakistani 0 0.00% 

Asian - Other 0 0.00% 

Black - African 0 0.00% 

Black - British 0 0.00% 

Black - Caribbean 1 0.18% 

Black - Other 0 0.00% 

Chinese 1 0.18% 

Chinese - Other 0 0.00% 

Mixed Background - Asian & White 1 0.18% 
Mixed Background - Black African & White 1 0.18% 

Mixed Background - Black Caribbean & White 0 0.00% 

Mixed Background - Other 5 0.90% 

White - British 356 63.91% 

White - English 134 24.06% 

White - Irish 7 1.26% 

White - Scottish 2 0.36% 

White - Welsh 2 0.36% 

White - Polish 0 0.00% 

White – Latvia 0 0.00% 

Gypsy/Traveller 0 0.00% 

I would prefer not to say 33 5.92% 
Not Answered 14 2.51% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



Agenda Item 5  
 

Page 29 of 29 

 
Conclusion 
 
The consultation has been a real success and has captured a wide and diverse 
range of useful information on peoples thoughts and vision for the future of 
Coronation Park in Crosby. Interestingly over 90% of visitors arrive on foot and the 
park is used regularly by local people with 83% of people living in the L23 postcode.  
 
It is fair to say that respondents enjoy and use the park but feel that it requires 
additional investment and improvement and rated the park average or below 
average. Common uses of the park include the children’s play area, walking and 
relaxing, sports including bowling, tennis, football and basketball. 
 
Over 71% of people said they would attend events in the park and people showed a 
strong interest in getting involve in the parks friends group and volunteering in the 
future. Social media and web sites were highlighted as the main method to hear 
about events and activities in the park. Further work is needed to engage with young 
people under the age of 18 and over the age of 70 with any future plans for the park 
as they were not heavily represented in this consultation due to limitations caused by 
pandemic restrictions. 
 
There was areas of concern from the community about safety in the park and anti-
social behaviour with ideas to improve the park including more staff on site, 
improved lighting, cut back overgrown vegetation and CCTV. 
 
A whole range of new ideas and improvements were proposed but the most popular 
ideas included an improved play area, improved boating lake area, better up keep of 
the park, café in the park, an improved pavilion with toilets and baby change area 
and more community space and events. 
 
It is clear there is community support to explore developing a new vision for 
Coronation Park and we now have guidance on the priorities for the future of the 
park and to support any bids for funding. The new vision and plan for future 
investment will be developed in partnership with Capacity and the parks friends 
group as a major stakeholder as well as wider engagement with local residents. A 
new vision will be developed by Green Sefton and partners in the coming months 
and new funding opportunities explored during 2021. This new vision will be shared 
with the wider community and plans put in place to make much needed 
improvements based on the results of this consultation once funding has been 
secured. 
 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 6 

Page 1 of 8 
 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity – 

Hesketh Park Improvements Public Consultation 
 
Report of:  Andy Cutts – Green Sefton Development Officer 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information with regard to the consultation plans being 

developed with regard to the Hesketh Park Improvements Public 
Consultation. 

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is to 

coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and consultation, 
in accordance with the standards for engagement and consultation. 

 
3. Name of Issue you are Consulting On 
 
 3.1 Sefton MBC (Green Sefton) manages Hesketh Park in Southport and are 

looking to consult with local residents on future improvements to the park. 
This will allow the Council to better understand the public priorities for the 
park in the future subject to possible new funding. The park is a popular 
green space in Southport and has a number of key heritage and 
recreational features. With decreasing public sector funding these facilities 
have been diminishing for a number of years and require urgent 
investment. 

 
4.    The Consultation 
 
 4.1 The consultation will ask residents and key stake holders for the park what 

their future priorities are both in relation to both recreational and heritage 
value. This follows the recent news that the park has been gifted by a local 
family in a will a substantial sum of money as a legacy to the development 
and improvement of the park following the passing of a family member. 
This consultation will allow us to better understand the priorities for the 
park and local community so we can fund new projects/ improvements that 
meet the needs of the community and park. 

 
4.2  Key stakeholders include the Hesketh Park Heritage Group and park 

volunteer groups, local community of all ages and backgrounds, visitors 
and non-users and local businesses and other relevant organisations. 

   
4.3 The consultation will run from the 1st August 2021 to the 15th September 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 2 of 8 
 

2021. This will be undertaken using an online survey that will be posted 
on social media and advertised locally with local existing volunteer groups 
for the park. Posters will be used in the park to promote the consultation 
and paper copies provided on request. 

 
4.4  A potential barrier is that the consultation will take place through the busy 

summer holiday period. However, if insufficient numbers are not achieved 
there will be an option to extend the consultation to the end of September. 

 
 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1    All findings will be published on Sefton Councils website and via Social 
Media as well at the park. A link to the final report will be published and all 
groups participating will be notified of the findings. This will be undertaken 
in October 2021. 

 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.    
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Hesketh Park Improvements Public Consultation 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of their 

feedback and evaluation resulting from the above consultation. 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 3 of 8 
 

 

 

Annexes 

 

Questionnaire Example: 

 

Green Sefton in partnership with the Friends of Hesketh Park are looking at 
improving the facilities within Hesketh Park in Southport. 
 
This follows the recent news that the park has been gifted by a local family in a will 
a substantial sum of money as a legacy to the development and improvement of 
the park following the passing of a family member. 
 
We would like your opinion on priorities that will help us form a new vision for the 
park. 
 
About you – Are you: 
 
Sefton Resident 
Local Business 
Visitor to the Borough 
Other 
 
Please tell us the first part of your postcode (i.e. PR9) 
…………………………………………………….. 
 
How often do you visit the park? (Please circle) 
 
Daily   Weekly   Monthly Seasonal 
 
For what reason do you use the park most? 

o Passive leisure e.g., relaxing 

o Play area 

o Walking  

o Dog-exercise 

o Other (please state) 

 

How safe do you feel in the park on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Not safe        Very safe 
 
 
How would you rate Hesketh Park on a scale of 1 to 5? 
1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 
 
 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 4 of 8 
 

How would you rate the existing facilities on a scale of 1 to 5? 
1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 
 
 
**Need the above scale under each item 
 
How would you rate the below features in the park for future improvement? 
 
Play area (swings, slide etc.) 
Lake 
Conservatory 
Café 
Access 
Parking 
Ground Maintenance (shrubs, hedges, flower beds) 
Sensory garden 
Floral Clock 
Waterfall 
Observatory 
Park Furniture (benches, seats, bins) 
Marketing (display board and signage) 
Waterfall 
Rose Garden 
Stansfield Rockery 
Miniature Golf 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
How do you travel to the park? 
Foot 
Car 
Bike 
Public Transport 
Other 
 
Please rank the suggested improvements to the park? 
Improved play area 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Improved Conservatory and events space for functions and weddings 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Improved sensory garden 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

Improved lake with rowing boats 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Improved marketing and signage 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Improved heritage features including floral clock/ waterfall/ fountains 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Return of site-based gardeners to improve standards of maintenance 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
Develop new income opportunities in the park to generate money to further 
improve the park to support maintenance, site staff and events and activities 
1      2      3     4        5 
Low        High 
 
(Rank 1 to 5) 
 
Do you have any other ideas that would improve the park? 
 

………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………… 
………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
 
Would you attend events at the park? (Please tick) 
      Yes                   Maybe                   No 
 
Would you be interested in joining the Friends of Hesketh Park? (Please tick) 
      Yes                   Maybe                   No 
 
 
Would you be interested in volunteering or helping to arrange activities in 
the Park? (Please tick) 
      Yes                   Maybe                   No 
 
How would you like to hear about activities and events? 
 

Noticeboard 
Social Media 
Website 
Posters 
Other ………………………………. 
 
 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 

Privacy Notice and Equality Monitoring Questions 
 
All Equality Monitoring questions are optional. You can complete as much or as little as you wish. 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
How we will use your data 
 
We thank you for participating in this consultation and we value your contribution. 
Any personal information that you provide to the Council as part of this consultation will be handled 
and 
used in compliance with the principles of the General Data Protection Regulations (EU 
2016/679). Regardless of whether it is electronic or on paper it will be stored and processed 
securely, and 
deleted after 12 months. 
 
The information you provide will help the Council make decisions on Hesketh Park and to 
help understand the geographical location of respondents. 
 
The lawful basis on why we use this data. We collect and use this personal information under the 
lawful basis of public task (processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the 
public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller). 
 
The Council also asks the equality monitoring questions to help it comply with the Equality Act 
2010 to help 
us understand who is responding to the survey and to help us ensure that there is equality of 
opportunity for 
protected groups of people. 
 
 
Confidentiality of data 
 
Your contributions will be anonymised on receipt and your comments will then be used for 
research and 
consultation purposes. Your identity and contact details will not be published by us at any stage 
without 
your consent. 
 
Requesting access to your personal data 
 
You have the right to: 
 
l Object to processing of personal data that is likely to cause, 
or is causing damage or distress 
l Prevent processing for the purposes of direct marketing 
l Object to decisions being taken by automated means 
l In certain circumstances, have inaccurate personal data 
rectified, blocked, erased or destroyed; and 
l The right to lodge a complaint with the supervisory authority 
(the Information Commissioner’s Office) 
l Withdraw consent for the processing 
 
For more information, please contact Catherine Larkin, Data 
Protection Officer at: 
E-mail: ino.information@sefton.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0345 140 0845 
 

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 
Officer contact: 
The contact for this consultation is 
Andy.Cutts@sefton.gov.uk 

 
Do you agree for us to use your personal data in this way? 
Yes 
No 
 

How old are you? 
16-17 
18-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
60-69 
70-79 
80-84 
85+ 
Prefer not to say 
 

Are you: 
A man 
A woman 
Prefer not to say 
 

Relationships (also called sexual orientation) Are you: 
Heterosexual 
Bisexual 
Lesbian 
Gay 
Prefer not to say 
 

Do you live in the gender you were given at birth? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 

Ethnicity - I am: 
Asian - Indian 
Asian - Pakistani 
Asian - Other 
Black - African 
Black - British 
Black - Caribbean 
Black - Other 
Chinese 
Chinese - Other 
Mixed Background - Asian & White 
Mixed Background - Black African & White 
Mixed Background - Black Caribbean & White 
Mixed Background - Other 
White - British 
White - English 
White - Irish 
White - Scottish 
White - Welsh 
White - Polish 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 6 
 

Page 8 of 8 
 

White – Latvian 
 
If White - Other, please tell us what here: 

16 
Please select only one item 
 

Something else - please say what in the box below 
Gypsy / Traveller 
White Other 
I would prefer not to say 
 

Do you have a religion or belief? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 

Do you have any disabilities? 
No 
I would prefer not to say 
Mental health problems 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Syndrome 
Problems with my hearing 
Problems seeing 
I have difficulty walking or moving about, or I use a wheelchair 
An illness that affects your daily living on a long term basis (eg, diabetes, heart disease, cancer) 
 
Please select only one item 

If you have ticked any of the above boxes to say you have a disability or if you have HIV, cancer or 
diabetes, then you would be classed as “disabled” under the Equality Act 2010. Do you think of 
yourself as being disabled? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 

 
 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Item 7 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity 

– Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 
Report of:  Rachel Northover, Green Sefton - Team Leader - Community & 

Resource; rachel.northover@sefton.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To receive information relating to the consultation plans being 

developed with regard to a Green Sefton customer satisfaction survey.  
 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is 

to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation, in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

 
3. Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction Survey 

3.1 Introduction 

3.1.1  Green Sefton was formed in 2018 bringing together the former 
Landscape Services (Parks & Greenspaces, Coast & Countryside) 
and Flood & Coastal Erosion Management (FCERM) services. 
Historically, Landscape Services undertook a general satisfaction 
survey every 5 or so years to help inform future management and 
development. 2021 will be within this general timeframe for repeating 
this survey. 

3.1.2 The consultation and engagement will address the following: 

• Provide feedback and a snapshot of how customers / visitors 
rate the services provided by Green Sefton which can be 
compared to previous surveys 

• Provide an understanding of expectations of customers / 
visitors from Green Sefton 

• Provide demographic information on Green Sefton service 
users / visitors 

• Link to other focussed consultations eg the Ainsdale-on-Sea 
Gateway Vision and the Liverpool City Region Visitor 
Surveys 

• Provide a baseline for future customer satisfaction surveys 
for Green Sefton 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 

2 

 

 

3.2 The Survey 

3.2.1 The draft survey is currently in 2 versions, one for visitors / customers 
of coastal sites and one for other parks and greenspaces.  The aim is 
to combine the two in the online version such that people can choose 
to comment generally and on the site,  they visit most regular. 

3.2.2 The survey will be designed also to be carried out face to face over the 
summer holiday period to capture customers / visitors at sites. 
Depending on the pandemic situation, it is hoped that Friends of Groups 
and Volunteers / Ambassadors will be able to assist Green Sefton’s 
Community & Engagement Team in surveying.  

 
3.2.3 The coastal version is designed to complement the currently live 

Ainsdale-on Sea Vision survey (and wider Visitor Management 
Strategy) surveys, demonstrating to key partners that the Council 
remains committed to managing recreation pressure on the Sefton 
Coast in a way that fulfils its legal duties under the Habitats Regulations 
to protect the internationally important nature sites. It is proposed that 
the 2 run in tandem to prevent consultation fatigue and maximise staff 
resources The two will be linked online and visitors to Ainsdale-on-Sea 
would be asked the additional Vision questions. 

 
4.    The Consultation 
 
4.1    Aims & Objectives 

 
4.1.1  To ask people about their views on Green Sefton service provision, 

what works well, what could be improved and how satisfied they are 
with the service generally. 

 
4.1.2  Following the consultation, the results will be used to inform and 

shape management and development decisions for the Service for 
example where resources could / should be directed to achieve 
improved satisfaction levels. 

 
4.1.3  It also aims to demonstrate to key partners that the Council remains 

committed to managing recreation pressure on the Sefton Coast in a 
way which fulfils its legal duties under the Habitats Regulations to 
protect the internationally important nature sites on the Sefton Coast.   

 
4.1.4  A questionnaire will be produced that will be available on the Sefton 

Council Website, through local groups and through staff on site. This 
may run in tandem with the Ainsdale-on-Sea Vision questionnaire to 
be completed at the same time. 

 
4.1.5  The consultation will run from 17th July 2021 until 30th September 

2021 to capture the main visitor / recreational season. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7 

3 

 

 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 
 

5.1    A ‘You Said, We Did’ report will be completed once the consultation is 
       finished.  This report will be shared with the Consultation and 
       engagement Panel and will then be available via the Sefton website, on-  
       site and will be shared with local groups 

 

6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.     
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction Survey. 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above 
consultation. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 7a 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

Communications and Engagement Plan – Version 0.1 July 2021 
Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction Survey 

 
Communication content / Key 
Message 

Audience Method  Who Date Status 

Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction 
Survey  

Briefing to Ward Councillors, 
Cabinet Members Questionnaire    

Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 

Customers - residents and visitors, 
general public, recreational user 
groups / volunteers / ‘friends’ 

Questionnaire – online 
Your Sefton Your Say - 
and on site 

   

Green Sefton Customer Satisfaction 
Survey 

As above 

General press release 
via Sefton Comms 
 
Green Sefton (social 
media, column in Visiter) 
 
On site information in 
notice boards and via 
‘Friends’ / 
‘Ambassadors’ 
 

Green 
Sefton / 
Sefton 
Comms  

  

Finalise plans for engagement with 
young people 

Green Sefton / Sefton Young 
Advisors 

Social Media, Big Green 
Envelope  TBC  

Prepare easy-read version for use 
online and on-site / paper version to 
target specific groups  

Green Sefton / Sefton Comms     

On-site consultation, combined with 
Ainsdale-on-Sea Vision Survey as 
appropriate 

Green Sefton staff and volunteer 
ambassadors 

Face to face 
questionnaires, covid 
compliant 

 After 18th 
July -  

In 
preparation 

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 7



 

Agenda Item 7a 

2 
 

summer 
holidays  
 

  Briefing note to Cabinet 
Member  November 

2021  

  As part of regular Green 
Sefton briefings 

Mark 
Shaw 

November 
2021  

  Report  November 
2021  

  

You Said We Did 
updated 
 
Report posted online on 
Sefton Councils website  

 
After 
November 
2021 

 

 
 

P
age 58

A
genda Item

 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

1 
 

Green Sefton would like your opinion to help us form a ‘vision’ for Sefton parks and greenspaces and 
to understand how people use and feel about the facilities and services we deliver. We are 
undertaking a consultation exercise to enable people to share their ideas on the park and your 
feedback is important to help shape our services and future developments. 

SITE / PARK: ……………………………………………………………………………………….. 

About you – Are you: 

o Sefton Resident 
o Local Business 
o Visitor to the Borough 
o Other 

 

Please tell us the first part of your postcode (i.e. L21, L22, L23, PR8) ……………………………………………….. 

 

How would you rate the overall Park on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the existing play facilities e.g. play area, aerial slide etc. on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the existing sports facilities (e.g. tennis courts, ball courts, football and 
bowling green) on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the park furniture (e.g. park benches, seats and bins) on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the signage / marketing (i.e. display case(s) and signage) on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the buildings (e.g. pavilions, conservatory and café)) on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the welfare facilities buildings i.e. toilet blocks on a scale of 1 to 5? 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

2 
 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

 

How would you rate access to the Park i.e. entrances gates and points, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the grounds maintenance of the Park i.e. shrubs, grass, flower beds and 
planting, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the bio-diversity of the Park i.e. wildflower meadow, long-grass and wildlife 
habitats, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the grounds maintenance of the Park i.e. litter, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the Tree maintenance in the Park, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate community engagement in the Park i.e. involvement of a Friends / user-
group, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate parking, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate any art-work / art-installations, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the heritage, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

3 
 

 

How do you travel to the park? 

Foot 

Car 

Bike 

Public Transport 

 

Do you have any other ideas that would improve the park? 
 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

How often do you visit the park? (Please circle) 
 

Daily   Weekly   Monthly Seasonal 

What time of day do you usually visit the park most’? 

o Early morning  
o Late morning  
o Early afternoon 
o Late afternoon 
o Early evening  
o Late evening  

 

For what reason do you use the park most? 

o Passive leisure e.g., relaxing  
o Walking  
o Dog-exercise 
o Tennis 
o Football 
o Bowling (women’s) 
o Bowling (men’s) 
o Other (please state) 

 

Would you attend events at the park? (Please tick) 

Yes                   Maybe                   No 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

4 
 

 

Would you be interested in joining the Friends of Group? (Please tick) 

      Yes                   Maybe                   No 

 

Would you be interested in volunteering or helping to arrange activities in the park? (Please tick) 

      Yes                   Maybe                  No 

 

If yes to the above, please confirm a contact email or telephone number: ………………………………….. 

 

How would you like to hear about activities and events? 
 

o Notice-board 
o Social Media 
o Website 
o Posters 
o Other ………………………………. 

 

How safe do you feel in the park on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Not safe        Very safe 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

5 
 

 

Privacy Notice and Equality Monitoring Questions 
 
All Equality Monitoring questions are optional. You can complete as much or as little as you wish. 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
How we will use your data 
 
We thank you for participating in this consultation and we value your contribution. 
Any personal information that you provide to the Council as part of this consultation will be handled and 
used in compliance with the principles of the General Data Protection Regulations (EU 
2016/679). Regardless of whether it is electronic or on paper it will be stored and processed securely, and 
deleted after 12 months. 
 
The information you provide will help the Council make decisions on Coronation Park and to 
help understand the geographical location of respondents. 
 
The lawful basis on why we use this data. We collect and use this personal information under the lawful basis 
of public task (processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the 
exercise of official authority vested in the controller). 
 
The Council also asks the equality monitoring questions to help it comply with the Equality Act 2010 to help 
us understand who is responding to the survey and to help us ensure that there is equality of opportunity for 
protected groups of people. 
 
 
Confidentiality of data 
 
Your contributions will be anonymised on receipt and your comments will then be used for research and 
consultation purposes. Your identity and contact details will not be published by us at any stage without 
your consent. 
 
Requesting access to your personal data 
 
You have the right to: 
 
l Object to processing of personal data that is likely to cause, 
or is causing damage or distress 
l Prevent processing for the purposes of direct marketing 
l Object to decisions being taken by automated means 
l In certain circumstances, have inaccurate personal data 
rectified, blocked, erased or destroyed; and 
l The right to lodge a complaint with the supervisory authority 
(the Information Commissioner’s Office) 
l Withdraw consent for the processing 
 
For more information, please contact Catherine Larkin, Data 
Protection Officer at: 
E-mail: ino.information@sefton.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0345 140 0845 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

6 
 

 
Officer contact: 
The contact for this consultation is 
Andy.Cutts@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Do you agree for us to use your personal data in this way? 
Yes 
No 
 
How old are you? 
16-17 
18-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
60-69 
70-79 
80-84 
85+ 
Prefer not to say 
 
Are you: 
A man 
A woman 
Prefer not to say 
 
Relationships (also called sexual orientation) Are you: 
Heterosexual 
Bisexual 
Lesbian 
Gay 
Prefer not to say 
 
Do you live in the gender you were given at birth? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 
Ethnicity - I am: 
Asian - Indian 
Asian - Pakistani 
Asian - Other 
Black - African 
Black - British 
Black - Caribbean 
Black - Other 
Chinese 
Chinese - Other 
Mixed Background - Asian & White 
Mixed Background - Black African & White 
Mixed Background - Black Caribbean & White 
Mixed Background - Other 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7b 
 

DRAFT – Park-User Survey – July 2021 

 

7 
 

White - British 
White - English 
White - Irish 
White - Scottish 
White - Welsh 
White - Polish 
White – Latvian 
 
If White - Other, please tell us what here: 
Please select only one item 
 
Something else - please say what in the box below 
Gypsy / Traveller 
White Other 
I would prefer not to say 
 
Do you have a religion or belief? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
Do you have any disabilities? 
No 
I would prefer not to say 
Mental health problems 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Syndrome 
Problems with my hearing 
Problems seeing 
I have difficulty walking or moving about, or I use a wheelchair 
An illness that affects your daily living on a long term basis (eg, diabetes, heart disease, cancer) 
 
Please select only one item 
If you have ticked any of the above boxes to say you have a disability or if you have HIV, cancer or diabetes, 
then you would be classed as “disabled” under the Equality Act 2010. Do you think of yourself as being 
disabled? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

1 
 

Green Sefton would like your opinion to help us form a ‘vision’ for Sefton coastline and to 
understand how people use and feel about the facilities and services we deliver. We are undertaking 
a consultation exercise to enable people to share their ideas on the park and your feedback is 
important to help shape our services and future developments. 

COASTAL SITE: 

o Ainsdale Beach 
o Ainsdale and Birkdale LNR  
o Crosby Beach 
o Crosby Coastal Park 
o Hightown Beach 
o Southport Beach 
o Weld Road  

About you – Are you: 

o Sefton Resident 
o Local Business 
o Visitor to the Borough 
o Education provider  
o Other 

Please tell us the first part of your postcode (i.e. L21, PR8) ……………………………………………….. 

 

How would you rate the overall site on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the conservation management of the site e.g. protection of important wildlife 
species, nesting birds, long-grass and wildlife habitats, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How aware are you of the protections this coastline on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Unaware       Aware 

How aware are you about Sand Lizards on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Unaware       Aware 

How aware are you of Natterjack Toads on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Unaware       Aware 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

2 
 

 

Would you join a guided walk to see the wildlife here on a scale of 1 to 5? 

Yes   No  Maybe 

How would you rate the site furniture e.g. benches and seats on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the site furniture i.e. bins on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate permanent signage / marketing (i.e. display case(s) and signage) on a scale of 
1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate temporary signage / marketing (i.e. banners and posters) on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the buildings e.g. visitor centre, cafe on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5    
Poor        Excellent   N/A  

How would you rate the welfare facilities buildings i.e. toilet blocks on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent  N/A  

How would you rate the quality of food and drink e.g. ice-cream vendors, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate access i.e. entrances gates and access points, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the grounds maintenance of the site i.e. litter, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate community engagement in the site i.e. involvement of a Beach Group / user-
group, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

3 
 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the existing sports facilities e.g. football on a scale of 1 to 5? (only applicable 
to Crosby Coastal Park) 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the existing play facilities e.g. play area on a scale of 1 to 5? (only applicable 
to Crosby Coastal Park) 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate parking, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate any art-work / art-installations, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How would you rate the heritage, on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Poor        Excellent 

How safe do you feel on the site on a scale of 1 to 5? 

1      2      3     4        5 
Not safe        Very safe 

How do you travel to the site? 

o Foot 
o Car 
o Bike 
o Public Transport 

How often do you visit the site? (Please circle) 
 

o Daily    
o Weekly    
o Monthly  
o Seasonal 

How long do you normally spend visiting the site?  
 

o Half an hour  

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

4 
 

o Half an hour to 1 hour  
o 1-2 hours  
o 2-3 hours  
o 3-4 hours  
o 4-5 hours  
o 5 hours  

 

What time of day do you usually visit the coast? 

o Early morning  
o Late morning  
o Early afternoon 
o Late afternoon 
o Early evening  
o Late evening  

 

For what reason do you use the site most? 

o Passive leisure e.g. relaxing  
o Conservation and wildlife  
o Walking  
o Running / jogging 
o Organised walks and talks 
o Dog-exercise 
o Sports use e.g. football and volleyball 
o Water sports  
o Play informal 
o Play (organised activity) 
o Education  
o Photography 
o Other (please state) …………………………………….. 

 

Would you attend events at the site? (Please tick) 

      Yes                   Maybe                   No 

Would you be interested in joining a Beach Group? (Please tick) 

      Yes                   Maybe                   No 

Would you be interested in volunteering or helping to arrange activities on the coast? (Please tick) 

      Yes                   Maybe                   No 

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

5 
 

If yes to the above, please confirm a contact email or telephone number: ………………………………….. 

How would you like to hear about activities and events? 
 

o Notice-board 
o Social Media 
o Website 
o Posters 
o Other ………………………………. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

6 
 

 

 

Privacy Notice and Equality Monitoring Questions 
 
All Equality Monitoring questions are optional. You can complete as much or as little as you wish. 
 
Privacy Notice 
 
How we will use your data 
 
We thank you for participating in this consultation and we value your contribution. 
Any personal information that you provide to the Council as part of this consultation will be handled and 
used in compliance with the principles of the General Data Protection Regulations (EU 
2016/679). Regardless of whether it is electronic or on paper it will be stored and processed securely, and 
deleted after 12 months. 
 
The information you provide will help the Council make decisions on Coronation Park and to 
help understand the geographical location of respondents. 
 
The lawful basis on why we use this data. We collect and use this personal information under the lawful basis 
of public task (processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the 
exercise of official authority vested in the controller). 
 
The Council also asks the equality monitoring questions to help it comply with the Equality Act 2010 to help 
us understand who is responding to the survey and to help us ensure that there is equality of opportunity for 
protected groups of people. 
 
 
Confidentiality of data 
 
Your contributions will be anonymised on receipt and your comments will then be used for research and 
consultation purposes. Your identity and contact details will not be published by us at any stage without 
your consent. 
 
Requesting access to your personal data 
 
You have the right to: 
 
l Object to processing of personal data that is likely to cause, 
or is causing damage or distress 
l Prevent processing for the purposes of direct marketing 
l Object to decisions being taken by automated means 
l In certain circumstances, have inaccurate personal data 
rectified, blocked, erased or destroyed; and 
l The right to lodge a complaint with the supervisory authority 
(the Information Commissioner’s Office) 
l Withdraw consent for the processing 
 
For more information, please contact Catherine Larkin, Data 
Protection Officer at: 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

7 
 

E-mail: ino.information@sefton.gov.uk 
Telephone: 0345 140 0845 
 
Officer contact: 
The contact for this consultation is 
Andy.Cutts@sefton.gov.uk 
 
Do you agree for us to use your personal data in this way? 
Yes 
No 
 
How old are you? 
16-17 
18-29 
30-39 
40-49 
50-59 
60-69 
70-79 
80-84 
85+ 
Prefer not to say 
 
Are you: 
A man 
A woman 
Prefer not to say 
 
Relationships (also called sexual orientation) Are you: 
Heterosexual 
Bisexual 
Lesbian 
Gay 
Prefer not to say 
 
Do you live in the gender you were given at birth? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 
Ethnicity - I am: 
Asian - Indian 
Asian - Pakistani 
Asian - Other 
Black - African 
Black - British 
Black - Caribbean 
Black - Other 
Chinese 
Chinese - Other 
Mixed Background - Asian & White 
Mixed Background - Black African & White 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



Agenda Item 7c 
 

DRAFT – Coast-User Survey – May 2021 

 

8 
 

Mixed Background - Black Caribbean & White 
Mixed Background - Other 
White - British 
White - English 
White - Irish 
White - Scottish 
White - Welsh 
White - Polish 
White – Latvian 
 
If White - Other, please tell us what here: 
16 
Please select only one item 
 
Something else - please say what in the box below 
Gypsy / Traveller 
White Other 
I would prefer not to say 
 
Do you have a religion or belief? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
Do you have any disabilities? 
No 
I would prefer not to say 
Mental health problems 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder, Asperger's Syndrome 
Problems with my hearing 
Problems seeing 
I have difficulty walking or moving about, or I use a wheelchair 
An illness that affects your daily living on a long term basis (eg, diabetes, heart disease, cancer) 
 
Please select only one item 
If you have ticked any of the above boxes to say you have a disability or if you have HIV, cancer or diabetes, 
then you would be classed as “disabled” under the Equality Act 2010. Do you think of yourself as being 
disabled? 
Yes 
No 
Prefer not to say 
 

Page 74

Agenda Item 7



Sefton Integrated Care Partnership
Exploring current systems for community 

engagement and future opportunities

Diane Blair, Healthwatch Sefton
Lyn Cooke, CCGs in Sefton 

Jayne Vincent, Sefton Council 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



Improving health and social care for all

• Health and Care Bill 6 July - White Paper, ‘Integration and Innovation: working 

together to improve health and social care for all’, building on NHS Long Term 

Plan

• Integrated Care Systems (ICS) – Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care 

Partnership designated as an ICS April 2021, with joint decision making 

transferring from CCGs by April 2022 

• Sefton Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) - will help us to deliver joint objectives 

of Health and Wellbeing Strategy and supporting 5 year plan for the NHS, 

Sefton2gether  

P
age 76

A
genda Item

 8



• Communications and engagement working group (CCG / council leads) - meeting regularly to 
progress these activities 

• Task & Finish group - presentation in April, approval of ‘approach’ paper in June describing how 
we are developing our communications and engagement strategy

• Informing early - focus on partners and staff, using existing, trusted, internal communications 
channels of all partners, monthly briefings (to be informed by the ICP workplan) 

• Longer term - developing our strategy: mirroring overarching milestones and informed by 
programme vision, aims, objectives, delivery/workplan, PESTLE, learning from other ICPs, 
stakeholder mapping, with narrative informed by OD / population insight, consolidating existing 
insight 

• Building on what we have - Sefton Communications, Information and Engagement Group, scoping 
other groups and forums 

Approach to developing communications 
and engagement 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 8



Choose alternative slide title headers
Seven principles for involvement confirmed in ICS Design Framework (June): 

1. Use public engagement and insight

2. Re-design services in partnership

3. Work with Healthwatch and VCF sector

4. Understand community expectations and aspirations for health and care

5. Reach out to excluded groups

6. Provide clear and accessible public info

7. Make connections to social action

How ISCs should work with people 
and communities

P
age 78

A
genda Item

 8



Choose alternative slide title headers

Choose alternative slide title headers

Choose alternative slide title headers

Choose alternative slide title headers

What  systems and processes we have already

• Public Engagement and Consultation Standards and Panel – partnership 
forum led by Sefton Council 

• Engagement and Patient Experience Group – partnership forum led by 
CCGs in Sefton

• Healthwatch Sefton - community led Steering Group, linking to VCF 
groups, locality and Community Champion network

• VCF networks and forums supported by Sefton CVS – such as Equal 
Voice, Every Child Matters, Children with Additional Needs, Health and 
Social Care Forum

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 8



P
age 80

A
genda Item

 8



Choose alternative slide title headers

Choose alternative slide title headers

What this means for Sefton residents

• Opportunities for co-production of local services (learning & better 
understanding)

• Choice, access to services and knowledge of rights through advice and 
information.

• More opportunities to join community groups/ local forums to connect and 
engage on local issues which matter to them.

• Assurances that their voices will be heard and listened to/ empowered to 
share their feedback. 

• Not having to tell their story more than once

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 8



What are our next steps?

Consensus from ICP Task and Finish group and Programme Delivery Group that we 
should build on existing structures.

Your views…

1. How do you think all these systems, groups and processes can work better 
together in the future to support the ICP?

P
age 82

A
genda Item

 8



Thank you

Any questions?

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to Undertake Co-Production Activity – Day Care 

Opportunities  
 
Report of:  Joanne Christensen, Commissioning Manager 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1  To receive information with regard to the co-production plans being 

developed with regard to Day Care Opportunities in Sefton 
 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1  The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is 

to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

  
2.2  Cabinet has previously approved the model for day opportunities, and 

the three models approved by Cabinet reflected assessed eligible 
needs and person- centred support. 

 
2.3 The model sought to provide a building-based option for those people 

with the most complex needs whilst enabling others to access a range 
of opportunities within the community, where enhanced opportunities 
for employment could be developed. 

 
2.4    The model marked a move away from traditional building- based day 

services to provision that focuses on what people want to achieve 
(outcomes) and what they are good at (strengths) and reflected the 
ethos of the Care Act 2014. 

 

2.5 The Adult Social Care Vision continues to promote an outcome-based 
approach to meeting eligible needs moving away from building base 
service solutions which has increased the uptake of personal budgets, 
direct payments and community support. 

 
 
3.      Current Position and Impacts 
  
3.1    Numbers of people accessing traditional models of support have been 

declining with particularly younger people choosing to use a Direct 
Payment to access the support of their choice. Numbers of people 
choosing a community-based option is similarly increasing.   

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

2 

 

3.2  Numbers attending have also reduced due to the impact of the Covid 
19 pandemic, we anticipate that these will increase as restrictions 
reduce or are removed, however we need to assess whether these 
changes will have any longer-term impact on the delivery approach to 
day services. 

 
3.3 A number of people who due to the Covid-19 pandemic who had 

restricted access to day services and accessed alternative provision 
do not wish to return to the day service and are keen to explore new 
opportunities.  

 
3.4 In developing future services, we will use this feedback to ensure we 

have a diverse and robust market, which will respond to the needs of 
people who require some level of support during the day. We will 
review day opportunities in order to meet changing aspiration and 
explore new ways of meeting needs. 

 
3.5 We will explore the safest way to engage with stakeholders and 

representative groups, parents and carers to co-design services which 
will inform a new specification. 

 
3.6 In order to ensure that current providers are responding and aligning 

with the approved model of support and the changing aspirations of 
those attending, a quality assurance process will be undertaken 
alongside negotiations with current providers to agree new temporary 
contractual arrangements. This will ensure the availability and 
sustainability of the market in Sefton whilst a purchasing system is 
developed to be available from August 2022, which will support the 
how we secure a diverse range of quality providers. The specification 
which will be coproduced with users and carers will support the 
delivery of outcome focussed and innovative options where people are 
supported to achieve their best outcomes.  Providers who are currently 
being accessed via a Direct Payment will also be quality assured and 
where they offer positive outcomes will be encouraged to access the 
purchasing system when developed.  

 
3.7 We will explore social enterprise models and continue to work with the   

Community, Voluntary and Faith Sector to enhance access to 
community provision and reduce reliance on traditional building-based 
models.  

 
3.8 An interim Equality Impact assessment (EIA) has been completed and 

will inform the process and can be seen in appendix A.  
 
  
4.     The Proposed Approach to Co-production 
 
4.1 A task group has been established to focus on co-production, 

communication and consultation. The aim of the task group is to 
ensure: 

Page 86

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

3 

 

  

• the voices of people and parent carers who access Day 
Opportunity services or who may access services in the future 
are heard  

• regular engagement sessions are held with the National Autistic 

Society (NAS) Parent Carer Group, Sefton Parent Carer Forum 

and People First Merseyside  

• that the learning from the pandemic is reflected in the future 
approach 

 

4.2    Throughout the pandemic staff from Adult Social Care undertook 
contact with individuals, parent carers and providers to check on 
welfare and respond to any concerns. Providers continued to support 
vulnerable people through virtual means where this was possible and 
regular meeting with providers were undertaken to ensure any issues 
where identified and responded to.  Information from the Council was 
supplied via telephone welfare checks, letters, social media platforms. 
As restrictions eased some face-to-face contact has been arranged to 
review people’s needs as required based on need and risk. 

  
4.3    The engagement approach will build on this information to inform a 

clear picture of the impact of the Pandemic on services and what 
people want and need in the future and how commissioning will 
respond to this. This will include:  

 

• how they were supported through the changes to how services 
were provided as a result of the restrictions imposed to combat 
the risks of the Covid-19 Pandemic.  

• if they would like to be supported to access different 
opportunities in the future and if so, what this might look like. 

4.4      We are aware that extensive engagement has been undertaken with 
young people and their carers as part of the Special Educational Needs 
and Disability review (SEND), during 2019-20-21. This has identified 
that many young people are keen to access universal provision which 
promotes independence, and which can lead to meaningful activities 
and employment. We need to ensure that our understanding of young 
people’s aspirations and needs are understood and built into our future 
commissioning plans.  

   
4.5      A Stakeholder map has been completed using service user data and 

the interim Equality Impact Assessment which has identified the 
following key stakeholders; 
 

• Individuals who use day services 

• Parent Carers of those who use day services  

• Community Support Providers Forum 

• Day Care Providers Forum 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

4 

 

• Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

• Adult Social Care   

• Sefton Transport Unit  

• Sefton Partnership of Older Citizens (SPOC) 

• National Autistic Society Parent Carer Group (NAS) 

• Sefton Parent Carer Forum  

• Dementia Friendly Sefton  

• Preparation for Adulthood Group   

• Sefton Carers Centre 

• People First Merseyside 

4.6 A collaborative approach will be developed involving stakeholders 
which will build on existing relationships and feedback. 

 
4.7      Stakeholder meetings will take place, where a presentation will be 

given to the above stakeholders to inform them of the consultation and 
for them to advise on the best way to get feedback from service users. 
The stakeholder meetings will also explore how they could support 
engaging service users and their families within the current restrictions. 
We will discuss options with local advocacy organisations to ensure we 
transparently facilitate conversations in order to get optimum levels of 
feedback. 

 

4.8          Any information will be provided in an accessible way and available in 

multiple formats. 

 

4.9 Key messages will also be provided through a presentation for Day 

Care Providers, Supported Living Providers and Social Care teams to 

ensure a consistent approach and that the following key messages are 

shared and understood. 

 

4.10         Key Messages are; We will continue to meet eligible needs  

 

• We will focus on strength- based assessments and access to 

community to inform how services are provided. 

• We will meet our statutory duty 

• We wish to develop services and maintain the existing 

approach for carers of people with complex needs who need 

to access building- based services and will engage with them 

about the specification and quality standards. 

• We are looking to develop a range of services that offers 

people greater independence, greater choice, a wide range of 

activities and flexibility, while maintaining traditional building 

base support for those with the most complex needs and your 

feedback will help to shape this. 

• Covid has shaped how we live and will continue to shape future 

services  

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

5 

 

• The feedback will help shape an outcome-based service offer, 

and future market development. 

• The ambition is to ensure that services work for individuals and 

allow them to live the life they choose.  

• We will be asking people about how they wish to spend their 

day and also ensuring that people are supported to make 

choices about access to work, training and day opportunities. 

 
4.11            We anticipate starting this process 26th July 2021 to 17th October 2021 

and a communications plan will be developed to support this. 
 

4.12            Pre-discussions with support groups, providers and other partnerships 
have already begun about the development of day opportunities. 

  
5.     Barriers and solutions  
 
5.1 We anticipate that the following barriers may prevent participation but 

propose the following solutions to help mitigate the barriers. 
 

• Barrier - Not being able to complete the survey 
 

• Solution - Asking providers and Advocacy organisations to 
support with the completion of surveys.  

 

• Barrier - Not being able to complete the survey online 
 

• Solution - Paper copies will be available 
 

• Barrier - Not knowing the purpose of the consultation 
 

• Solution - An easy read information leaflet will be available 
with the survey and adult social workers will be able to 
explain, as part of their regular contact with service users and 
their families. 

 
 
6.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

6.1      The feedback will be shared with the Day Care Strategy Group and 
with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care.  It will also be shared 
with stakeholders and published on the Consultation Hub on the We 
Asked, You Said, We Did page. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9 

6 

 

7. Legal Department Comments 
 
7.1  Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make. 
 
 
8. Recommendations 
 
8.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the co-production plan for the Day Care Opportunities 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the co-production 
activity. 

 

Annex A) – Interim Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 

 

Annex B) – Proposed Day Care Opportunity Questionnaire/Topic Guide (to be sent 
to Panel members separately).    

Page 90

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

1 
 

Equality Analysis Report - Day Care 

  

Details of proposal: (Clearly identify the proposal, give details of relevant service provision 
and the demographics covered by the policy or service) 

 
Day Care services offer support during the day for those who are assessed as requiring it 
following a Care Act assessment. The day service is usually provided in a building base 
or in the community and is run by trained staff for those people with complex physical 
disabilities or mental health challenges who also have social care needs.  
 
The purpose of a Day Care is to enable people to maintain their independence for longer 
and to live a fuller life, enabling them to socialise with others and meet people who may 
be in a similar situation and subsequently building stronger social networks and more 
resilient communities.   
 
Day Care also provides respite for Parent / Carers and allows those with caring 
responsibilities for older parents to pursue their own interest outside of their caring role.  
 
Day Care is provided to support the following client groups; 
 

• Learning Disabilities 

• Physical Disabilities 

• Older People 

• Mental health 
 

This proposal is to consider existing day care and new opportunities for day support and 

whether these are able to meet the needs of people given the changing aspirations noted 

in the types of services people are seeking and the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

The current model of support seeks to offer increased choice, and promotion of 

independence, however we are looking to further develop these opportunities where 

people can have access to employment, job coaching and apprenticeships, independent 

community activities, including the development of social enterprise models based on an 

innovative partnership approach, which will be linked to the development of a new Sefton 

purchasing agreement. The purchasing arrangement will encourage providers who have 

this aim and ambition in supporting people to access a range of opportunities and quality 

provision.  

This will also support clear operational pathways to be developed to work, education, 

training and volunteering, including participation in leisure, arts, hobbies and socialising.  

These are essential elements of successful day opportunity services.  

People need social and economic stimulation, and irrespective of support requirements, 

must have a purpose and the opportunity and right to do things members of the wider 

community are able to do such as forming friendships, connections and developing a sense 

of belonging within their local and wider community. 

The consideration of how our services are responding to the needs of people in our 

communities will allow us to continue to focus on supporting people and their families to 

achieve real outcomes based on their strengths and potential whilst recognising that for 

some a building- based environment may be the most appropriate means of support. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

2 
 

The demographics of service users accessing these services are; 
 
Age Group  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gender 

 

 

 

 

 

Ethnicity  

  

 Total 
Clients 
Adult % 

Total 
Clients 
Older 

People % 

Any other ethnic group 2 0.29%   

Asian/Asian British - Bangladeshi 2 0.29%   

Asian/Asian British - Chinese 4 0.59%   

Black/Black British - Indian 2 0.29% 2 0.29% 

Black/Black British - Any other Black 
background   1 0.15% 

Information not yet obtained 21 3.08% 15 2.20% 

Mixed - Any other mixed background 3 0.44%   

Mixed - White and Asian 3 0.44%   

Mixed – White and Black African 1 0.15%   

White - Any other White background 5 0.73% 3 0.44% 

White - 
British/English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern 
Irish 420 61.58% 197 28.89% 

White - Irish   1 0.15% 

Sum: 463  219  

 

 Age Group Total % 

Adults 463 67.89% 

Age 65-74 55 8.06% 

Age 75-84 83 12.17% 

Age 85-94 67 9.82% 

Age 95+ 14 2.05% 

Sum: 682   

 Gender Female % Male % 

Adults 185 27.13% 278 40.76 

Older People 117 17.16% 102 14.96% 

Sum: 302  380  

Page 92

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

3 
 

 

Primary Support Reason   

  

Female   Female   Male   Male   

Adults % 
Older 

People 
% Adults % 

Older 
People 

% 

Learning 
Disability 
Support 151 22.14% 7 103% 232 34.02% 19 2.79% 

Mental Health 
Support 2 0.29% 9 132% 1 0.15% 12 1.76% 

Physical 
Support - 
Access and 
Mobility Only 1 0.15% 1 0.15% 2 0.29% 1 0.15% 

Physical 
Support - 
Personal 
Care Support 24 3.52% 48 7.04% 28 4.11% 34 4.99% 

Sensory 
Support – 
Support for 
Dual 
Impairment   1 0.15%     

Sensory 
Support – 
Support for 
Hearing 
impairment   1 0.15% 1 0.15%   

Sensory 
Support – 
Support for 
Visual 
Impairment 1 0.15% 1 0.15% 2 0.29%   

Social 
Support - 
Support for 
Social 
Isolation / 
Other 4 0.59% 8 1.17% 9 1.32% 7 1.03% 

Support with 
Memory and 
Cognition 2 0.29% 41 6.01% 3 0.44% 29 4.25% 

Sum: 185  117  278  102  

         
 

Ramifications of Proposal:  
 

• Where any service users are impacted by any changes to services they will 
supported as part of an assessment and review process.  

 

• Providers may be impacted as a result of the changes and impacts of Covid-19 
however we will seek to support providers where possible and engage with them 
regarding the development of the purchasing system and how this may affect 
them. We are hoping that providers respond positively to this as the coproduction 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

4 
 

of the service specification will support the outcomes presented by people who 
use services and so more closely meet their needs. 
 

• The communications and engagement with clients and families may evidence 
additional factors that could impact on these client’s groups and carers 
 

• The communications with providers may evidence additional factors that could 
impact on these client’s groups and carers  

 

Are there any protected characteristics that will be disproportionally 
affected in comparison to others?  
 
The protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are: 
 

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender Reassignment 

• Marriage and Civil Partnership 

• Race 

• Religion or Belief 

• Sex 

• Sexual Orientation 

• Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 
If the fee proposals were to be implemented and the above ramifications were to 
materialise then the following protected characteristics may be affected; 
 

• Disability   - The majority of people who attend day care services have a learning 
disability or physical disability and require support to maintain independence, take 
part in activities and socially interact with others. Attendance at a day centre can 
help people improve their quality of life.  
 

• Age – Many older people attend day services to socialise and enjoy planned 
activities in a group setting where they can still access some health care, which 
helps to maintain independence. 

 
 
 

Consultation: 
 

A proposed Consultation & Engagement plan has been drafted, which includes a 

questionnaire to current users of day care and those who may require access to day 

opportunities in the future, which asks them what opportunities they would like to have 

available to them going forward. We will explore the most effective and safest way to 

engage on these points with stakeholders and representative groups, parents and 

carers, given current restrictions and feedback will be used to co-design services and 

inform a new specification. 

 
 
 

Page 94

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

5 
 

Is there evidence that the Public Sector Equality Duties will be met? 
 
The Equality Act 2010 requires that those subject to the Equality Duty must, in the 

exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act. 

2. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 

3. Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not. 

The Act explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves: 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics. 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are 

different from the needs of other people. 

• Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 

activities where their participation is disproportionately low. 

The options proposed do not involve any change to the criteria for accessing a day 
opportunity, as this is aligned to the Care Act and part of a statutory assessment of need, 
where the service offer may change this would be considered through this process.  
 
Service users will continue to have an individual care plan which is reviewed each year in 
accordance with the Care Act 2014. 
 
 
In assessing the care needs of service users Sefton Council is required to have regard to 
it’s public sector equality duty. 

 
 
With respect to the above; 

 

 

 
Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act. 

Day opportunity services will continue to be provided based on assessed need and to 

improve required outcomes. 

Performance monitoring of contracts regularly takes place and Social Workers and 

families / advocates give feedback as to the treatment of Service Users.  In addition, the 

Council monitors data on contracts to ensure that there is fair access to all that meet the 

eligibility criteria. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

6 
 

Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 

Day opportunities enable local people to live the lives they want to lead, retain their 
independence, and live a fuller life, enabling them to socialise with others and meet 
people who may be in a similar situation whilst making a positive contribution to the 
community.   
 
People should have a purpose, to do things members of the wider community would do, 

ensure friendships and connections whilst creating a sense of belonging which prevents 

social isolation.  

Under current eligibility assessments, Service User’s religious and cultural needs are 

considered and where specific needs are identified these are met, thus enabling them to 

participate in public life. 

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not. 

Day opportunities support people with disabilities to continue live and become part of the 

community thus making sure that disability is accepted and understood by the wider 

community.  

 

Day opportunities provide services users with the opportunity to connect with others, linking 

into other support and making service users feel safe and secure. 

 

All Provider’s must evidence of how they will treat Service Users with respect and dignity 

and deliver services in a way which is free from discrimination, bullying and harassment for 

Service Users and Support staff. 

 

In addition; 

 

• The Council will continue to work with Provider’s to ensure that they provide appropriate 

services to disabled people on a contract and service specification basis and 

monitoring of service delivery.   

• The Council as commissioning agent will remind service Provider’s, when undergoing 

changes to their services to treat their staff in accordance with Equality and 

Employment law. 

• Service Users are and will continue to be assessed in a qualitative manner in 

accordance with national guidance and Care Act 2014. 

• Under Section 47 of the National Health Service and Community Care Act 1990, 

individual services provided will be privy to regular review to assess if those services 

are meeting assessed needs. 

• The current service specification contains specific requirements relating to equalities. 

• Day opportunities services are designed, costed and targeted to support disabled 

people, older people to remain in the community but have access to activities and 

friendship groups. 

What actions will follow if proposal accepted by cabinet & Council? 
 
Include details of any mitigating action and ongoing monitoring to address any of the 
equality impacts highlighted above 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

7 
 

 

• We will undertake consultation or communications and co-production following the 

determination of the legal requirements to consult with Day Care service users which 

will include obtaining client views on the impact of COVID and the known changes to 

the types of services people are seeking and this information will in turn be used to 

ascertain any possible impacts on access to day opportunities for service users. 

 

• We will undertake consultation or communications and co-production following the 

determination of the legal requirements to consult with Day Care providers which will 

include obtaining provider views on the impact of the implementation of any decision 

around changes that may occur to services and this information will in turn be used to 

ascertain any possible impacts on access to day opportunities for service users, or 

any regulatory impacts on individual Providers. 

• We will continue to explore ways in which we can improve the day opportunity sector, 
including; 

 
o Developing pathways onto education, supported employment, internships, 

job coaching, training and volunteering opportunities  
o Facilitate a cultural shift based on strength-based practice and 

commissioning at place level linked to the integration agenda  
o Developing innovation partnerships with stakeholders  
o Facilitate the development of community interest companies  
o Facilitate participation in leisure, arts, hobbies and socialising  
o Enable friendships and local connections within the community to develop 

a sense of belonging 
o Appropriate training to upskill staff support for more complex service users 
o Identifying scope for reducing overreliance on support in services through 

Providers identifying flexibilities in support hours which adapt to changes in 
Service User’s needs and continues to promote independence  

o Linkages to other initiatives such as greater use of Technology Enabled 
Care solutions for better self-management of longer-term health conditions 

o Robust market management in relation to cost and quality 
o Cost of Care modelling to inform appropriate unit cost 
o Align to the implementation of the Extra Care Strategy 
o Align to the implementation of the Supported Living Plan and Strategy 
o Align to the implementation of the Intermediate Care Strategy/Domiciliary 

Care and Enablement 
o Plan and shape the market more effectively in relation to transitions and 

preparation for adulthood 
 

• National and local factors concerning the cost of care and the demand for services will 
also be monitored, such as changes to the demographic profile of the borough and the 
demand for more specialist services. 

 

• Risk management work will be conducted which will include analysis of the capacity 
within the market and the ability of the market to support more complex individuals.  
This analysis will also be informed by performance information on numbers of day 
opportunity places commissioned and the ability to meet current and future demand 
and complex individual needs 

 
 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



Agenda Item 9a 

8 
 

• With respect to any potential impacts of the decision on the quality of service provided, 
regular monitoring will continue to take place.  This will include monitoring of factors 
such as meeting Service User needs, outcomes achieved, increasing independence to 
reduce reliance on support, the quality and retention of staff, staff training and overall 
management of services.  Monitoring of Safeguarding referrals and regulatory 
notifications will also continue. 

 

 

Page 98

Agenda Item 9



Item 9b - Day Opportunity Communication & Engagement Themes (Draft) 

 

The aim of the consultation and engagement is to have a better understanding of what the impact of Covid-19 has had on people 

who attend day services, and if anyone had accessed alternative support during the pandemic.  

The themes below will be used to develop the engagement approach 

 

Themes Questions Prompts 

Activities during the pandemic During the pandemic what did you do? • Maybe went out with family 

• Maybe went out with friends 

• Continued going to a day centre 
 

 Were you able to get out and about? • Going out in my friend or family’s car 

• Walking  

• Going on public transport 
 

 Where you able to learn a new skill and if 
so, what was it?  

• Hobbies 

• Made new friends 

• Enjoyed being with my family 

• On line shopping 
 

Activities not able to do What was the things you miss most? • Seeing my friends 

• Restricted days attending day centre 

• Not being able to see my support 
worker 
 

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 9



Challenges What was your biggest challenge during 
the lockdown/pandemic? 

• Found difficult? 

• Needed help? 
 

Future activities Are there any activities that you would 
like to do in the future?  

• To meet friends 

• Volunteer 

• Employment 

• Go to pictures, bars etc 
 

Other feedback Is there anything else that you would like 
to tell us about the impact of COVID or 
about what you would like to do in the 
future? 

 

 

 

P
age 100

A
genda Item

 9



Agenda Item 10 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Briefing paper regarding the Engagement and Coproduction Activity 

– Supported Living Commissioning Strategy and Re-procurement  
 
Report of:   Carol Cater, Service Manager Commissioning Support 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
        1.1     To brief the panel with regards to the: 

• engagement plans being developed for the Commissioning 
and re-procurement of existing and future supported living 
provision in Sefton  

• co-production plans for the development of a Supported 
Living Strategy and specification for new service model. 

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is 

to coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and 
consultation, in accordance with the standards for engagement and 
consultation. 

 
3.      Commissioning and re-procurement of existing and future supported 
         living provision in Sefton 
 

3.1     Supported Living is a combination of housing with care and support. 
3.2 In Sefton Supported Living is provided within a tenancy setting 

predominantly based around 24 hours support. The Adult Social Care 
Vision and policy developments will look to explore the use of extra care 
housing, the use of direct payments and individual service user funds 
and the maximisation of Assistive Technology and increasing the 
independence of people through having the right level of support in 
place and reducing the use of residential care for working age adults. 
There is a need to ensure that current contractual arrangements and 
commissioning processes are aligned to this Vision.    

3.3 Current contracts will be negotiated and will be subject to a re-
procurement process in compliance with Public Procurement 
Regulations.  

  3.4 There may be an impact on people who use these services should their 
care and support provider not be successful in securing a contract with 
the council however  where there may be a consequence to a change 
of provider Transfer of Undertakings (TUPE) regulations would apply 
and so frontline staff would have the ability to retain their employment 
with a new provider and continue to deliver the same support to people.  

         3.5 We will support people to understand this process and although there 
may be a level of anxiety, we will engage advocates to help people 

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10 

2 

 

engage with this process. There will be no impact on housing eligibility 
and people will not be expected to move home. 

 3.6 Where people in service wished to consider other options for their 
support provision, consultation would be undertaken via a statutory 
assessment process on an individual need’s basis. 

 3.7 All service users will be advised, and supported, of the process being 
undertaken and assurance given with regards to any potential impact. 
This information will be in accessible formats.  

 3.8 An Equality Impact Assessment will be produced to support this 
process. 

 3.9 The existing providers of current schemes will be engaged individually 
and collectively via the established provider forum with regards to 
current contractual arrangements and future arrangements.    

 
4. Co-production 
 
 4.1 Co- production recognises that everyone has an important contribution 

to make and that when people’s lived experience is valued equally 
alongside professional expertise, this leads to better, shared solutions 
and shared decision making is central to co-production. This approach 
will be adopted in the development of the Supported Living Strategy and 
the new service model and subsequent service specification. 

 
  The Proposed Approach to Co-production 
 
 4.2 A task group has been established to focus on co-production, 

communication and consultation. The aim of the task group is to ensure: 
  

• the voices of people and parent carers who access 
supported living services or who may access services in the 
future are heard  

• regular engagement sessions are held with the National 
Autistic Society (NAS) Parent Carer Group, Sefton Parent 
Carer Forum and People First Merseyside  

• that the learning from the pandemic is reflected in the future 
approach 

 
 4.3    Throughout the pandemic, staff from Adult Social Care undertook 

contact with individuals, parent carers and providers to check on welfare 
and respond to any concerns. Providers continued to support 
vulnerable people through application of DoH guidance and regular 
meetings with providers were undertaken to ensure any issues where 
identified and responded to.  Information from the Council was supplied 
via telephone welfare checks, letters, social media platforms.  

  
 4.4    The engagement approach will build on this information to inform a clear 

picture of the impact of the Pandemic on services and what people want 
and need in the future and how commissioning will respond to this. This 
will include:  

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10 

3 

 

• how they were supported through the changes to how 
services were provided as a result of the restrictions imposed 
to combat the risks of the Covid-19 Pandemic.  

• if they would like to be supported to access different 
opportunities in the future and if so, what this might look like. 

 
 4.5      We are aware that extensive engagement has been undertaken with 

young people and their carers as part of the Special Educational Needs 
and Disability review (SEND), during 2019-20-21. This has identified 
that many young people are keen to access universal provision which 
promotes independence, and which can lead to meaningful activities 
and employment. We need to ensure that our understanding of young 
people’s aspirations and needs are understood and built into our future 
commissioning plans.  

   
 4.6      A Stakeholder map has been developed along with the interim Equality 

Impact Assessment which has identified the following key stakeholders; 
  

• Individuals who use supported living services 

• Parent Carers of those who use supported living services  

• Supported Living Provider Forum 

• Community Support Providers Forum 

• Day Care Providers Forum 

• Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

• Adult Social Care   

• New Directions 

• National Autistic Society Parent Carer Group (NAS) 

• Sefton Parent Carer Forum  

• Preparation for Adulthood Group   

• Sefton Carers Centre 

• People First Merseyside 
 

 4.7 A collaborative approach will be developed involving stakeholders 
which will build on existing relationships and feedback. 

 
 4.8      Stakeholder meetings will take place, where a presentation will be given 

to the above stakeholders to inform them of the consultation and for 
them to advise on the best way to get feedback from service users. The 
stakeholder meetings will also explore how they could support engaging 
service users and their families within the current restrictions. We will 
discuss options with local advocacy organisations to ensure we 
transparently facilitate conversations in order to get optimum levels of 
feedback. 

 
 4.9      Any information will be provided in an accessible way and available in 

multiple formats. 
 
 4.10 Key messages will also be provided through a presentation for Day 

Care Providers, Supported Living Providers and Social Care teams to 

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 10 

4 

 

ensure a consistent approach and that the following key messages are 
shared and understood. 

 
 4.11    Key Messages are;  
 

• We will continue to meet eligible needs  

• We will focus on strength- based assessments and access 
to community to inform how services are provided. 

• We will meet our statutory duty 

• We are looking to develop a range of accommodation and 
support services that offers people greater independence, 
greater choice and flexibility, and your feedback will help to 
shape this. 

• Covid has shaped how we live and will continue to shape 
future services  

• The feedback will help shape an outcome-based service 
offer, and future market development. 

• The ambition is to ensure that services work for individuals 
and allow them to live the life they choose.  

• We will be asking people about how they wish to live their 
lives and ensuring that people are supported to make 
choices about access to accommodation, support, work, 
training and day opportunities.  

 
4.12 A communication plan will be developed to inform service users, carers, 

housing providers and other relevant stakeholders of the process and 
where further information can be accessed, if required. This will include 
reassurances around the approach, where to access information and 
advice and independent support where required. Accessible formats 
will be available. 

 
5. Legal Department Comments 
 
 5.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report (Supported Living Commissioning Strategy and 
Re-procurement) and has no comments to make.    

 
6. Recommendations 
 
 6.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Be advised of the plan for the Supported Living Re-procurement. 
 

b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 
their feedback and evaluation resulting from the co-production 
activity. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 10



Agenda Item 11 

1 

 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity 

– Bootle Area Action Plan  
 
Report of:  Ian Loughlin, Team Leader – Local Planning 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
1.1 To receive information with regard to the consultation plans being developed 

with regard to the Bootle Area Action Plan 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is to 

coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and consultation, in 
accordance with the standards for engagement and consultation. 

 
3. Bootle Area Action Plan 
 
3.1 Sefton Council is developing a Bootle Action Area Plan (AAP) Development 

Plan Document to guide the development and investment strategy for the 
wider Bootle area. Once adopted it will form part of the Development Plan for 
Sefton alongside the Local Plan. It is likely to cover a range of issues that have 
a land use component but can also look to address wider factors that influence 
the quality of place in which people live, work, shop, socialise, undertake 
leisure activities and visit. 

 
3.2 The stages in producing an Area Action Plan, as with all planning documents, 

is prescribed in the Local Planning Regulations. The Council also have an 
adopted Statement of Community Involvement which sets out how we engage 
of the preparation of planning document and planning applications.  

 
3.3 However, the importance of the community engagement in the regeneration of 

Bootle is recognised and a more bespoke strategy for engagement is 
necessary to ensure that there is community buy-in to the Bootle AAP. In this 
regard the Council have commissioned Turley to lead on the community 
engagement and document preparation for the Bootle AAP. They have 
produced a Community Engagement Strategy (attached) to set out how 
residents, partners, stakeholders and others will be engaged in the Bootle AAP 
stages.  

 
4.    The Consultation 
 
4.1 The engagement framework for the Bootle Area Action Plan is set by planning 

regulations. This requires three distinct stages of engagement and 
consultation as the document moves from preparation, initial engagement to 

Page 105

Agenda Item 11



Agenda Item 11 

2 

 

examination. The three stages are as follows: 
 

• Issues and Options 

• Preferred Options 

• Publication 
 
4.2 The detailed method for engagement is set out in the attached Community 

Engagement Strategy. The method we will utilise for each stage is set out 
within individual chapters of the attached Community Engagement Strategy, 
namely Issues and Options at section 5; Preferred Options at section 6; and 
Publication at section 7. 

 
4.3 The key aim of the Community Engagement Strategy is to provide a range of 

methods to talk to individuals and groups, acknowledging that each has 
different needs and one method will not be suitable for all. Flexibility is built 
into the strategy and there is scope for how we engage to adapt as we 
progress and start the conversation. The broad principle of a planning 
document is that you consult more broadly at the first stage and then build up 
the level of detail in the plan as it progresses. Therefore, the Issues and 
Options stage is often key as this is when stakeholders can have the widest 
input and the level of engagement is more open. 

4.4 The communications plan is incorporated within the attached Community 
Engagement Strategy (specifically paras 5.7 – 5.13 for Issues and Options; 
para 6.7 for Preferred Option; and paras 7.4-7.6 for Publication stage). The 
consultation will be promoted via several channels to ensure accessibility and 
reach in terms of awareness raising and feedback received.   

 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1 At the end of each consultation stage (i.e. Issues & Options; Preferred Options; 
Publication) a report of consultation will be published and made publicly 
available. This will set out the comments received and how these will be 
addressed, including how they will inform subsequent iterations of the Bootle 
Area Action Plan. 

 
5.2 When the Bootle Area Action Plan is submitted to be publicly examined, one 

of the supporting documents that will be required will be a report of 
consultation which will demonstrate how we have engaged on the Bootle AAP 
from the outset. 

 
 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make. 
 
 
 
 

Page 106

Agenda Item 11



Agenda Item 11 

3 

 

7. Recommendations 
 
 
7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the Bootle 

Area Action Plan. 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of their 

feedback and evaluation resulting from the above consultation. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Engagement Plan 
Bootle Area Action Plan (AAP) 

June 2021 

First draft version. For submission to the Sefton Public 
Engagement and Consultation Panel for consideration 
(for the July 2021 meeting) 

Agenda Item 11a

1
Page 109

Agenda Item 11



Contents 

Executive Summary i 

1. Introduction 2 

2. The Area Action Plan and local planning policy 3 

3. Accessibility and inclusivity 6 

4. AAP Engagement plan and programme 8 

5. Phase One: Issues and Options 9 

6. Phase Two: Preferred Options 14 

7. Phase Three: Publication 17 

8. Public Examination and legacy 18 

Appendix 1: Initial Stakeholder Groups 19 

Contact 
Michael Clare 
michael.clare@turley.co.uk 

June 2021 

Agenda Item 11a

2
Page 110

Agenda Item 11



i 

Executive Summary 

To be completed upon finalisation of the document 

Agenda Item 11a

3
Page 111

Agenda Item 11



1. Introduction

1.1 This Community Engagement Strategy (CES) has been prepared to support the

emerging Bootle Area Action Plan (AAP). Its overarching purpose is to provide an

introduction to the AAP process and to outline the key engagement activities that will

be undertaken throughout its preparation.

1.2 The document is structured to provide:

• An introduction to Area Action Plans, their purpose and planning policy

requirements with regard to consultation.

• An overview of Bootle, who will be involved in the process of preparing the AAP

and our proposed approach to consultation in the current COVID-19 context.

• A summary of the stages of consultation and how Sefton Metropolitan Borough

Council (SMBC) intends to consult at these stages.

• An overview of the next steps of the AAP process.

1.3 The Community Engagement Strategy has been produced for transparency and to 

demonstrate compliance with the AAP process. It will be published by SMBC to ensure 

transparency over the engagement process to inform preparation of the Bootle AAP. 

Agenda Item 11a

4
Page 112

Agenda Item 11



2. The Area Action Plan and local planning policy

Background

2.1 Bootle is one of the main settlements in the borough of Sefton and as such is a

regeneration priority for Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC).

2.2 In recent years SMBC purchased the Strand Shopping Centre in Bootle, alongside some

of its neighbouring sites, with a view of kick-starting the regeneration of the town. In

the past year SMBC has been engaging with the local community about how aspects of

the Strand could be repurposed, setting the context for the wider regeneration of

Bootle. Later in 2021, SMBC will look to consult on more detailed plans for The Strand.

2.3 To complement the work that is due to be undertaken on The Strand, SMBC has

considered how best to bring forward the regeneration of the wider Bootle area in

partnership with the residents and stakeholders of the town and has decided that the

most robust and comprehensive way to achieve this would be to create an Area Action

Plan (AAP) for Bootle.

2.4 The AAP will set out an overall vision for the town which will guide public and private

investment. It will identify a list of projects that would be suitable for development and

provide certainty to the private sector that Bootle is a good place to invest. It will be a

wide reaching document that is likely to cover the following themes:

• Creating and strengthening communities and neighbourhoods

• Environmental issues, including climate change and air quality

• Public transport, parking, movement and connectivity

• Shopping provision (including plans for Bootle Strand)

• Employment areas and office provision

• Where new homes could be provided

• Education, training and learning

• Parks, open spaces and recreation (including the canal corridor)

• Health and wellbeing

• Digital connectivity

• Interaction between the town and port

• Cultural activities and facilities

• Links and opportunities to wider area/projects

Agenda Item 11a

5
Page 113

Agenda Item 11



2.5 Preparation of the AAP will provide an opportunity for SMBC to undertake a 

comprehensive conversation with the residents and stakeholders of Bootle about the 

future of their town. It will establish a shared vision of the future and will set out how 

new development could improve the quality of place and economic prosperity of the 

town.  

Local planning policy 

2.6 SMBC adopted the Sefton Local Plan in April 2017. This sets out a vision for the future 

of Sefton, for a 15 year period up to 2030, and a framework for the borough to grow in 

a positive and balanced way. The Local Plan forms part of the Development Plan 

alongside ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans. 

2.7 An AAP is a type of Development Plan Document that provides specific planning policy 

and guidance for an area where significant regeneration or investment needs to be 

delivered. Once formally adopted, the AAP will form part of the Development Plan and 

will sit alongside the Local Plan. Its purpose will be to set out a clear vision for the town 

and to identify the locations in the town where investment is needed.  

The process of consulting on an AAP 

2.8 National Planning Policy Guidance (Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004) sets out that local planning authorities must produce a Statement 

of Community Involvement (SCI) to stipulate what consultation will take place in the 

preparation of Planning Policy documents. SMBC adopted its SCI in March 2018. 

2.9 Once fully adopted, the AAP will become part of the Development Plan and the 

guidance set out in SMBC’s SCI, specifically for the local plan, will be followed. This 

adheres to Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning Regulations (Local 

Planning) 2012.  

2.10 The consultation stages, durations and methods SMBC, set out within the SCI, are 

summarised in Figure 2.1 below. 

Figure 2.1: The proposed stages of consultation for the Bootle AAP 

Development Plan stage Consultation 

duration 

Consultation methods 

Scoping Consultation 

(Regulation 18-Town 

and Country Planning 

Regulations (Local 

Planning) 2012) 

Minimum of 6 

weeks (excluding 

Bank Holidays) 

• Written/email consultations with statutory

consultees, general consultees on our

database, other relevant stakeholders,

individuals and organisations who have

expressed a wish to be consulted or have

previously made comments;

• Consultation document available on the

Council’s website and hard copies available

at the Council offices and libraries;

Preferred Option 

Consultation (Regulation 

18-Town and Country

Planning Regulations

(Local Planning) 2012)

Minimum of 6 

weeks (excluding 

Bank Holidays) 

Agenda Item 11a

6
Page 114

Agenda Item 11



Development Plan stage Consultation 

duration 

Consultation methods 

Publication version 

Consultation (Regulation 

19/20-Town and 

Country Planning 

Regulations (Local 

Planning) 2012) 

Minimum of 6 

weeks (excluding 

Bank Holidays) 

• Inviting representation on the document

through press advertisements and a notice

on the Council’s website; and

• Public consultation events (at Scoping and

Preferred Option stages).

The Bootle AAP area 

2.11 The proposed Bootle AAP area is illustrated in Figure 2.2 below.  The AAP area may 

change and the Council will finalise the area following the first engagement stage. 

Figure 2.2: Proposed AAP area 

Agenda Item 11a

7
Page 115

Agenda Item 11



3. Accessibility and inclusivity

Bootle today

3.1 Located in south Sefton, Bootle is home to approximately 24,700 residents. It is one of

the main settlements in the borough and shares the metropolitan character of

Liverpool.

3.2 Bootle benefits from excellent transport links both to Liverpool city centre (located

approximately 4 miles to the south) and other settlements in Sefton and beyond. It has

a large percentage of young people when compared to other settlements in the

borough and has an active community that cares deeply for the town.

3.3 Despite the large number of positive factors, some Bootle neighbourhoods are

amongst the most deprived in the borough. It is recognised that the quality of people’s

living environment has a profound effect on their mental and physical health and

wellbeing, therefore the AAP presents an opportunity to improve the area for those

who currently live in Bootle, whilst making it an attractive place for people to live.

Stakeholders

3.4 Bootle has a wide range of diverse stakeholder groups, some of which have formed as

a result of previous planning policy interventions.

3.5 In recent months, a database of stakeholders has been built based on previous

exercises and through existing relationships. An initial list of stakeholder groups is

included at Appendix 1. It is important to note that this an ongoing process and the list

will be compiled over the coming months through conversations with officers and

organisations in the area. This is considered to be an evolving list and those with an

interest in the project are encouraged to get in touch with the team. Contact details

are included on the last page of this document. In addition the list of stakeholders, the

Council has access to a large number of active community groups through its social

media presence.

3.6 Accessibility and inclusivity will be critical to the AAP. To ensure the success of the AAP

process it will be absolutely vital that everyone in Bootle is given the opportunity to

shape the future of their town, especially in the current COVID-19 context.

Consultation during COVID-19 and the ‘new normal’

3.7 The steady increase in demand for digital consultation was accelerated by the impact

of the pandemic and the inability to hold in person events and face to face meetings.

3.8 To meet the change in habits and ongoing local and national restrictions, flexible

digitally-led consultation strategies have allowed effective consultation to continue –

facilitating two-way communication in a number of ways to ensure an accessible and

meaningful engagement process is carried out.

Agenda Item 11a

8
Page 116

Agenda Item 11



3.9 Whilst there is hope that social distancing restrictions will be lifted in the near future, 

the impact this will have on events and how quickly people will feel comfortable 

engaging with in-person consultation activities are yet to be understood.  

3.10 It will be important to continue to use a myriad of consultation activities and adapt to 

ensure our conversation is far reaching and that all members of the community are 

able to join in the process.   

Accessibility 

3.11 Ofcom has reported that the proportion of homes without internet access has fallen 

from 11% in March 2020 to 6% in March 2021 – with the pandemic increasing digital 

confidence for those previously ‘offline’. 

3.12 Digital-first consultation can improve engagement levels, reach and inclusivity by 

making the process flexible and easy to access.  

3.13 For example, those with mobility issues who may have found planning for and getting 

to and from events difficult can choose to access information online via a webinars, 

website or live chat. Similarly, those who may not speak English as their first language 

can use in built translation and audio recognition to really understand and 

meaningfully respond to the consultation in a way that may not have been possible 

before. 

3.14 Digital engagement will often be the preferred choice for those with families, full-time 

jobs, caring and other responsibilities that prevent them getting to events at set times. 

3.15 It is recognised however, that not everybody in Bootle will have access to the internet, 

therefore it will be important to ensure that they are not excluded and have the 

opportunity to participate fully in the process.  

3.16 It remains important to use remote methods of consultation, such as leaflets, press 

releases, posters etc. to ensure the process if accessible for those who are offline or 

choose not to engage digitally.  

A combination of traditional and online consultation techniques, along with provision 

of a variety of feedback methods, opens the conversation around the Bootle AAP – 

widening the reach and ensuring all those who have an interest are listened to through 

the process.   

Agenda Item 11a

9
Page 117

Agenda Item 11



4. AAP Engagement plan and programme

4.1 Engagement and consultation on the AAP will be undertaken in stages in line with the

table set out in Table 2.1 (page 6) in this document.

4.2 The diagram at Figure 4.1 below provides an outline of these stages and the indicative

dates these activities will take place. The dates provided are indicative and subject to

change as the process develops.

4.3 The remaining sections of this document provides further detail of each of these

stages, including how each stage will be promoted and consultation will be undertaken.

Figure 4.1: The stages of the Bootle AAP

Agenda Item 11a

10
Page 118

Agenda Item 11



5. Phase One: Issues and Options

Introduction

5.1 The first phase of the development of the Bootle AAP will begin with a consultation on

the Issues and Options. This will be the first opportunity for the town’s stakeholders

and community to engage in the AAP process.

5.2 SMBC has previously undertaken engagement and consultation with the residents and

stakeholders of Bootle with regard to planning and development. This includes the

production of the Local Plan, the Bootle Town Centre Investment Framework (in

August 2016) and recent conversations with local people about potential meanwhile

uses at the New Strand. These conversations will provide a starting point to embark on

the Issues and Options stage of the AAP.

5.3 The Issues and Options stage will build on a baseline analysis, gathered via a review of

evidence and feedback received during earlier consultations undertaken by SMBC and

project partners in Bootle. It will provide a starting point for conversation with

stakeholders and residents that will be loosely based upon previously identified

themes. It will also help us to understand emerging issues that have not been identified

but would need to be considered as part of the AAP process.

5.4 SMBC will also be undertaking conversations and workshops with officers and elected

members to inform the initial data gathering stage.

5.5 A detailed Issues and Options document will be produced to identify key issues and

potential areas of opportunity. This will be a starting point from which to build on for

the Issues and Options consultation.

5.6 Details of how the Issues and Options consultation will be promoted and undertaken

are included below. The proposed timing of the programme is included at the end of

this chapter to give an indication of dates. It should be noted that these dates are only

indicative at this stage and will be updated as the project develops.

Promotion

5.7 In March 2021, SMBC announced its intention to produce an AAP for Bootle. This was

widely covered within the local media and created an early and initial buzz of

excitement. A dedicated email address (BootleAAP@sefton.gov.uk) was provided for

individuals to register their interest in taking part in the upcoming consultation on the

AAP.

5.8 A visual brand will be created to promote the AAP to ensure that associated

consultations and activities are easily identifiable.

5.9 The Issues and Options consultation will be promoted via a number of more traditional

forms of advertising. These will include:

Agenda Item 11a

11
Page 119

Agenda Item 11



 

 

• Press release:  A detailed press release will be released to local media titles, 

organisations and groups in and around Bootle. 

• Posters:  Will be displayed in a number of locations throughout Bootle that 

experience high levels of footfall. This is likely to include community centres, 

shopping areas, GP practices, health venue and many other locations.    

• Leaflets: A number of leaflets will be distributed to groups via officers and 

contacts at key Bootle organisations.   

• Emails: Emails will be issued to existing SCC databases that have opted in to this 

type of promotion. 

• Newspaper adverts: An advert will be placed within the Bootle Champion. 

• Newsletters and alerts: Information about the consultation will be included in a 

number of existing newsletters and publications distributed amongst local 

groups. 

5.10 All forms of publicity will be written in plain English, avoiding acronyms and jargon 

where possible and at an accessible font size. The use of graphics, illustrations and 

colour will be carefully considered to ensure clear visual communication of the 

proposals.  

5.11 On request, material can be translated into relevant languages should this be required. 

Braille and large print versions can also be provided on request. 

5.12 All forms of advertising will provide a link to a dedicated consultation website (also 

with QR code) and include other ways of contacting the project team for those without 

internet access, including a dedicated Freephone telephone number and a Freepost 

address.  The Freephone telephone number will be monitored throughout the entire 

AAP process and enable residents and stakeholders to speak with a member of the 

team.  

5.13 To widen the reach of the consultation social media platforms such as Facebook, 

LinkedIn and Instagram will be utilised. This will include a mixture of paid-for social 

media adverts as well as engaging with existing groups.   

Consultation activities 

5.14 A six week consultation will provisionally take place will take place from Monday 23 

August to Friday 8th October 2021. The final dates will be confirmed once the Issues 

and Options report is approved by Cabinet. 

5.15 An interactive consultation website will be live throughout the duration of the AAP 

process.  This will be updated regularly with news and, at the beginning of each stage 

of the AAP process, it will be updated with the relevant consultation material. This will 

be visually led and easy to navigate on all formats. As the consultation will be digitally-

led the website will be the centre point of the AAP process. 

Agenda Item 11a

12
Page 120

Agenda Item 11



 

 

5.16 During the Issues and Options consultation visual aids will be used including maps, 

plans and flavour images. 

5.17 Although the consultation website will be an integral part of the consultation, it will be 

important to ensure those without access to the internet will be able to access the 

same information. A printed consultation pack will be made available for those who 

would like to participate. This will include a pre-paid envelope to encourage feedback. 

This will be available via the Freephone number or at select public locations including 

the Council offices and library.  

5.18 Alongside the website there will also be an opportunity to participate in a number of 

activities. These will include:   

• Virtual workshops: These sessions will be used to consider the constraints, 

aspirations and regeneration objectives for Bootle. It is expected that each 

workshop will last approximately 1.5 hours, using Zoom or MS Teams platform. 

All stakeholders and residents will be able to book to join a workshop from the 

launch of consultation.  

• Static exhibition: An unmanned static exhibition will be available to view in the 

New Strand shopping centre or an alternative accessible location throughout the 

consultation period. There may be opportunities for this to be manned by 

members of the project team at set times should government restrictions allow. 

Attendees will be able to provide feedback at the exhibition. The emerging 

advice from Public Health England will be reviewed.  

• Immersive tours: A free immersive tour of Bootle will be available throughout 

the duration of the consultation. It will provide an opportunity for residents and 

stakeholders to see a different side to the town. The tour will not be guided in 

person. It will follow a set route guided by clues provided via either SMS 

message or QR codes. The tour will be aimed towards small groups / individuals 

and provide an innovative way for feedback to be provided. As part of the 

preparation of the tour, accessibility requirements will be carefully considered as 

well as the groups that may wish to participate.  Further details will be provided 

at a later date.   

• Social media campaign: A social media campaign will be launched to encourage 

participants to upload or tag photographs and video content of parts of Bootle 

that they like or dislike using hashtags such as #makestheplace #wasteofspace. 

This will help to build up a pictorial narrative of the physical features, public 

realm and infrastructure elements of Bootle that people would like to retain, or 

wish to see regenerated. 

• Focussed stakeholder consultation: Focussed engagement will be undertaken 

with specific stakeholder groups including young people (via the local schools 

and colleges) and older residents (via Sefton Partnership for Older Citizens) 

amongst others. These will include focussed sessions and material. Early 

discussions with Sefton CVS and other support networks will be undertaken to 

determine which groups should be engaged and the best way to do this. One-to-

one discussions will be offered to significant landowners in the Bootle AAP area 

Agenda Item 11a

13
Page 121

Agenda Item 11



 

 

to discuss their aspirations for their sites. Existing forums, such as those the 

Council have with Registered Providers, will also be used to engage on the Bootle 

AAP. An indicative list of stakeholders groups is included at Appendix 1. 

Feedback 

5.19 There will several opportunities for feedback to be provided in response to the Issues 

and Options consultation. These will include: 

• Feedback survey: A detailed survey will also be available to complete on the 

website along with the opportunity to provide feedback on plans and maps. For 

those who do not have access to the internet or require the survey in different 

formats, help will be available via the advertised Freephone number.  

• Feedback postcards: Feedback postcards will be available to complete and 

return to the Freepost address at no cost to the respondent. 

• Emails / letters: A dedicated email address will be provided alongside the 

Freepost address for feedback to be provided.  

5.20 The online and printed surveys will be produced in consultation with relevant officers 

to ensure they capture the required demographic information.  

Review and analysis  

5.21 Following the Issues and Options consultation, all feedback will be fully reviewed and 

considered. A detailed ‘Consultation Report’ will be produced within which a summary 

of all feedback received will be provided. This will be published on the consultation 

website.     

Timing and programme 

5.22 The proposed programme timings are included below. The dates included are 

indicative at this stage and could be subject to change.  

Date Stage Activities 

Monday 23 August 

2021 

Publicity launch  • Press release  

• Leaflets 

• Posters 

• Emails  

• Social media campaign 

W/C Monday 23 

August to Friday 8 

October 2021 

Issues and Options 

public consultation  

• Interactive consultation website  

• Digital workshops  

• Static exhibition (potential for manned 

events) 

• Online survey / postal surveys 

• Focussed stakeholder events 

Agenda Item 11a

14
Page 122

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Date Stage Activities 

• Immersive tours 

• Feedback postcards 

Agenda Item 11a

15
Page 123

Agenda Item 11



 

 

6. Phase Two: Preferred Options 

Introduction 

6.1 SMBC is hopeful that, through the various consultation activities proposed as part of 

the  ‘Issues and Options’ consultation, the level of responses will be high and 

constructive. It is vital that all feedback is carefully considered at this stage. It may be 

possible that some ideas and comments are not relevant to the AAP process, but could 

be utilised as part of other activities or interventions either currently or due to be 

undertaken by SMBC. This will be determined through a detailed review of the 

feedback.  

6.2 It may also be necessary for SMBC and the consultant team to undertake further 

technical studies following the feedback received.  

6.3 Upon completion of this review and studies SMBC will produce a Preferred Options 

document for consultation. 

6.4 The Preferred Options document will set out SMBC’s broad strategy for future 

development in Bootle. This will be based on the feedback received and will set out 

design principles, preferred policy approaches and key projects that could be brought 

forward in the town. 

6.5 This will not be the finished product. However, it will provide more detail on how the 

ideas generated in earlier consultation could be brought forward and further feedback 

will be sought on this in the Preferred Options consultation.  

6.6 Details of how the Preferred Options consultation will be promoted and undertaken 

are included below. The proposed timing of the programme is included at the end of 

this chapter to give an indication of dates. It should be noted that these dates are only 

indicative at this stage and will be updated as the project develops. 

Promotion  

6.7 The promotion of the ‘Preferred Options’ consultation will be largely consistent with 

the promotion of the ‘Issues and Options’ consultation and will therefore be promoted 

via the following methods: 

• Press release:  A detailed press release will be released to local media titles, 

organisations and groups in and around Bootle. 

• Posters:  Will be displayed in a number of locations throughout Bootle that 

experience high levels of footfall. This will be consistent with the Issues and 

Options consultation. 

• Leaflets:  A number of leaflets will be distributed to groups via officers and 

contacts. 

Agenda Item 11a

16
Page 124

Agenda Item 11



 

 

• Emails: Emails will be issued to existing SCC databases that have opted in to this 

type of promotion. 

• Newspaper adverts: An advert will be placed within the Bootle Champion 

• Newsletters and alerts: Information about the consultation will be included in a 

number of existing newsletters and publications distributed amongst local 

groups. 

Consultation activities  

6.8 A six week consultation will be undertaken on the ‘Preferred Options’ and, at this 

stage, we envisage this taking place between Monday 21 February - Monday 11 April 

2022. However, these dates are indicative and subject to change.   

6.9 The dedicated website will be used as the main platform for the consultation. This will 

be updated with the full ‘Preferred Options’ document for review, alongside a more 

bite sized summary of the document. A detailed feedback form / survey will be 

available to compete on the website.  

6.10 As with the Issues and Options consultation, it will be important to ensure those 

without access to the internet will be able to access the same information. Printed 

consultation packs will be made available for those who would like to participate. Pre-

paid envelopes will be provided to encourage feedback.   

6.11 A number of both digital and face to face events will be undertaken in support of the 

‘Preferred Options’ consultation. These will include:   

• Online webinars: These structured sessions will take place over a 1.5 hour 

period and include a presentation by the project team and a Q&A session for 

those in attendance to find out more.  

• Public exhibitions: As with the first stage of consultation, these will comprise a 

mixture of static exhibitions as well as several manned exhibitions. This will be 

monitored and be subject to the latest advice with regard toCOIVD-19 related 

restrictions  

• Stakeholder sessions: To ensure that the stakeholders engaged as part of the 

Issues and Options consultation can participate in the Preferred Options 

consultation, dedicated stakeholder sessions will be provided. These will be 

informed by the work undertaken during the first stage consultation.    

6.12 In addition to the events, a copy of the Preferred Option document will be available to 

view in available in public places such as the Library and Town Hall throughout the 

consultation alongside a printed feedback form with pre-paid envelope. The Freephone 

telephone number will also be available and printed versions of the consultation 

material will be posted on request.   

Agenda Item 11a

17
Page 125

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Review and analysis  

6.13 All feedback will be fully reviewed and considered. As with the earlier stage, a detailed 

Consultation Report will be produced and published on the SMBC website. 

Timing and programme 

Date Activity Further details 

Monday 21 February 

2022 

Publicity launch  • Press release  

• Leaflets 

• Posters 

• Emails  

• Social media advertising 

• Newsletter and alerts 

W/C Monday 21 

February - Monday 11 

April 2022  

Preferred Options 

public consultation  

• Consultation website updated 

• Live information webinars 

• Exhibitions 

• Online and postal survey 

• Stakeholder sessions 

Agenda Item 11a

18
Page 126

Agenda Item 11



 

 

7. Phase Three: Publication 

Introduction 

7.1 Following the ‘Preferred Options’ consultation, all feedback received will be fully 

analysed and considered. This feedback will be used in the finalisation of the final pre-

submission AAP document. 

7.2 The final AAP will set out the key objectives and strategy of the Plan, the associated 

policies and how these policies will be delivered.  

7.3 The intention of the third phase of the process will be to enable residents, stakeholders 

and other interested parties to view and make comments on the AAP before it is 

submitted to the Secretary of State for examination. This will not be a consultation in 

the same sense as the first and second phase. All comments made in response to the 

final pre-submission AAP document will be submitted to the Secretary of State, along 

with the AAP document, for consideration.  

Promotion and consultation  

7.4 All stakeholders and individuals that have been involved in the production of the AAP 

will be notified. A press release will be issued confirming that the final AAP document 

has been published.  

7.5 The final pre-submission AAP document will be available to view for comment for a six 

week period. At this stage, it is envisaged this will take place from Monday 11 October 

to Monday 22 November 2022.  

7.6 The document will be available to view on the consultation website and in public 

locations such as the library and Council offices. For those who are unable to access the 

internet the Freephone number will be available to arrange alternatives. 

Review and analysis  

7.7 Once the six week publication period is complete, all comments provided will be made 

available for the Planning Inspector to review. A full Consultation Statement will be 

prepared, which will summarise each stage of consultation, the feedback received to 

each stage and how this feedback has been responded to.  

 

Agenda Item 11a

19
Page 127

Agenda Item 11



 

 

8. Public Examination and legacy 

The Examination process 

8.1 As the AAP will form part of the Sefton Development Plan, there will be a need for the 

document to undergo Examination by an independent Planning Inspector. This process 

will consider the soundness of the AAP and the representations made. The Planning 

Inspector will be appointed by the Secretary of State to conduct the examination. It is 

anticipated that this process could last up to 5 months. 

8.2 The Examination process will likely include hearing sessions in the public domain and 

all sessions will be open to the public to attend and observe. The number of public 

sessions will depend on the amount, type and complexity of issues raised and how 

much the Inspector feels it necessary to have a public discussion of those issues.    

8.3 Upon completion of the Examination, the Planning Inspector will prepare a binding 

report that will include suggested changes to the AAP, allowing the plan to be finalised. 

8.4 Once finalised the AAP will be adopted by SMBC and the AAP will form part of the 

Development Plan for Sefton and will become a material consideration to any future 

planning applications submitted to SMBC within the AAP area. SMBC is hopeful that 

the AAP could be adopted by October 2023. 

Legacy  

8.5 Once fully adopted by SMBC the AAP will help to attract and maximise investment, 

improvement and regeneration in Bootle. It will help guide wider Council investment 

and provide certainty to the private sector that Bootle is a good place to invest. 

8.6 This is a once in a lifetime opportunity for Bootle and SMBC is very much looking 

forward to engaging with residents and stakeholders of the town to produce a 

document  that everyone can all be proud of.  

 

For more information you can email BootleAAP@Sefton.gov.uk 

Agenda Item 11a

20
Page 128

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Appendix 1: Initial Stakeholder Groups 

Stakeholder groups 

Political stakeholder including SMBC councillors, MP(s) and Liverpool City Region   

Local residents, resident groups / associations and organisations 

The business community and people who work in the area 

Health organisations (including CCGs) 

Young people (including Hugh Baird college, schools, Sefton Young Advisors)  

Faith groups  

BME Communities 

Older people (including Sefton Older Persons’ Forum) 

Accessibility and advocacy (including Sefton Advocacy) 

 Voluntary and third sector groups 

Public Transport providers and representative groups (including Merseytravel, Network Rail, 

Highways England, Canal and Rivers Trust) 

Environmental Groups (including Environment Agency, Natural England, CPRE, Heritage 

England) 

Neighbouring authorities 

Merseyside Police, Merseyside Fire and Rescue, NW Ambulance Service 

Developers, housing associations and landowners 

Utility providers (including United Utilities, Scottish Power, National Grid) 

Communication companies 

Homes England 

Homes Builders Federation 

Agenda Item 11a

21
Page 129

Agenda Item 11



 

 

Turley Office 
1 New York Street 
Manchester 
M1 4HD 
 
 
T 0161 233 7676 

Agenda Item 11a

22
Page 130

Agenda Item 11



Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

1 
 

Sefton Public Engagement and Consultation Panel 
 
Date: Friday 9th July 2021 
 
Title: Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity – 
 Mental Wellbeing in Sefton Schools/Colleges 
 
Report of:  Steve Gowland – Public Health, Sefton MBC and Dr Rory McGill 
 

 
1. Purpose of the Report 
 
 1.1 To repeat the 2019 survey in Sefton schools of pupils and staff regarding 

their mental wellbeing and resilience with additional exploration of the 
impacts of the pandemic on their health and wellbeing 

 
2. Background 
 
 2.1 The main purpose of the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is to 

coordinate and ensure the quality of public engagement and consultation, 
in accordance with the standards for engagement and consultation. 

 
 2.2 The Sefton Public Health team - working with Liverpool John Moore’s 

University (LJMU) - carried out the first large scale digital survey of mental 
wellbeing within Sefton schools in 2019. The results of the survey 
highlighted several issues and needs relating to the needs of children and 
young people.  

 
 2.3 The findings of the survey - which was approved by the Public 

Engagement and Consultation Panel in February 2019 link – played a 
significant role in the Sefton partnership securing funding for two Mental 
Health Support Teams to support demonstrable increased need in the 
south of Sefton and also to support pupils at the key transition points 
(moving from primary to secondary schools, etc). 

 
 2.4 The 2019 student survey sample comprised 2,039 students aged 8-16 

years attending primary (n=1,347), secondary (n=869), and SEN (n=93) 
schools in Sefton across a total of 29 schools. A modified 38-item version 
of the Student Resilience Survey was used to measure students’ 
perceptions of four individual characteristics (self-esteem, empathy, 
problem solving, and goals and aspirations) as well as protective factors 
in their environment from their family, school and community. It is our 
intention to repeat the survey to help establish any changes since 2019 
and also quantify the impact of Covid19. 

 
3. The mental health and wellbeing of Sefton’s children and young people 
 
 3.1 The impact of the Covid19 pandemic has been felt across all sections of 

society and across all ages group. Both national and international 
literature suggests there will be a longstanding impact on the mental 

Page 131

Agenda Item 12

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=9580&Ver=4
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=498&MId=9580&Ver=4


Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

2 
 

health and wellbeing of children and young people as a result of the 
pandemic. It is therefore important to gauge these impacts to inform future 
collective actions of the Sefton integrated care partnership to address 
these. The impact on children and young people in Sefton has yet to be 
accurately established in this way, including issues such as lockdown, 
social distancing, home schools, etc. 

 
 3.2 There are national studies - notably those carried out by YoungMinds and 

the Anna Freud Centre - indicating increased pressures on children and 
young people, however such data is not available at a detailed level within 
Sefton. 

 
 3.3 We intend to repeat the survey used in 2019 - which was extensively 

consulted on with schools and stakeholders – and to both widen the age 
range to include younger people down to year 5 and upwards to include 
colleges increasing the age range limit from 16 to 18 in order to get a fuller 
understanding of the mental health needs of our local young people.  

 
 3.4 The mental health landscape has changed in significant and some 

unexpected way since the last survey, and new services have become 
available – notably Kooth and the new Mental Health Support Teams. This 
combined with new and evolving approaches – some lead by the 
Department of Education in direct response to Covid – and other policy 
drivers including the NHS Long Term Plan combine to mean that as a 
partnership we have to know the needs of children and young people in 
Sefton.  

 
3.5 Sefton Council and wider stakeholders are currently running a number of 

training and capacity building activities as part of a programme to improve 
the mental resilience and wellbeing of children and young people. In 
addition to this a comprehensive review of mental health services in 
Sefton is taking place. 

 
3.6 The aim of the programme create a complementary and robust offer to 

schools/colleges to support pupils, parents/carers and staff to deal with 
difficult circumstances in their lives, so as to prevent them experiencing 
common mental health problems. Much of this work is in direct response 
to Covid but it is also a continuation of activities that has been underway 
since the LJMU evaluation report (refer to document 12a) in 2019. 

 
 
  

Page 132

Agenda Item 12

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiEkNaj0Z7xAhULB8AKHf_MCeIQFjAAegQIBhAD&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ljmu.ac.uk%2F~%2Fmedia%2Fphi-reports%2F2019-10-supporting-young-peoples-emotional-health-and-wellbeing-in-seftonfinal-report.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0ibFwnosIYLERsgu_7_sxk
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwiEkNaj0Z7xAhULB8AKHf_MCeIQFjAAegQIBhAD&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.ljmu.ac.uk%2F~%2Fmedia%2Fphi-reports%2F2019-10-supporting-young-peoples-emotional-health-and-wellbeing-in-seftonfinal-report.pdf&usg=AOvVaw0ibFwnosIYLERsgu_7_sxk


Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

3 
 

4.    The Consultation 
 

4.1 For the original survey discussions began at an event in October 2018 
with all Headteachers from primary, secondary and Special Education 
Needs (SEN) schools regarding how this could be done.   

 
4.2 Several surveys were suggested to provide a comparative Sefton wide 

measure of resilience and wellbeing.  All surveys considered are ones 
which have been used at scale within other areas of the UK and have 
been recommended for use within schools and or with children and young 
people. 

 
4.3 Via a series of meetings with Headteachers, the Council’s Public Health 

team and Liverpool John Moore’s University; one main survey was 
chosen.  This main survey was adapted to create three slightly different 
versions for each ‘group’ a) primary pupils b) secondary and SEN pupils 
c) school staff.  All surveys had the same common elements and are 
available in the corresponding appendices at the end of this paper. 

 
4.4 General principles agreed with Headteachers in 2018 will apply to the 

2021 survey and are summarised below: 
 

• The surveys are anonymous for both pupils and staff. 

• The surveys are based securely online and will be hosted via Liverpool 
JMU website, a private link will be sent to schools to allow them 
access. 

• The surveys will meet with Liverpool John Moore University standards 
as well as GDPR requirements. 

• Paper copies can be completed, if necessary. 

• Schools are free to undertake the surveys or not, as they see fit. 

• The survey was implemented with primary schools in Year 4, 
secondary and SEN schools with Year 7 and Year 9 students 

• At each school’s discretion, they can also implement the survey with 
other years.  Liverpool John Moore’s will include in the analysis/report 
and feedback cohort findings to these schools.   

• The primary school survey is only suitable for children aged 8+; from 
the point of view of supporting self-completion and a clear 
understanding of the questions and options. 

• All staff are invited to complete the staff survey. 

• Liverpool John Moore’s will provide schools with parental information 
sheets describing the study.  

• Liverpool John Moore’s will also provide parental opt out forms which 
schools can use at their discretion. 

• Liverpool John Moore’s will also provide a child friendly information 
sheet. 

• The survey will be been submitted to the Liverpool John Moore’s 
Academic Ethics Committee for approval.  The revised survey will be 
submitted in time for the September 2021 meeting. 

Page 133

Agenda Item 12



Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

4 
 

• All schools can receive their own data back as part of the engagement 
and consultation exercise. However, we may remove some of the 
demographic variable (e.g. role within school, number of years working 
at school) that may make individuals identifiable before sharing the 
datasets. 

• In 2021 a college version of the survey will be developed and used, 
this will include more categories of demographic/personal data, 
including if possible, gender identity and Genderuality. The aim being 
to identify and support any need associated with groups which have 
been reported to disproportionately affected by negative mental 
wellbeing issues, e.g. transgender, LGBTQA+. 

 
4.5 We worked with schools regarding the language and readability of the 

surveys and several changes were made at their request.   
 
4.6 During May and June 2021 we have held discussions with Heads on 

several occasions at the Schools Cell, the THRIVE meeting and during 
the Wellbeing for Education Return training. The consensus is that 
October/November would be the best time to carry out the survey  

 
4.7 Participant information and consent  
 
4.8 We will repeat the approach we took in 2019 - all Sefton school head 

teachers will be initially contacted with a letter of invitation for their school 
to participate in the research. The commissioner, the public health lead 
from Sefton Council, will distribute this letter of invitation along with a 
gatekeeper consent form and information sheet to all school head 
teachers. Head teachers who wish for their school to take part in the 
research will sign and return the gatekeeper consent form to LJMU 
researchers. Schools are free to undertake the surveys or not, as they see 
fit. We would ask gatekeepers for their support in implementing the survey 
with their students and circulating the link to the staff survey to their staff. 
Specifically, we would ask them to: 

 

• Identify appropriately consent procedures, considering the 

participation of students at their school and parental opt-in / opt-out 

procedures / gatekeeper loco parentis, and COVID-19 guidelines.  

(see student consent procedures detailed below)  

• Decide which year groups they would like to take part in the study and 

liaise with relevant staff to provide the time and space for students to 

complete the online survey on a whole class basis supervised by a 

staff member.  

• Ensure staff supervising implementation of the survey provide a brief 

overview of the participant information sheet prior to starting and if 

requested by a young person, support them in facilitating their 

understanding of the information provided and questions posed.  

• Decide whether they would like staff to participate in the staff survey 

and if so circulate the link to the online staff survey.  

 

Page 134

Agenda Item 12



Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

5 
 

4.9 The criteria for gatekeepers to make the decision about which consent 
process to use includes: 

 
▪ They believe the consent method chosen is the most appropriate for 

their students based on the age of their students and other factors (e.g. 
ease of communication with parents).  

▪ They provide written consent in loco parentis for children whose 
parents do not contact them to opt out of the study or if they do not 
provide an opt-in/opt out process. 

▪ If opt out / gatekeeper loco parentis is used, it needs to be used for the 
whole class so all students are treated the same. 
 

4.10 In any instance where there are any questions raised around the suitability 
of this, then opt out/gatekeeper loco parentis will be excluded and only opt 
in will be used. 

 
4.11 Consent processes include: 
 

• Opt in – parent/guardians will receive a copy of the information sheet 
and a consent form to sign if they give consent for the child to 
participate in the study. They will be asked to return it themselves, or 
for their child to return (online or in person). 

• Opt out – parent/guardians will be provided with an information sheet 
and consent form to return if they do not want their child to participate 
in the evaluation. The information will inform the parent/guardians that 
their child will participate in the research unless a form is returned and 
that they would be required to take action by signing the opt out form 
to prevent them from participating in the evaluation. They will be asked 
to return it themselves, or for their child to return it. The gatekeepers 
will be asked to provide written consent in loco parentis for children 
whose parents do not contact them to opt out of the study. 

• Gatekeeper loco parentis – Gatekeepers will be asked to provide 
written consent in loco parentis for children whose parents do not 
contact them to opt out of the study or if the gatekeeper chooses not 
to send out the opt-out forms. We will also provide each gatekeeper 
with standard text about the aims and reasons for the study and 
include a link to our website with a study specific page. This can be 
provided to parents if gatekeepers chose not to provide them with an 
opt-out option. This could be made available through the school 
website, newsletter, email or letters home. 

 
4.12 Child friendly participant information sheets will be provided at the 

beginning of the survey to children prior to research participation. 
Separate, age appropriate information sheets will be provided for 
primary/SEN students and secondary/college students. The participant 
information sheet will make clear to children that their participation is 
voluntary, that they can leave the study whenever they wish and that there 
are no right or wrong answers. Consent from children will be taken on 
commencement of the survey. For the staff survey, a participant 

Page 135

Agenda Item 12



Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

6 
 

information sheet will precede the online survey and Consent on 
commencement of the survey will be taken. 

 
5.      Reporting and Publishing the Findings 

 

5.1  We have created a timeline, shown in Table 1, detailing the activities to 
date and set out milestones for after the surveys have been completed. 
The findings of the survey will be shared firstly with schools/colleges and 
then with the Panel as outlined below. 

 
Table 1 – Timeline for 2021 wellbeing survey in Sefton schools. 

Wellbeing in Schools Survey - Timeline 
Consultation/Survey Evaluation 

2021 2022 

M
e

n
ta

l 
W

e
llb

e
in

g
 i
n

 S
e
ft

o
n

 S
c
h

o
o

ls
/C

o
lle

g
e

s
 2

0
2
1

 

Task/Action START COMPLETE Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Aprl 

Meet with Primary 
Heads 

May July           

Meeting with 
Secondary & SEN 

Heads 
May July           

Finalise survey 
and action plan 

July July           

Approval from 
Consultation and 

Engagement 
Panel 

9th July 9th July           

Preparation 
Work& LJMU 

Ethic Committee 
Aug Sept           

Final 
communication 

with schools 
Aug Oct           

Surveys 'go live' Mid Oct Start Dec           

Analysis Jan Feb           

Report completed March March           

Report back to 
schools  

Start 
April 

Start 
April 

          

Report back to 
Public 

Consultation & 
Engagement 

Panel 

End April End April           

             

 
 
 

Page 136

Agenda Item 12



Children and young people mental health and wellbeing survey        Agenda Item 12  

7 
 

 
6. Legal Department Comments 
 
 6.1 Sefton’s Legal Department has considered the consultation plans 

contained in this report and has no comments to make.    
 
7. Recommendations 
 
 7.1 The Public Engagement and Consultation Panel is recommended to: 
  
  a) Appraise the public engagement and consultation plan for the 

Mental Wellbeing in Sefton Schools/Colleges 
 
  b) Request that the officers return to the Panel to provide details of 

their feedback and evaluation resulting from the above consultation. 
 
 

Page 137

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supporting Young People’s Emotional 
Health and Well-Being in Sefton: Final 
Report 

 

Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University | October 2019 

Page 139

Agenda Item 12



i 
 

Contributions  

Project design and management: Lisa Jones, Dr Kim Ross-Houle, Dr Zara Quigg, Dr Lorna 
Porcellato, Ellie McCoy 

Literature and policy review: Janet Ubido, Lisa Jones, Rebecca Harrison 

Data collection: Nadia Butler, Rebecca Harrison, Charlotte Bigland, Rebecca Bates, Dr Kim 
Ross-Houle 

Data analysis and report write up: Nadia Butler, Rebecca Harrison, Rebecca Bates, Lisa 
Jones, Dr Kim Ross-Houle, Charlotte Bigland, Dr Zara Quigg 

Acknowledgements  

This research has been funded by Public Health, Sefton Council.  

The authors would like to thank Steve Gowland and Simon Ward (Sefton Council) for their 
help in facilitating recruitment, as well as all the schools, children, staff and stakeholders 
who took part in an interview or completed a survey. 

This evaluation was undertaken in two stages. Finding from stage one of the evaluation are 
detailed in the following interim report, published in September 2018: ‘Public Health 
Institute, Supporting Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing in Sefton: Interim 
Report. 2018, Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University’. 
Available from: https://phi.ljmu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Sefton-Stage-1-
Final.pdf 

 
Public Health Institute (PHI) 
Faculty of Education, Health and Community, Liverpool John Moores University 
3rd Floor, Exchange Station, Tithebarn Street  
Liverpool  L2 2QP 
Tel: (0151) 231 4511 
Email: l.jones1@ljmu.ac.uk, z.a.quigg@ljmu.ac.uk  
 
https://www.ljmu.ac.uk/research/centres-and-institutes/public-health-institute 
 
ISBN: 978-1-912210-78-7 
 
October 2019  
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 12

https://phi.ljmu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Sefton-Stage-1-Final.pdf
https://phi.ljmu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Sefton-Stage-1-Final.pdf
mailto:l.jones1@ljmu.ac.uk
mailto:z.a.quigg@ljmu.ac.uk
https://www.ljmu.ac.uk/research/centres-and-institutes/public-health-institute


ii 
 

Table of Contents 
Contributions ........................................................................................................................... i 

Acknowledgements ................................................................................................................. i 

Abbreviations ......................................................................................................................... 1 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................ 2 

1 Introduction .................................................................................................................... 7 

2 Evaluation methods ........................................................................................................ 9 

3 Literature review ........................................................................................................... 10 

4 An overview of current provision in Sefton schools ..................................................... 26 

5 Specific programme case studies.................................................................................. 35 

6 Student wellbeing and resilience survey ...................................................................... 61 

7 Staff wellbeing and resilience survey ........................................................................... 72 

8 Key learning and recommendations ............................................................................. 79 

9 Conclusions ................................................................................................................... 83 

10 References ................................................................................................................. 84 

Appendix 1. Methods and analysis ...................................................................................... 89 

Appendix 2. School-level case studies ................................................................................. 94 

List of figures 

Figure 1: Outline of evaluation methods ................................................................................... 9 
Figure 2: Children’s mental illness and wellbeing at age 11 (findings from the Millennium 
Cohort Study) ........................................................................................................................... 12 
Figure 3: Logic model of current provision in Sefton schools.................................................. 27 
Figure 4: School-level logic model – School 1 .......................................................................... 31 
Figure 5: School-level logic model – School 24 ........................................................................ 32 
Figure 6: School-level logic model – School 66 ........................................................................ 33 
Figure 7: EHWB intervention programmes in Sefton schools ................................................. 35 
Figure 8: Rainbow Leaders key values ..................................................................................... 36 
Figure 9: Academic Resilience Approach Pyramid of Need ..................................................... 38 
Figure 10: School-level logic model – Academic Resilience Approach .................................... 43 
Figure 11: School-level logic model – Growth mindset ........................................................... 51 
Figure 12: Youth Connect 5 topic areas ................................................................................... 54 
Figure 13: Nurture and Thrive programmes ............................................................................ 57 
Figure 14: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by individual resilience 
scores, student survey ............................................................................................................. 69 
Figure 16: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by family and community 
resilience scores, student survey ............................................................................................. 70 
Figure 17: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by school and peer 
resilience scores, student survey ............................................................................................. 70 

Page 141

Agenda Item 12

file://jt2/violence2/Sefton%20Mental%20Resilience%20Projects%20violence2/Report/STG2%20-%20Sefton%20Final%20Report.docx#_Toc22899942


iii 
 

Figure 18: Proportions of staff responding positively and negatively to adult RRC-ARM 
questions, staff survey ............................................................................................................. 73 
Figure 19: Proportions of staff responding positively and negatively to WEMWBS questions, 
staff survey ............................................................................................................................... 74 
Figure 20: Proportion of staff with low, moderate and high mental wellbeing scores by 
resilience level, staff survey ..................................................................................................... 76 
Figure 21: Staff satisfaction with school provision of resilience building or EHWB activities for 
staff and students, staff survey ............................................................................................... 77 

List of tables 
Table 1: Student sociodemographic data ................................................................................ 61 
Table 2: Individual sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student survey ........ 65 
Table 3: Family and community sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student 
survey ....................................................................................................................................... 66 
Table 4: School and peer sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student survey
.................................................................................................................................................. 67 
Table 5: Mental wellbeing by sex, year, school type and area, student survey ...................... 68 
Table 6: Staff sociodemographic data ..................................................................................... 72 
Table 7: Prevalence of low mental wellbeing by responses to adult RRC-ARM questions, staff 
survey ....................................................................................................................................... 75 

Page 142

Agenda Item 12



1 
 

Abbreviations 

ACE Adverse Childhood Experience 

ARA Academic Resilience Approach 

CAMHS Child And Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CVS Council Voluntary Services 

CYPMHS Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services 

EHWB Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

FSM Free School Meals 

IAPT Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

MCS Millennium Cohort Study 

NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

PHE Public Health England 

PSHE Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education 

RRC-ARM Resilience Research Centre Adult Resilience Measure 

RSE Relationships and Sex Education 

SCWBS Stirling Children’s Wellbeing Scale 

SEAL Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning 

SEL Social and Emotional Learning 

SEN Special Educational Needs 

SLT Senior Leadership Team 

SMT Senior Management Team 

SRS Student Resilience Survey 

WEMWBS Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale 

WHO World Health Organization 

YC5 Youth Connect 5 

 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 12



2 
 

Executive summary 

This report presents the findings from a two-stage evaluation, which considered the short and 
medium term impact of a programme of early support to promote children and young 
people’s emotional health and well-being (EHWB) in Sefton schools. The first stage of the 
evaluation was published in September 2018. Alongside a literature review, the evaluation 
incorporated a range of research methods, including content analysis, a school survey, 
stakeholder engagement, qualitative interviews and a baseline monitoring survey with school 
students and staff. 

Literature review  

Poor mental health is perceived to be an increasing issue among children and young people. 
Research has demonstrated that approximately 200,000 young people are referred to 
specialist mental health services each year in England – putting increasing pressures on 
services. The significant role of wider structural factors, including higher-level political and 
economic factors, in affecting children and young people’s EHWB should not be minimised 
and there should be concerted efforts to incorporate an inequalities perspective when 
addressing children and young people’s EHWB. Poor EHWB in childhood can often have a 
lasting impact into adulthood.  Having a trusted adult that they can confide in is important for 
children and young people’s EHWB, especially if the child or young person has experienced, 
or is at risk of experiencing, adverse childhood experiences. 

National approaches to improving young people’s EHWB continue to be an important 
influence on, and driver of, practice. Recent years have seen the publication of a number of 
government strategies focused on introducing preventative measures as well as increased 
provision for those that have already developed EHWB issues. Universal whole-school 
approaches are more effective than approaches based on targeted or classroom-based 
teaching but should not be viewed as a short term, quick fix solution to children and young 
people’s EHWB. Intervention impacts on the school culture and environment may take some 
time to realise. Successful implementation and delivery requires long-term and multi-year 
commitment from funders, government departments, communities, and schools. 
Programmes should be acceptable to teachers and should incorporate evidence based 
teaching strategies. 

Schools have an important role to play in identifying and meeting the need of students having 
difficulties with their EHWB, but without a supporting whole-school framework, school staff 
may not be able or ready to deliver such support. Schools also have a key role in identifying 
and referring young people to specialist mental health services and should be supported to 
develop good working arrangements with local mental health services. 

Current provision in Sefton schools 

Stress and anxiety were highlighted on the school survey as key EHWB issues that schools 
wanted to prioritise. Schools addressed stress and anxiety through Personal, Social, Health 
and Economic Education, as well as specialised programmes that taught students coping 
techniques. Building self-esteem was a priority discussed by many of the schools in their 

Page 144

Agenda Item 12



3 
 

mission statements and was discussed in several case studies. Low self-esteem was 
considered to be a common problem within schools in Sefton, in particular with students who 
required additional support. Mission statements emphasised how schools would treat 
students as individuals and tailor support to suit their needs in an attempt to help increase 
confidence and self-esteem. Highlighting the important role that schools have in identifying 
students that may need additional support with their EHWB, referrals to external services, 
such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, were a key element in EHWB provision. 
Schools that had encountered students who required extra support that the school was 
unable to offer, would often make referrals to external services that could provide specialised 
support. A logic model was developed to provide an overall picture of the provision in Sefton, 
and a number of individual, school-level logic models were developed where possible. These 
provide illustrative examples of the reach of EHWB activities and programmes. 

Interviews were also undertaken with staff and trainers involved in the implementation and 
delivery of seven EHWB intervention programmes in Sefton schools, which encompassed a 
range of approaches. Four programmes – Rainbow Leaders, Academic Resilience Approach 
Emotional Literacy and Growth Mindset – were focused on changing school culture, capacity 
and/or approach to EHWB. The Academic Resilience Approach and Emotional Literacy are 
large-scale programmes with implementation supported through external training provision. 
Both approaches had provided schools with a supporting framework for delivery of EHWB 
activities and had increased staff confidence in addressing EHWB. These approaches had also 
provided opportunities for schools to network and share good practice. Three programmes – 
Big Love Little Sista, Youth Connect 5, and Nurture and Thrive – involved working with external 
providers based on referral of targeted students. All three programmes were well received by 
schools, children and their parents, but issues were raised about the sustainability of delivery. 

Student wellbeing and resilience survey 

The student survey sample comprised 2,039 students aged 8-16 years attending primary 
(n=1,347), secondary (n=869), and SEN (n=93) schools in Sefton across a total of 29 schools. 
A modified 38-item version of the Student Resilience Survey was used to measure students’ 
perceptions of four individual characteristics (self-esteem, empathy, problem solving, and 
goals and aspirations) as well as protective factors in their environment from their family, 
school and community. Students’ perceptions of their individual characteristics revealed that 
girls were significantly more likely than boys to report low to moderate self-esteem scores 
and high empathy scores. There was no difference in scores for problem solving and goals and 
aspirations between girls and boys. School year and type had a significant association with 
scores for each of the four individual constructs. High scores on each construct were more 
prevalent amongst students in years 5 and 6 compared to other years, and amongst students 
in primary school compared to students in secondary and SEN schools. There were no clear 
differences in scores between boys and girls on the protective factors (family connection, 
family participation, community connection, community participation, school connection, 
school participation). However, girls were significantly more likely than boys to report high 
peer support scores. School year and type were significantly associated with scores on each 
of the protective factors. With the exception of school participation, high scores on each 

Page 145

Agenda Item 12



4 
 

construct were more prevalent among students in years 5 and 6 compared to other years, 
and among students in primary school compared to secondary and SEN schools. 

Student mental wellbeing was measured using the Stirling Children’s Wellbeing Scale for 
primary school aged students and Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale for secondary 
school aged students. Girls were more likely than boys to report low or moderate mental 
wellbeing scores. School year and type were significantly associated with student mental 
wellbeing scores. Low mental wellbeing scores were most prevalent amongst students in 
secondary and SEN schools compared to students in primary schools. Resilience and mental 
wellbeing scores were significantly associated. The prevalence of low mental wellbeing scores 
was highest amongst those with low resilience scores on the individual characteristics and 
protective factors. 

Staff wellbeing and resilience survey 

The staff survey sample comprised 312 members of staff working in primary (n=153), 
secondary (n=131), and SEN (n=27) schools1 in Sefton across a total of 24 schools. Staff in a 
range of roles responded to the survey, although the majority (78%, n=244) were in teaching 
and learning support roles. The 12-item Adult Resilience Measure was used to measure staff 
resilience resources. Almost two-thirds (65%) of staff had a high level of resilience resources. 
There was no significant association between age or sex and level of resilience resources. 

The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale was also used to measure staff mental 
wellbeing. Four out of five (80%) staff had moderate or high mental wellbeing scores. There 
was no association between age or sex and mental wellbeing score. School type had a 
significant association with mental wellbeing score. Low mental wellbeing scores were more 
prevalent amongst secondary school (26%) and SEN school (24%) staff compared to primary 
school staff (14%). There were significant relationships between most of the individual 
resilience questions and mental wellbeing score. Two-thirds (67%) of staff who had low levels 
of resilience had a low mental wellbeing score. 

Most staff were satisfied with both staff (79%) and student (63%) EHWB and resilience 
building activities in their school. There was a significant association between mental 
wellbeing and satisfaction with the provision of wellbeing activities for staff. Staff with 
moderate or high mental wellbeing scores were more likely to report being satisfied with 
wellbeing activity provision in their school. 

Conclusions 

This two-stage evaluation has demonstrated how many schools in Sefton are following 
national guidance through their provision of support for children and young people’s EHWB. 
It was clear that schools have internal policies, and are implementing a range of formal and 
informal activities and programmes that broadly relate to EHWB. However, it was also 
apparent that provision is not consistent across schools. There were perceived to be 
difficulties in evidencing the impact of EHWB programmes and this may affect future 
                                                       
 
1School type was missing for one survey participant.  

Page 146

Agenda Item 12



5 
 

opportunities for funding and, consequently, sustainability. There was also an implied gap in 
provision between primary and secondary schools.  

Whole-school approaches are widely acknowledged as the most effective way for schools to 
promote the EHWB of children and young people. The approaches examined were well 
received by the schools that participated in this evaluation, and appeared to be credible and 
workable for staff. Importantly, these approaches had supported schools to focus on the 
ability of their staff to support and strengthen their own EHWB. While support for more 
formalised monitoring and evaluation is required to demonstrate measurable impact of 
EHWB programmes it should be borne in mind that the impact of whole-school approaches 
may be difficult to measure based solely on traditional research criteria. 

In conclusion, the programme of early support in Sefton funded through Public Health has 
provided a solid foundation for schools to develop frameworks to support the 
implementation and delivery of programmes and activities for EHWB. 

Recommendations 

• Ensure that senior management in schools across Sefton are aware of and supported to 
fulfil their role of as a key driver in the implementation and delivery of whole-school 
approaches that promote EHWB. 

• Develop processes to promote the sharing of school’s experience of programme 
development and implementation. This could include continuation of events open to all 
schools and the development of resources to share learning and details of available 
support. 

• Consider the provision of specific, targeted support to secondary schools to promote the 
implementation and delivery of preventative approaches. To support integration within 
the mainstream secondary school curriculum, additional research may be required to gain 
a better understanding of particular barriers to implementation and delivery in secondary 
schools. 

• Schools should be supported to adopt a whole-school approach that best aligns with their 
school ethos and that takes account of the wider social and economic context of the 
school (e.g. schools with challenging community contexts may benefit more readily from 
the Academic Resilience Approach).  

• Schools should be provided with support to identify evidence based classroom-based 
programmes and teaching practices that they can deliver within a whole-schools 
framework to support EHWB. 

• Future research and impact evaluation should incorporate meaningful engagement (and 
potentially co-produced research) with school staff and students. New forms of 
knowledge production and exchange should be explored and the routine sharing of 
expertise facilitated and encouraged.  

• The potential for differential impacts by sex or subgroups (e.g. based on SEN and 
measures of socio-economic status such as FSM) is of importance. Schools should be 

Page 147

Agenda Item 12



6 
 

supported to monitor EHWB outcomes alongside implementation in relation to their 
specific student populations and school contexts. 

• The resilience and wellbeing surveys should be repeated annually. Repeated 
measurement could be done longitudinally (i.e. with the same students as they progress 
through different years of education), or as repeated snapshots of the same cohort (e.g. 
repeated for each year 7 group). Surveys should be repeated at the same time of year 
each time to ensure results are comparable. 

• Teachers and schools should be supported to share good practice on supporting and 
strengthening their staff’s own EHWB. 

• Consider whether staff EHWB would benefit from further focused investigation. 

 

Page 148

Agenda Item 12



7 
 

1 Introduction  

This report presents the findings from a two-stage evaluation, which considered the short and 
medium term impact of a programme of early support in Sefton schools. The first stage of the 
evaluation was published in September 2018 [1]. 

Our evaluation considered programmes that were available across schools in Sefton to 
support young people’s emotional health and wellbeing (EHWB) and increase their mental 
resilience. Promoting and strengthening young people’s resilience and ability to cope through 
preventative approaches should have equal importance to delivering services that deal with 
problems once they have arisen [2].  

National guidance recommends that schools and colleges should ensure that they provide an 
emotionally secure environment that offers help and support for children and young people 
[2-4]. It is important to empower young people in educational settings by giving them the 
skills they need to develop healthy relationships, for example, by providing opportunities 
within the curriculum to teach relationship skills [2]. 

The ‘Sefton 0-19 Service Review’ [5] identified that good mental health was an important 
theme among young people in the borough. Alongside other consultations with young 
people, and driven by the need for individuals to be resilient, Sefton Council have sought to 
develop a comprehensive, innovative and co-produced Mental Resilience in Schools Project. 

1.1 The Sefton context 

In 2014, Sefton published its first health and wellbeing strategy, ‘Living Well in Sefton’, which 
included a commitment to work with parents and carers so that all children and young people 
have opportunities to become healthy and fulfilled adults. Identified outcomes included 
achieving “good EHWB for children and young people”, and building “stronger communities 
involved in their own wellbeing and wider community’s mental health services”. 

In 2017, a five-year ‘Children and Young People’s Plan’ targeted all services and organisations 
that work with children, young people and families in Sefton. One of the four priorities of the 
five-year plan is to “ensure positive EHWB of children and young people is achieved”. 
Key related objectives were to:  

• Promote good mental health and emotional wellbeing for all children and young 
people, parents and caregivers in Sefton; 

• Improve access for all children and young people who have mental health problems 
and disorders to timely, integrated, high quality, multi-disciplinary mental health 
services that ensure effective assessment, treatment and support for them and for 
their families, and to work together to tackle the stigma of mental ill-health; and 

• Improve knowledge of brain development and attachment theory with parents and 
services so they can build on this to reduce the numbers of children and young people 
presenting with mental health issues. 

Sefton also has a plan on ‘Mental Health (A Strategic Plan for Sefton 2015-2020)’. The 
objectives include the “promotion of positive wellbeing”, which aims to tackle the wider 

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



8 
 

determinants of mental health, ensuring mental health is integrated into other strategies and 
policies, neighbourhood development, environment and social actions. Governance of the 
strategy sits with Sefton’s Health and Wellbeing Board. Sefton Council along with partner 
agencies have established a steering group to drive forward improvement to Sefton’s children 
and young people’s EHWB. This group is tasked with developing strategic approaches to 
transform systems and services to improve outcomes for children and young people’s EHWB.  

The population of children and young people (aged 0-19 years) in Sefton in 2016 was 59,580. 
Data shows that; 3.7% (n=1,188) reported an emotional disorder (anxiety disorders and 
depression); 5.7% (n=1,831) a conduct disorder and 1.5% (n=482) a hyperkinetic disorder [6]. 

Further to this, key findings from the ‘Child and Maternal Health Observatory’ [2] and the 
‘2014 Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment’ [7] reported that: 

• The health and wellbeing of children in Sefton is generally worse than the national 
average. 

• The level of child poverty is higher than the national average with 19.8% of children 
aged under 16 years of age living in poverty. 

• The rate of Sefton children and young people admitted to hospital because of a mental 
health problem in 2014/15 was 117.8 per 100,000 young people aged 0-17. This is 
significantly higher than the average in England. 

1.2 Research aims  

This report provides a background to, and an overview of, the current approaches 
implemented in Sefton schools that aim to support young people’s EHWB. It also provides an 
overview of seven specific programmes implemented in schools and through external 
providers (e.g. Children’s Centres) in Sefton.  

The overall aims of evaluation were to: 

• Explore the literature relating to young people’s EHWB, including the impact of poor 
EHWB, the role that schools have in supporting young people and examples of 
previous interventions; 

• Understand the approaches taken by schools in Sefton with regards to improving and 
supporting young people’s EHWB as well as any barriers faced; 

• Highlight school priorities relating to young people’s EHWB; 
• Understand how specific programmes relating to young people’s EHWB have been 

implemented across Sefton, and any perceived outcomes achieved following delivery; 
• Gather baseline data on levels of EHWB and mental resilience among primary and 

secondary school children and school staff in Sefton schools. 

 

Page 150

Agenda Item 12



9 
 

2 Evaluation methods  

This evaluation incorporated a range of research methods outlined in Figure 1. For a full overview 
and justification of the methods used please refer to Appendix 1.  

 

Figure 1: Outline of evaluation methods  

Content analysis: Mission statements were accessed from schools 
in Sefton. These were coded in order to identify common themes. 
The data derived from the mission statements has been used in this 
report to provide an overview of how schools approach the subject 
of young people's EHWB. 

School survey: A survey was disseminated to schools across Sefton, 
which asked about programmes that were currently in place in 
schools, how they were facilitated (e.g. what resources were 
needed), what worked well and any issues they had faced. The 
purpose of the survey was to gain an understanding of the current 
provision to support children and young people's EHWB. 

Stakeholder engagement: 60 individuals from primary and 
secondary schools and Sefton council participated in a stakeholder 
engagement activity to help to identify: the key activities 
undertaken around EHWB; how these activities are measured; and 
what changes are experienced as a result of engaging with these 
activities. Researchers also attended two Emotional Literacy 
workshops.

Qualitative interviews: Interviews were carried out with people 
who had been involved with the design, training and/or 
implementation and delivery of seven programmes: Rainbow 
Leaders; Big Love Little Sista; Youth Connect 5; Nurture and Thrive; 
Academic Resilience Approach; Emotional Literacy; and growth 
mindsets. Data from the interviews was used to develop case 
studies of each of these programmes. 

Survey with school students and staff: A second survey was 
disseminated to schools across Sefton. The purpose was to gather 
data to establish a baseline measure of EHWB and mental resilience 
in primary and secondary school children and staff across Sefton. 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



10 
 

3 Literature review  

3.1 The extent of the problem 

The importance of young people’s wellbeing is increasingly recognised both globally and nationally.  
However, a 2007 UNICEF report on children’s overall wellbeing demonstrated how from a list of 21 
developed countries, the UK ranked bottom. Further, England ranked 14th out of 15 countries for life 
satisfaction and 11th for recent feelings of happiness and feeling positive about the future [8]. A 
report by Public Health England (PHE) published in 2015 [6] showed that in an average class of 30 15-
year-old pupils: 

• Three could have a mental disorder; 
• 10 are likely to have witnessed their parents separate; 
• One could have experienced the death of a parent; 
• Seven are likely to have been bullied; 
• Six may be self-harming. 

Further to this, Faulkner found that by the time a group of 30 young people reach their 16th birthday, 
eight will have experienced severe physical violence, sexual abuse or neglect; and three will be living 
in a step-family [9-11]. A recent study by Pitchforth et al. [12] demonstrates the basis for the growing 
concern over young people’s mental health. Data was collected from 36 national surveys (including 
a total of 140,830 participants from 1995-2014) and showed that the number of participants aged 
four to 24 years reporting a long-standing mental health condition has increased significantly across 
the whole of the UK over that period. 

More recently, the latest in a series of government surveys on the mental health of children and 
young people showed that emotional disorders in five to 15 year-olds had risen from 3.9% in 2004 to 
5.8% in 2017 [13]. This is a cause for concern due to the increasing pressures that are now being put 
on young people’s mental health services. Recent findings also show that at age 14 years, almost one 
in four (24%) girls and one in 10 (9%) boys may experience high levels of depressive symptoms [14]. 
Recent studies show that 11% of children aged 10-17 years in the UK experience low levels of 
wellbeing [8]. Approximately 200,000 young people aged 10-17 years are referred to specialist 
mental health services each year in England, suggesting a high-level of need [15].  

3.2 Risk factors associated with poor EHWB 

The Centre for Longitudinal Studies has analysed data from more than 12,000 children participating 
in the Millennium Cohort Study (MCS) to identify the range of factors that have a statistically 
significant influence on mental illness and wellbeing among children and young people at age 11, 
tracked through to age 16 [16]. The infographic below2 (Figure 2) shows the size of the association 
between each factor and mental health and/or wellbeing. The researchers found that arguments 

                                                       
 
2 Available online from: 
www.cls.ioe.ac.uk/news.aspx?itemid=4510&itemTitle=Children%E2%80%99s+mental+wellbeing+and+ill-
health%3A+not+two+sides+of+the+same+coin&sitesectionid=27&sitesectiontitle=News 

Page 152

Agenda Item 12



11 
 

between the child and their parents, and problems with peers had the largest influence on mental 
health, followed by chronic illness and communication difficulties.

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



12 
 

 
Figure 2: Children’s mental illness and wellbeing at age 11 (findings from the Millennium Cohort Study)

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 12



13 
 

 

Findings from the MCS Age 14 survey [17] show that as children move into adolescence, the 
proportion of children experiencing symptoms of depression increases significantly among 
girls, but not boys. Common factors associated with high depressive symptoms at age 14, for 
girls and boys, included being overweight, not getting along with peers and being bullied. 
Among girls, specific risk factors included being from a home with a lower family income, 
higher childhood cognitive scores, and greater parent mental health difficulties. Stark 
differences in wellbeing were also identified, with girls significantly more likely to report lower 
wellbeing than boys at age 14 (62% vs. 38%).  

3.3 Adverse childhood experiences 

A growing body of research over the past two decades has established that there is a link 
between adversity in childhood and poor physical and mental health outcomes across the 
life-course [18-20]. The term ACE (adverse childhood experience) is often used to describe 
such adversity, which includes a range of stressful events that children can be exposed to 
while growing up. ACEs can include, but are not limited to, physical, verbal and sexual abuse, 
physical and emotional neglect, exposure to domestic violence, parental separation or 
divorce, or living in a home with someone affected by mental illness, substance abuse, or who 
has been incarcerated.  

“Nationally, almost half (47%) of adults (aged 18+ years) resident in England 
were found to have experienced at least one ACE, with 9% having experienced 4 
or more.” [21] 

Crucially, the impact of ACEs appears to be cumulative, with risk of poor outcomes increasing 
with the number of ACEs experienced [22, 23]. Exposure to ACEs has been associated with a 
wide range of poor outcomes [21, 22, 24], with mental health outcomes amongst the most 
strongly associated with having experienced multiple ACEs [24-26]. Studies across England 
and Wales have found that compared with individuals with no ACEs, those who reported four 
or more ACEs, were over four times more likely to have low mental wellbeing and life 
satisfaction as an adult [25], over nine times more likely to have ever felt suicidal or self-
harmed [27], and six times more likely to have been absent from school [28].  

This understanding of the prevalence and impact of childhood trauma has led to the 
increasing recognition of ACE strategies within national agendas. Developing resilience in 
children is an important mechanism to protect those experiencing ACEs against short- and 
long-term mental health problems [27]. Resilience reflects an individual’s ability to cope, 
adapt positively to and recover from adversity [29]. Whilst studies have identified a strong, 
graded relationship between ACEs and low mental wellbeing as an adult, recent research has 
demonstrated that risks of poor childhood health are substantively mitigated by childhood 
community resilience assets, such as access to a trusted adult [24, 27, 28]. Thus, other sources 
of resilience in the wider community are also thought to be important mechanisms to build 
resilience. For example, regular sports participation (school and non-school clubs) has been 

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



14 
 

found to be associated with lower levels of mental illness in adulthood across all ACE counts 
[27]. This indicates that substantial gains could be made in mental wellbeing through universal 
approaches that support children’s access to resilience building assets, such as school-based 
social and emotional developmental curriculum [27, 28]. 

3.4 National policy approaches to EHWB 

The focus on young people’s EHWB has become increasingly prominent in national legislation. 
The life-course framework specified in the Marmot Review, for example, aims to build the 
resilience and wellbeing of children and young people across the social gradient [30]. Factors 
that influence young people’s mental health and mental wellbeing need to be addressed 
before birth and continued throughout the life of the child [31]. 

Recent national mental health policy, guidance and advice 

2015 
The Future in Mind report [32] identified the core principles and requirements necessary to 
support the emotional wellbeing and mental health of young people. It reinforced the need 
to build resilience, promote good mental health, advocate prevention, early identification and 
co-ordinated support. The report considered ways to make it easier for children, young 
people, parents and carers to access help and support when needed and to improve how 
children and young people’s mental health services are organised, commissioned and 
provided. The five key themes of the report were:  

• Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention; 
• Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers; 
• Care for the most vulnerable; accountability and transparency; 
• Developing the workforce. 

Guidance was issued to Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to help them develop local 
transformation plans (LTPs) for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. 
Some of the key objectives of the investment were to: (i) build capacity and capability across 
the system; (ii) rollout the ‘Children and Young People’s Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies’ (IAPT) programme; (iii) develop evidence based community eating disorder 
services for children and young people; and (iv) improve perinatal care. 

2016 
The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health report [33] highlighted children and young 
people as a priority group for mental health promotion and prevention, and called for the 
recommendations of Future in Mind to be implemented in full. Early intervention and quick 
access to good quality care for children and young people was said to be vital, requiring a 
fundamental change in the way services are commissioned and placing greater emphasis on 
prevention, early identification and evidence-based care. It was recommended that NHS 
England continued to work with partners to fund and implement the whole system approach 
described in Future in Mind, building capacity and capability across the system. 

Non-statutory advice in Counselling in Schools – A Blueprint for the Future [34] was provided 
to help school leaders set up and improve counselling services in primary and secondary 

Page 156

Agenda Item 12



15 
 

schools. It acknowledged that counselling is likely to be most effective where it is delivered 
as part of a whole school commitment to improving mental health and wellbeing. 

2017 
The Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health Provision Green Paper [35] 
focused on a small number of key deliverables, creating a pathway from schools to sources of 
further support, most notably Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). The 
core proposals include the following: 

• All schools and colleges will be incentivised and supported to identify and train a 
designated senior lead for mental health who will oversee the approach to mental 
health and wellbeing; 

• Mental health support teams will be set up to locally address the needs of children 
and young people with mild to moderate mental health issues; they will work with 
schools and colleges to link with more specialist NHS services; and 

• Piloting reduced waiting times for NHS services for those children and young people 
who need specialist help. 

The Care Quality Commission review of children and young people’s mental health services 
[36] found that many children and young people experiencing mental health problems do not 
get the kind of care they deserve and that staff often work in very difficult conditions with 
long hours and low pay. The report made recommendations to local services, and 
Government, to improve the mental health care available for children and young people. 
These recommendations include greater collaboration across government departments, to 
ensure children and young people’s mental health is a higher priority [37]. 

2018-2019 
The Government’s response to the consultation on the Transforming Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health Provision [38] committed to taking forward all of the proposals in the 
Green Paper. 

Non-statutory advice in Mental Health and Behaviour In Schools [39] clarified the 
responsibility of the school and outlined what they can do to support children and young 
people whose behaviour may be related to an unmet mental health need. 

The Government made an announcement on suicide prevention, which included further 
measures to support children and young people. This included the recruitment of mental 
health support teams to work with schools; and the reporting of children’s mental health in 
an annual State of the Nation report on World Mental Health Day3.  

Under new draft proposals for Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) issued at the end of 
2018, all pupils will study compulsory health education as well as new reformed relationships 

                                                       
 
3PM pledges action on suicide to mark World Mental Health Day. 9 October 2018. Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-pledges-action-on-suicide-to-mark-world-mental-health-day 

Page 157

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-pledges-action-on-suicide-to-mark-world-mental-health-day


16 
 

education in primary school and relationships and sex education in secondary school4. Topics 
will include various issues around mental wellbeing such, as understanding emotions, 
loneliness and where to seek help.  Following consultation, this will become compulsory in all 
schools across the country from September 2020. 

Changes were introduced to the Ofsted common inspection framework in May 2019.  Key 
additions to the framework include separate judgements on behaviour and attitudes and 
personal development, which make specific references to the essential components of EHWB. 
Within personal development, high-quality pastoral support is given greater prominence as 
an important aspect of school provision and staff well-being features as a key part of the 
leadership and management judgement. 

Public health approaches 
PHE is responsible for supporting the effective delivery of many of the recommendations in 
recent national mental health policy. Universal services such as health visiting, children’s 
centres, youth services, schools and primary care all play a key role in prevention and early 
identification of mental health problems, and the factors that influence the mental health and 
wellbeing of children and young people. 

Within schools, a set of key principles that underpin an effective whole-school approach were 
identified in a 2015 PHE report, Promoting children and young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing: A whole school and college approach [40]. The report set out key actions that head 
teachers and college principals can take. The eight principles were based on: (i) leadership 
and management; (ii) school ethos and environment; (iii) curriculum, teaching and learning; 
(iv) student voice; (v) staff development, health and wellbeing; (vi) identifying need and 
monitoring impact; (vii) working with parents/carers; and (viii) targeted support. 

The national Healthy Child Programme, Best Start in Life and Beyond, is a key public health 
programme for children and young people and their families, used in local area planning and 
prioritisation [41]. The 5-19 years element of the programme is led by school nursing services. 
In schools, the importance of continuing to develop whole school approaches to promoting 
health and wellbeing was noted, including building on the Department for Education’s current 
work on character and resilience, Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education (PSHE) and 
counselling services in schools [2, 3, 34]. 

A series of early years high impact area documents were published by Public Health England 
in 2014 and updated in 2016 [42]. These support the transition of commissioning to local 
authorities and help inform decisions around the commissioning of the health visiting service 
and integrated children’s early years services. The first of the six school aged years high impact 
areas was ‘resilience and emotional wellbeing’.  

3.5 The role of schools in EHWB  

The responsibility for the provision of support to young people around EHWB is often passed 
between schools, services and parents. Research suggests that young people may be as much 

                                                       
 
4 Available from: https://consult.education.gov.uk/pshe/relationships-education-rse-health-education/  

Page 158

Agenda Item 12

https://consult.education.gov.uk/pshe/relationships-education-rse-health-education/


17 
 

as ten times more likely to access a school-based mental health service than a non-school 
based one [43]. The academic impact of poor mental resilience has been noted in the 
literature with some suggesting that in order for children to be emotionally healthy, socially 
adjusted and able to achieve academic success, they need to have the ability to manage their 
emotions, and establish and maintain interpersonal relationships [44]. 

“Many have suggested that schools and colleges are amongst the best places to 
start identifying and meeting the mental health and emotional needs of students 
at an early stage, as well as signposting those who need further support.” [15] 

If schools are to be considered a suitable place for early intervention, the ability and readiness 
of staff needs to be considered. A number of studies [45-48] indicate that staff may feel 
burdened by mental health needs of their students; lack confidence in managing mental 
health-related problems in the classroom; have difficulty identifying pupils with problems that 
may require intervention; and experience discomfort in discussing mental or emotional 
health with students compared to other health issues [46]. 

Kideger et al. [46] also reported the results from a qualitative study that examined the EHWB 
activities of 14 school staff at eight secondary schools in England. Three emergent themes 
were discussed: (i) a strongly held belief that teaching and EHWB are inevitably linked; (ii) a 
perception that many colleagues outside the study sample are reluctant to engage in EHWB 
work; and (iii) a concern that teachers’ own emotional health needs are neglected, leaving 
them unable or unwilling to consider those of their pupils. Whilst the study participants were 
convinced of the central importance of EHWB to the work of schools, most felt that their 
teaching colleagues did not always share this conceptualisation of it as an essential part of a 
teacher’s job but, rather, were reluctant to take an interest in the EHWB of their students. 
Additionally, whereas the study participants were convinced that EHWB work went hand in 
hand with the core aim of schools to achieve academic results, they felt that colleagues often 
did not see that, but took the view that they should not or could not focus on both [46]. 

Schools have increasingly being seen as an ideal setting for the promotion of EHWB and the 
prevention of mental health problems [49]. A three-tiered model of intervention has been 
widely adopted [50]; universal interventions target the whole school or classroom; selective 
interventions are targeted to subgroups at higher risk of developing mental health problems; 
and indicated (treatment) interventions target children and young people who are already 
showing signs of a mental health problem. 

Whole-school approaches 
Guidance from the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommends that 
primary and secondary schools should be supported to adopt a comprehensive, whole-school 
approach to promoting the social and emotional wellbeing of children and young people [3, 
4]. Whole-school approaches are embodied in the World Health Organization’s definition of 
a Health Promoting School [51], which involves the whole school community in co-ordinated 
action across three broad elements:  

Page 159

Agenda Item 12



18 
 

• Health education is addressed within the school curriculum, and incorporated into 
teaching and learning; 

• Health and wellbeing are promoted through changes in the school ethos and 
environment; 

• Schools engage with families and communities. 

Positive effects of universal, whole school approaches have been found for some 
interventions based on the WHO Health Promoting Schools framework [52] but not for 
others. The evidence base is also less certain in relation to the promotion of mental wellbeing. 
For example, a 2012 systematic review on the effectiveness of the health-promoting schools 
approach to building resilience identified that only a limited number of studies have been 
undertaken [53]. 

School ethos and environment 
School-based interventions are more likely to be successful if they are informed by 
appropriate and sufficiently complex theories. Complex theories about the ways in which 
school culture and ethos, and the relationship and identities created within schools, can affect 
health have begun to emerge [54]. Bonell et al’s [55] integrated theory of school environment 
influences on students, for example, proposes that the school environment influences four 
interacting pathways:  

1) Student-school commitment – a school’s instructional and regulatory orders determines 
whether each student is committed or not to that school. This can be broken down into 
whether the child is attached to the institution and its staff, is involved in pro-school 
activities and has belief in the values of the institution. 

2) Student-peer commitment – relates to student’s peer commitments and whether these 
are with students who are themselves committed to the school or not. Suggests that more 
or less ‘committed’ students will generally associate by choice with other similar students 
(and in doing so have their pro- or anti-school values and behaviours reinforced) but that 
this is also partly shaped by other factors (e.g. where students are concentrated together 
by streaming, which may cause a contagion of or amplify a lack of school committment). 

3) Student cognitions – student’s cognition and behaviours are influenced by the school and 
peer environment. For example, students may be exposed to opportunities to learn from 
and adopt cognitions/behaviours from other students. 

4) Student behaviours – suggests that students’ ability to act in either a health-promoting or 
health-harming way is partly enabled by the social ties and resources available to them. 
For example, students with pro-school values will draw on their positive relationships with 
staff and peers to pursue pro-school activities such as study and sports. 

The model also involves a series of feedback loops so the consequences of each pathway 
influence the preceding pathway. However, they acknowledge that the current model does 
not greatly consider pathways via which schools influence students’mental health. 

“Reduced student commitment to school might, for example, result in poor 
educational attainment and schools cutting back on social and health education 
to focus on ‘the basics’ of teaching, perhaps further alienating some students. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 12



19 
 

Increased rates of smoking might result in staff instituting more severe 
disciplinary routines which inadvertently increase boundaries between staff and 
students. High rates of bullying might encourage some students to commit to 
anti-school peer groups as a means of developing self-protective social capital.” 
[55] 

  

Page 161

Agenda Item 12



20 
 

EHWB education in the curriculum  
At the classroom level, a wide range of universal interventions have been evaluated in 
schools. Educational approaches to EHWB typically target an interrelated set of skills, but may 
be referred to under a range of headings, including mental health promotion, character 
education, social and emotional learning (SEL), bullying prevention, life skills training, 
strengths-based approaches, and positive youth development [56]. 

SEL programmes have dominated education worldwide over the last decade. Well-known 
national programme examples include the Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) 
programme in England [57] and the KidsMatter and MindMatters SEL initiatives in Australia 
[58]. The concept of SEL has served as an umbrella framework for a range of approaches [56], 
though in general, SEL programmes aim to develop five core social and emotional 
competencies (self-awareness, social awareness, self-management, relationship skills, and 
responsible decision making) and can serve as an organising framework for a whole-school 
approach [59]. Pooled analyses show that SEL programmes have significant positive effects 
on targeted social and emotional skills and attitudes about self, others, and school [44]. 
Building on the SEL movement, positive education is a new term for the application of positive 
psychology principles to education.  According to White and Murray, positive education is “an 
umbrella term that is used to describe empirically validated interventions and programs from 
positive psychology that have an impact on student wellbeing” [60]. Noble et al. [61] suggest 
that an integration of SEL and positive education with the constructs of resilience and student 
wellbeing may offer an effective school-based framework for fostering student wellbeing. 

A 2017 systematic review identified 57 trials that examined the effects of universal, 
‘resilience-focused’ interventions on mental health problems [62]. The review supported 
some positive effects of resilience-focused interventions; however, effects varied according 
to the mental health problem addressed by the intervention, the age group examined and 
the length of study follow-up. Interventions were typically associated with short-term 
reductions in depressive and anxiety symptoms. A systematic review of UK-based studies also 
found that the effectiveness of universal school-based interventions remains mixed, with 
neutral to small effects identified [63].  

Examples of universal EHWB interventions 
Two large studies of universal EHWB interventions, The Gatehouse Project and Beyondblue 
are described below. 

The Gatehouse Project 
The Gatehouse Project provides an interesting insight into the impact that a multi-level school 
intervention has on EHWB and health risk behaviours. The Gatehouse Project was a school-
based programme targeted at Australian secondary school students aged 12-15 years old. The 
project was originally developed to address some of the limitations in earlier school health 
promotion work and to build on whole-school change programmes. The programme is 
integrated into regular English, health, or personal development, with no project workbooks, 
but using programme curriculum material.  

The major aims of the project were to increase levels of emotional wellbeing and reduce rates 
of substance use, thought to be related to emotional wellbeing. The project’s conceptual 

Page 162

Agenda Item 12



21 
 

framework identified three priority areas for action: (i) building a sense of security and trust; 
(ii) increasing skills and opportunities for good communication; and (iii) building a sense of 
positive regard through valued participation in aspects of school life. Bond et al. [64] 
examined the effect of the intervention on mental health and health risk behaviour outcomes, 
which began when students were in their second year of secondary school (13-14 years old). 
Twelve intervention schools were selected and compared with 12 control schools. A total of 
2,678 year 8 students (74%) participated in the first wave of data collection. 

The results of the study showed that the intervention was effective in reducing health risk 
behaviours; a comparatively consistent 3-5% risk difference was found between intervention 
and control students for any drinking, any and regular smoking, and friends’ alcohol and 
tobacco use across the three waves of follow up. The largest effect was a reduction in the 
reporting of regular smoking by those in the intervention group. However, there was no 
significant effect of the intervention on depressive symptoms, and social and school 
relationships. Bond et al. suggest that the three years of implementation may not have been 
sufficiently long enough to significantly impact on the school climate [64]. 

“It is clear… that a major limitation [of the Gatehouse Project] is the fundamental 
complexity of implementing a multi-focused intervention. Such an intervention 
requires long-term commitment by schools, an understanding that such 
interventions are not short term, quick fix solutions, and support throughout the 
process.” [64] 

The Beyondblue Schools Research Initiative 
The Beyondblue School Research Initiative investigated whether there were any long-term 
benefits from a multi-component, school-based approach to the prevention of depression 
among adolescents in Australian schools [65]. The intervention included four components: 

• A curriculum intervention that aimed to improve problem solving and social skills, 
resilient thinking style, and coping strategies; 

• Improvement in the quality of social interactions among all members of the school 
community, in both formal and informal settings; 

• Enhanced partnerships between families, school staff, education support/welfare 
personnel, and community-based health professionals;  

• Community forums that provided young people, their families, and school 
personnel with information to assist them to identify problems, to seek help for 
themselves, and to help peers.  

Both short- and long-term follow-up of the programme found little evidence that the 
intervention had reduced levels of depression among participating students. Sawyer et al. 
[65] suggest that successful implementation requires programmes that are perceived by 
teachers and students as relevant to educational and learning goals. 

Page 163

Agenda Item 12



22 
 

“Implementing school-based interventions is challenging for both researchers 
and practitioners. To be successful, such interventions need to have clear goals, 
which are consistent with school priorities, effectively engage both teachers and 
students, allow sufficient time for implementation of all components, and not 
adversely affect other educational programs and priorities.” [65] 

Personal, social, health and economic education 
Clear guidance on what schools should do to provide effective PSHE is currently lacking. 
Healthy Minds, an evidence-based life skills course was developed by the charity Bounce 
Forward to address this gap. The course has a core theme of resilience and includes sessions 
on mindfulness, sex and relationships and substance use alongside mental health. A trial of 
Healthy Minds ran in 30 UK schools from 2013 to 2018, during which the course was delivered 
to 39 cohorts of students aged 11 to 15 years old [66]. A full evaluation report is due in 2020 
but early findings show the course had a positive impact on student’s general health. 

Selected and indicated approaches 
Early intervention/identification 
Both universal and targeted approaches have their place in whole-school approaches to 
EHWB. Teachers may be well placed to recognise those children who are having difficulties 
with their EHWB, but who may not yet reach the threshold for a mental health diagnosis [3]. 
Cheney et al. [67] carried out a systematic review to identify and describe targeted group 
interventions for students having trouble with their EHWB or social functioning within schools 
in the UK. They identified 16 articles that described eight targeted group interventions 
(including nurture groups, SEAL small group work, the FRIENDS intervention, Pyramid Club 
intervention and a multidisciplinary social skills programme). The interventions examined 
varied but generally had a significant positive impact on the EHWB of children who were 
potentially vulnerable to development of mental health difficulties. The authors note that the 
most persuasive finding was in support of integrated programmes within nurturing schools 
[67]. 

Access to specialist support 
Future in Mind (the report of the Children and Young People’s Mental Health Taskforce) 
identified a need for improved communication and access for children and young people 
experiencing mental health problems [32]. Many areas in England are moving away from the 
historic organisation of CAMHS along the four ‘tiers’ model of care towards new models of 
working; including the ‘0–25 years integrated pathway’ and the THRIVE framework [68]. 

Acting on the recommendations of Future in Mind, NHS England and the Department for 
Education initiated a pilot programme in 2015 to test how and whether training and 
subsequent joint working between schools and NHS Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health Services (CYPMHS) could improve identification and referrals to specialist services. 
Twenty-two areas, incorporating 27 CCGs and 255 schools, were funded to establish named 
lead contacts within NHS CYPMHS and schools during the pilot. Overall, an evaluation found 
that the pilots were successful in strengthening communication and joint working 

Page 164

Agenda Item 12



23 
 

arrangements between schools and NHS CYPMHS [69]. At a programme level, the evaluation 
found quantifiable improvements in frequency of contact between schools and CYPMHS, 
understanding of referral routes, and knowledge and awareness of mental health issues 
affecting children and young people. The programme was also thought to have contributed 
towards improvements in the timeliness of referrals, and helped to prevent inappropriate 
referrals within many areas. The programme is currently being rolled out to all school and 
colleges in England. 

In response to Government proposals for transforming children and young people’s mental 
health provision, the King’s Fund have voiced concerns that the proposals do not go far 
enough in addressing the wider factors affecting mental health, such as ACEs and household 
adversity [70]. They note that many services are insufficiently resourced, or have faced cuts 
to funding, which raises questions about the wider availability of support once mental health 
support teams have identified a need. The Kings Fund also highlight that it is not clear whether 
the necessary workforce exists to carry out transformation. It is estimated that, currently, 
mental health services are able to provide support for only 25% of children and young people 
who need it [70].  

Implementation and delivery 
Schools are complex social systems, whose functioning is ever changing and adapting to the 
interactions of staff, students and parents [71]. Consequently, schools may face challenges in 
implementing whole-school approaches. Components supporting implementation of whole-
school approaches have, however, been identified [72, 73]. Drawing on the review by Pearson 
et al. [73], implementation factors that require consideration may be grouped under the 
following concepts: 

1) Preparing for implementation – introduction of a programme is more likely to be 
successful when systematically planned in conjunction with other school responsibilities 
and involving: 

• Pre-delivery consultation 

• Pupil engagement 

• Reciprocity (the idea that teachers and pupils judge that they have something to gain 
from implementation) 

• Concordance of the programme with current practice and interests (although lack of 
concordance may also act as a stimulus for change) 

2) Introducing a programme within a school  – introduction of a programme is more likely 
to be successful when it is incorporated into school activities by: 

• Integrating a programme into the life of a school (requires active support by senior 
figures and a named co-ordinator to initiate and sustain delivery); 

• Engaging those who deliver health promotion programmes (teachers who perceive 
that training for a programme addresses relevant skill or knowledge deficits are more 
likely to be motivated to engage with that training); 

Page 165

Agenda Item 12



24 
 

• Engaging those who participate in health promotion programmes (programme 
flexibility to accommodate pupils’ different rates of physical, psychological, and social 
development facilitates engagement). 

3) Embedding a programme into routine practice – takes time and motivation and requires 
pro-active management. 

4) Fidelity of implementation and programme adaptation – may be more likely where there 
is scope for ‘mutual adaptation’ between the programme and the people delivering it. 

Summary: Literature Review  

The extent of the problem 
• Poor mental health is perceived to be an increasing issue among children and young 

people. Research has demonstrated that approximately 200,000 young people are referred 
to specialist mental health services each year in England – putting increasing pressures on 
services.  

• The significant role of wider structural factors, including higher-level political and economic 
factors, in affecting children and young people’s EHWB should not be minimised and there 
should be concerted efforts to incorporate an inequalities perspective when addressing 
children and young people’s EHWB. 

• Poor EHWB in childhood can often have a lasting impact into adulthood.  Having a trusted 
adult that they can confide in is important for children and young people’s EHWB, 
especially if the child or young person has experienced, or is at risk of experiencing, ACEs. 

National policy 
• National approaches to improving young people’s EHWB continue to be an important 

influence on, and driver of, practice. 

• Recent years have seen the publication of a number of Government strategies focused on 
introducing preventative measures as well as increased provision for those that have 
already developed EHWB issues.  

The role of schools in EHWB 
• Universal whole-school approaches are more effective than only targeted or classroom-

based approaches but should not be viewed as a short term, quick fix solution to children 
and young people’s EHWB. Intervention impacts on the school culture and environment 
may take some time to realise. Success requires long-term and multi-year commitment 
from funders, government departments, communities, and schools. 

• Programmes should be acceptable to teachers and should incorporate evidence-based 
teaching strategies. 

• Schools have an important role to play in identifying and meeting the need of students 
having difficulties with their EHWB, but without a supporting whole-school framework, 
school staff may not be able or ready to deliver such support.  

Page 166

Agenda Item 12



25 
 

• Schools also have a key role in identifying and referring young people to specialist mental 
health services. Schools should be supported to develop good working arrangements with 
local mental health services. 

 

Page 167

Agenda Item 12



26 
 

4 An overview of current provision in Sefton schools 

This section brings together the findings from three elements of the evaluation to provide an 
overview of current provision:  

• Content analysis of school mission statements – the mission statements of each of the 
schools provided a valuable insight into their overall approach to delivering a 
supportive and inclusive learning environment;  

• A school survey about EHWB programmes and approaches – the responses provided 
an understanding of current provision across nine schools; 

• Stakeholder engagement event – an overall logic model was developed from the 
information provided through the stakeholder event and Wellbeing Lead meetings.  

The logic model (Figure 3) provides an overall picture of the provision in Sefton and is an 
illustrative example of the reach of activities and programmes. The logic model can be used 
to focus and improve the implementation of activities and programmes and to identify where 
there are gaps in provision and what resources may be required. 

4.1 Approaches to supporting young people’s EHWB 

Whilst EHWB and mental resilience were not always referred to specifically in school mission 
statements, the majority of the schools discussed how the ethos of their school aimed to 
support young people in relation to these issues. Almost half of the schools who completed 
surveys (n=4/9) had specific written policies relating to EHWB. However, the majority did have 
some policies in which the safety and general wellbeing of students was incorporated, for 
example, child protection policies, and behaviour and conduct policies.  

Main factors relating to young people’s emotional health and wellbeing 
The survey asked schools to highlight what they felt were the main factors that needed to be 
considered with regards to young people’s EHWB. School wide factors included: resilience; 
management of stress and anxiety; recognition of needs; and incorporating health and 
wellbeing within the ethos of the school. This was further reflected in the mission statements 
of the schools, with a third (29%, n=29) of schools highlighting the importance of valuing each 
child’s individual needs.  

For children with special educational needs (SEN), an emphasis on increased support, as well 
as building self-esteem, were consistent points raised throughout the surveys and some of 
the mission statements, as well as recognising the individual needs of these students.  

Current programmes and services that support young people’s emotional health and wellbeing 
in Sefton 
As evidenced through the stakeholder event and responses to the survey, a number of specific 
programmes that aim to support young people’s EHWB are ongoing in Sefton schools. 
Overarching programmes and approaches are grouped within the logic model. Named 
programmes and activities included the Academic Resilience Approach, Think Yourself Great, 
Relax Kids, Nurture Base, Tackling the Blues, and the Big Love, Little Sista project.  

Page 168

Agenda Item 12



27 
 

 

 
Figure 3: Logic model of current provision in Sefton schools

P
age 169

A
genda Item

 12



28 
 

PSHE was also highlighted in the surveys as one of the ways in which schools support the 
EHWB of their students. PSHE covers a wide range of topics including relationships, managing 
stress and promoting general health and wellbeing. Whilst PSHE was only specifically 
mentioned in a small number of the school mission statements, several others referred to 
how they incorporated EHWB into their curriculum.  

Referrals to wider support services were also noted by some schools who completed the 
survey, for example CAMHS. Almost all of the completed surveys listed at least one external 
service, which schools used to refer families for support more specific to their needs. One of 
these referral programmes, Nurture and Thrive, is currently delivered across all Children’s 
Centres in Sefton (see Section 5). 

A wider range of ongoing programmes and activities were captured through the stakeholder 
event (Figure 3). Whole-school activities supporting EHWB included Student/Pupil Voice and 
Class Councils, Mental Health and Wellbeing champions, and enrichment activities. 

The role of ‘community’ in supporting young people’s EHWB 
The concept of ‘community’ was highlighted in over half (63%, n=62) of the school mission 
statements. Many of the statements implied that the sense of community created within their 
school played an important role in ensuring that all students felt that they were a valued 
member of the school. Mission statements also referred to the wider community, for example 
parents, churches and local neighbourhoods. Schools were often seen as being ‘at the heart’ 
of local communities and the wider community was often cited as having a joint responsibility 
for young people’s wellbeing.  

“It is the school’s responsibility to work in partnership with all members of the 
local and wider community to provide each child with the skills and values they 
need to shine in the real world.” (Mission statement, school 68 – Primary) 

Mission statements for a further 15 schools (16%) referred specifically to the role that families 
had in children’s education and development. Often families were described in mission 
statements as being a key partner. Parent activities were also a key activity identified through 
the stakeholder event. 

“In partnership with families, we will help pupils to become responsible young 
people.” (Mission statement, school 1 – Primary) 

Additionally, a proportion of schools also demonstrated a high level of consultation with 
parents and the wider community regarding EHWB through parent surveys, SEN reviews, 
parent/teacher meetings and website activities.  

“Regular information about support available is included in weekly newsletters.” 
(Survey data, school 23 - Primary) 

Page 170

Agenda Item 12



29 
 

Almost half (n=46) of the schools were either Catholic or Church of England schools and 
referred to Christianity and the role of the church community in their mission statements. 
Whilst spiritual development was a core aim of these schools, many of them also incorporated 
religious references in their discussion of EHWB. In particular, there was emphasis on 
Christian teachings of togetherness.  

“We are committed to the message that Christ gave us when he instructed his 
followers to ‘love one another as I have loved you’.” (Mission Statement, school 
77 – Secondary) 

Young people’s role in their own emotional health and wellbeing 
Consultation with students regarding the types of support they would value regarding their 
EHWB was a practice discussed by several schools that completed the survey. Methods that 
facilitated this included pupil surveys, Circle time and Student/Pupil Voice. 

The way in which children relate to one another, as well as how they view themselves were 
also key themes across the mission statements. Over half (n=54, 54%) cited ‘respect’ as being 
a key concept promoted by their school and small number (n=11, 11%) discussed the 
importance of young people learning to be compassionate to others.  

“Everyone values and respects themselves and each other.” (Mission statement, 
school 16, Primary) 

Furthermore, many of the schools considered themselves to have a key role in increasing the 
self-esteem and confidence of their students.  

“We want to help each child to attain the self-esteem and confidence, which are 
necessary for a full and happy life.” (Mission statement, school 14, Primary) 

The majority of the schools that completed the survey stated that they were using a whole-
school approach. However, there were also a number who were either working towards this, 
or aspired to have the resources to do so. The concept of a whole-school approach was a key 
feature in a quarter (n=25, 25%) of the mission statements.  

“It is the responsibility of the whole school community to ensure that every child 
feels cared for and safe.” (Mission statement, school 12 – Primary) 

The role of staff in addressing young people’s EHWB 
An important element of addressing EHWB is the availability of training for staff who are in 
roles relating to young people’s welfare. Within schools, the level of training attained by staff 
varied, although all participants were able to highlight at least one staff member who had 

Page 171

Agenda Item 12



30 
 

relevant welfare training, quite often the SEN co-ordinator or school nurse. A small number 
however, did demonstrate a higher level of training amongst staff, with one school noting 
that staff had received mental health first aider training. It was also noted by some schools 
that completed the survey that dealing with the EHWB needs of their students was often done 
on a daily basis in an informal way. Therefore, whilst they may have had more limited 
involvement with specific programmes, it was still an important and integrated part of their 
work. 

“We have an experienced pastoral team who daily informally unpack and mentor 
our vulnerable children but [we] have found it difficult to implement more 
formalised intervention packages.” (Survey data, school 43 – Primary)    

The school survey asked for information about the types of pastoral care offered to support 
the EHWB of students, parents/guardians and staff, and this was supplemented by the 
information gather through the stakeholder event. Whilst all schools were able to indicate 
some resources that they had implemented, the survey identified that the range of support 
given to students could vary quite dramatically between schools. Some schools were able to 
offer a variety of different options for their students, and others only a smaller selection. 
Some of the services offered included mental health first aider, peer mediators, animal 
therapy, Relax Kids, referral to agencies such as CAMHS, art therapy and mental health 
support sessions. 

In addition to student pastoral care, schools provided a variety of resources to its 
parents/guardians and staff, such as: parent-teacher meetings; referral services; Attendance 
and Welfare Managers; Parenting 2000; Sefton Women’s and Children’s Aid; School Nurse; 
and support with health costs. None of the mission statements discussed what support was 
available to staff and only a small minority discussed provision for parents in terms of 
opportunities for life-long learning. 

 

Page 172

Agenda Item 12



31 
 

4.2 School-level examples 

Where possible to do so, school-level logic models were developed from the information collected at the stakeholder event. This information was combined 
with the survey data to develop three school-level examples of EHWB provision in Sefton schools. The stage 1 case studies are also provided in Appendix 2. 

 
Figure 4: School-level logic model – School 1

Activities  

Morning greetings 

Take a breath and smile  

SEAL Programme – assemblies at the beginning of each half term 

Outputs 

growth mindset 

Outcomes 

Academic Resilience Approach training 

PSHE scheme of work – ‘One decision’ 

Increased resilience (pupils) 

Self-regulation of emotions – giving 
children the skills to help themselves 

Pupils recognise their skills and 
assets and how to work with these Referrals 

Attendance 

Behaviour - via CPOMS. Analysis of 
incidents/concerns relating to 

established school categories. This 
may prompt further 

discussion/referral to other agencies 
Developing empathy and 
compassion for others 

Developing ownership for decision-
making and actions 

Progression 

World Mental Health Day 

Extracurricular activities – mindfulness, colouring, 
music, sports, arts and crafts  

Relax Kids 

School 1 
This primary (junior) 
school has over 400 
students aged 7-11 years. 

Main factors to be considered about young people’s EHWB: 
• Whole school responsibility 
• Understanding that children will learn and make progress when they have good mental health and wellbeing 
• Schools should ensure that everyone is committed to promoting good mental health 
• Schools should do as much as possible to reduce risk factors in all environments 
• Key members of staff who support EHWB for children and staff are part of the school improvement plan 

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 12



32 
 

 
Figure 5: School-level logic model – School 24 

P
age 174

A
genda Item

 12



33 
 

 
Figure 6: School-level logic model – School 66 

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 12



34 
 

Summary: Current provision in Sefton schools 

• Stress and anxiety were highlighted on the survey as key EHWB issues that schools wanted 
to prioritise. Schools addressed stress and anxiety through PSHE, as well as specialised 
programmes that taught students coping techniques. 

• Building self-esteem was a priority discussed by many of the schools in their mission 
statements and was discussed in several of the case studies (see Appendix 2). Low self-
esteem was considered to be a common problem within schools in Sefton, in particular 
with students who required additional support. 

• Mission statements emphasised how schools would treat students as individuals and 
tailor support to suit their needs in an attempt to help increase confidence and self-
esteem. 

• Highlighting the important role that schools have in identifying students that may need 
additional support with their EHWB, referrals to external services such as CAMHS were a 
key element in EHWB provision in Sefton schools. Schools that encountered students that 
required extra support that the school was unable to offer would often make referrals to 
external services that could provide specialised support. 

• A logic model was developed to provide an overall picture of the provision in Sefton, and 
a number of individual, school-level logic models were developed where possible. These 
provide illustrative examples of the reach of EHWB activities and programmes. 

 

 

  

Page 176

Agenda Item 12



35 
 

5 Specific programme case studies 

Interviews were undertaken with staff and trainers involved in the design, implementation 
and/or delivery of seven EHWB intervention programmes. These programmes encompassed 
a range of approaches (Figure 7), including approaches that were either designed to change 
school culture, capacity and approach or involved work with external providers through 
referral. 

 

 

  
 

Figure 7: EHWB intervention programmes in Sefton schools 

5.1 Changes to school’s culture, capacity and approach 

Rainbow Leaders 
Overview 
Rainbow Leaders has been implemented within one Sefton primary school over the past four 
years. The programme was designed by a teacher in relation to their work with values and in 
response to issues identified in the school, such as poor attendance. Rainbow Leaders aims 
to encourage students to take on more responsibilities and “equip them to be part of society”. 
Rainbow Leaders are ten students from year 6 who have been selected to lead a rainbow 
group consisting of ten children of mixed ages (from reception through to year 6). Students 
who wish to be Rainbow Leaders go through an application process during their final term in 
year 5. Current Rainbow Leaders are included in the shortlisting and interview process. 
Rainbow Leaders deliver a session to their rainbow group once a week, which focus on 
promoting key values (Figure 8). This case study was developed based on an interview with 
the teacher who had originally developed the idea for Rainbow Leaders within the school. 

Changes to 
school's culture, 

capacity and 
approach

Working 
with external 

providers

Nurture and Thrive 
Parenting programme; 
package of approaches 
delivered by children’s 
centres. 

Emotional Literacy 
Derived from same 
theory as SEL. Applied 
as a Whole School 
framework to prevent 
and address EHWB 
issues. 
 

Big Love Little Sista 
Pilot programme based 
on arts-based therapy 
for women and girls. 

Youth Connect 5 
Parenting programme 
developed by 
Merseyside Youth 
Association. 

Rainbow Leaders 
Primary school 
programme that 
encourages students 
to adopt values and 
act as a role model for 
peers. 

Academic Resilience Approach 
Whole school approach based 
on an ecological definition of 
resilience. 
 

Growth mindset 
Based on Dweck’s theory 
of growth mindsets. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 12



36 
 

                                          
Figure 8: Rainbow Leaders key values 

Over the past year, the programme had piloted a series of badges that children in school years 
4 to 6 could work towards: serviceable-self, aspiration, confidence and resilience. Children had 
to complete and evidence a series of tasks. Children were encouraged to work independently; 
however, the pilot had demonstrated how for some children, such as those with SEN, more 
structured support in completing tasks was needed. Obtaining a badge was recognised as a 
great achievement. Future provision may include adapting badges to make them accessible 
to younger children. 

Facilitators & Barriers  
Teaching staff who had recognised the issues relating to students’ EHWB were the main 
facilitators behind the project. Further, a whole of school approach in embracing the 
programme also helped to facilitate and embed the programme into the school’s ethos and 
culture. Additionally, the involvement of the current Rainbow Leaders in the recruitment of 
the new cohort had helped to further facilitate the programme. Funding from a mental health 
charity had enabled the programme to be extended through the incorporation of the badges.  

The member of staff who designed the programme did not face any barriers to 
implementation. They did discuss how there had been potential barriers relating to SEN 
students engaging with the programme but they had made adaptations to try and ensure that 
the programme was as inclusive as possible, for example, by having a specific SEN Rainbow 
Group.         

Rainbow 
Leaders

Respect
Confidence

Creativity

Perseverance

ResilienceTrust

Curiosity 

Service 
above self

Aspiration

“What we want to do for our pupils is develop them as 
citizens that are going to go to high school and beyond and 
have skills that will enable them to be able to work and be 

successful adults.” (Teacher) 

Page 178

Agenda Item 12



37 
 

Perceived Impact 
The application process was designed to encourage students to think ahead for the 
shortlisting process. For example, the school had issues with attendance (which in turn 
affected student’s wellbeing) so a good attendance record was seen as key for an application. 
The programme encouraged older students to take responsibility for being a role model, and 
gave younger students someone to relate to and look up to. Rainbow Leaders had successfully 
included SEN students, thus increasing their confidence.  

 

The perceived impact of the programme was very much focused on how the students felt 
within the school environment. A tension was acknowledged between the values that the 
child might be exposed to at home and the values that they were being encouraged to adopt 
at school. There had been no feedback from parents on the achievements of the children 
participating in the Rainbow Leaders programme. 

Resources   
The main resource required to implement the programme was time and dedication in 
promoting the key values from all staff. 

 

 
Overall, this was a low cost intervention. Funding obtained from a mental health charity was 
used to set up the badges and to cover printing costs for booklets. It was envisaged that this 
aspect of the programme will continue and that future costs will be absorbed by the school.  
Thus, Rainbow Leaders should be sustainable in the long-term if staff within the school 
continue to dedicate their time to the programme. The nature of this programme means that 
it could be implemented in other schools, although time would be needed to build and 
develop the school culture and ethos needed to make the programme a success.  

“I think it has had a tremendous impact on our school… I think giving 
pupils responsibility for self and encouraging them to live according to a 
code and look up to people in our school who live well by that code has 

been of benefit to everyone.” (Teacher) 

“The values work, the Rainbow [Leaders] work – that work is almost at the 
heart of everything we do. It underpins everything we do because if it 

didn’t underpin in then it wouldn’t be done properly would it?” (Teacher) 

“Time is a big factor and actually changing a culture has demanded 
everybody as a resource from the teaching assistants to the teachers, to 

the welfare staff. So all the staff modelling the values and then the 
children linking into that.” (Teacher) 

Page 179

Agenda Item 12



38 
 

Academic Resilience Approach 
Overview 
A number of schools in Sefton had received training on the Academic Resilience Approach 
(ARA). At the time of this evaluation, there were 24 schools in Sefton involved, including 
primary, secondary and SEN schools. The training delivered to schools was the same 
regardless of the age range of the students and had been delivered over a 12-month period. 
ARA works with an ‘ecological’ definition of resilience, meaning that “ways to foster resilience 
are understood to be found both inside the person and around them” [74].  

Professor Angie Hart and collaborators (www.boingboing.org.uk) developed the resilience 
framework that forms the basis for ARA. YoungMinds provide bespoke ARA training for 
schools, tailored to the assets and needs of each school. Schools received an introductory 
half-day of training, followed by a second half-day. In addition, each school has access to a 
half-day of the trainer’s time in school and an additional eight workshops are offered. All of 
the Sefton schools that were involved were at different levels and carrying out ARA at 
different paces.  

The key steps in ARA are: 

• That as many people as possible understand the 
evidence and what they can do (e.g. through 
whole staff workshop/s); 

• Identifying vulnerable and higher risk pupils 
(using existing pupil data and other information); 

• Gaining an insight in to how it is now in the school 
(focus groups, audit) and getting ideas for 
improvement (staff/pupils); 

• Developing concrete improvement plans; 
• Continuous learning and embedding change (Community of practice). 

A Pyramid of Need (Figure 9) has been used to support delivery of ARA, which aims to 
promote a focus on children in the middle of the pyramid who have concerning levels of 
vulnerability but who are not currently receiving any extra support.  

 

 

Children already involved with multiple agencies 

Students who might need low-level interventions e.g. nurture 
groups, peer mentoring 

Students that need a little more attention and encouragement 

Students already thriving in the school environment 

Figure 9: Academic Resilience Approach Pyramid of Need 

“It’s not necessarily about 
[schools] doing more, it’s 

about being more aware of 
what you do well.” (Trainer) 

Page 180

Agenda Item 12

http://www.boingboing.org.uk/


39 
 

This case study was developed based on interviews with two YoungMinds ARA trainers and 
with the Co-ordinator for Mental Health at a SEN school (aged 5-16 years). The school had 
adopted a whole-school approach to ARA (e.g. Figure 10) and made the children, staff and 
parents aware of what is needed to develop the approach and develop resilience. All of the 
children in the school are considered to be more vulnerable in relation to the Pyramid of Need 
(Figure 9). The school was in a relatively early stage of implementation, the YoungMinds 
trainers had delivered a workshop with staff about the ARA audit and to talk through the 
resilience framework in January. The school had chosen initially to focus on strengthening the 
staff and working with parents. 

This case study also draws on information gathered at a final workshop event held by 
YoungMinds in June 2019. This workshop aimed to enable eight schools who attended to 
feedback about the delivery of ARA, reflect on their own journeys, and celebrate their 
achievements in implementing ARA.  

Facilitators and barriers 
ARA was considered by the Co-ordinator for Mental Health in the SEN school to provide an 
important framework and support for developing their students as ‘well-rounded’ citizens, 
who are able to function in society. For example, having parents coming together and sharing 
experiences was considered by the school to be invaluable. Those with positive experiences 
of the transition from mainstream schooling were able to share this with those who’d had 
less positive experiences and regarded coming to a SEN school as almost like a ‘sanction’ or 
‘punishment’. It was felt that the school and their approach could help the parents to see that 
they all are working together in the best interests of the child. 

ARA fit well with the school ethos and the approach of the SEN school and was considered to 
build on established good practice in the school. The underpinning resilience framework had 
made a lot of sense to the staff working in the school and had helped support their 
understanding about developing resilience. A number of the teachers who participated in the 
workshop event also spoke about how attending the ARA training had made them realise how 
much they were already doing in their school. 

Constraints that were experienced with ARA were often related to time and finances. The 
Mental Health Co-ordinator also expressed the view that as a SEN school most staff are 
experienced at working with young people who face difficulties, so might not feel that they 
have as much need for ARA training. The ARA training session had run over 12 months, and 
the space between sessions was viewed as invaluable as it had enabled the teachers to reflect 
on their learning, supported them to develop a deeper understanding of ARA, and provided 
them with the skills to evolve (as well as apply) the approach practically within their schools.  

 

“It’s not new to us, because basically it’s our bread and butter... It’s what 
we do, and do really well… (it’s) about looking at what’s already in place 

and then building on that.” (School Co-ordinator for Mental Health) 

Page 181

Agenda Item 12



40 
 

Perceived impact 
From the information gathered at the final workshop event, it was evident that training had 
helped staff to reflect on what they were doing with their pupils and the policies that they 
currently had in place within their school, as well as identifying areas for improvement. ARA 
was seen by one teacher who attended the workshop to underpin all of their school practice, 
and another spoke about having recently re-written their values and linked these into a 
resilience framework. A number of staff also felt that the training and the ARA approach had 
encouraged them to be more proactive so that wellbeing issues were identified and 
addressed before reaching ‘crisis point’. It was felt that by getting all the underpinning 
elements of children’s EHWB (i.e. acknowledging children’s strengths and not just the issues 
they  had) and education right early on, that this would impact positively upon their future.  
There was also a strong emphasis and focus from schools on implementing EHWB support for 
their staff.  

ARA is considered to be difficult to evaluate because it is developed as a bespoke approach 
by each school. However, the SEN school had undertaken a baseline assessment in the 
preceding Autumn term, which included the senior leadership team (SLT) and staff. A pupil 
survey was also being undertaken using PASS (Pupil Attitudes to Self and School; www.gl-
assessment.co.uk) to provide a marker for measuring any improvement. 

Schools who participated in the final workshop event had also carried out self-assessment 
activities, including staff and SLT audits and staff wellbeing surveys. The importance of 
addressing staff wellbeing was recognised. Schools had used the self-assessment activities to 
both recognise good practice, provide opportunities for staff to have their views heard, and 
to identify and address staff wellbeing needs. 

The Co-ordinator for Mental Health emphasised that through the approach the school does 
not feel isolated anymore. They spoke about how the school is working with mainstream 
schools where some of their children have come from; sharing ideas, supporting each other 
and sharing resources (e.g. links to visiting speakers). 

“[ARA] starts from where a school is… A lot of initial activity is about insight 
gathering… if you look at your school through a resilience lens, what are you already 
doing brilliantly, and how are you going to keep hold of that…. How do you identify 

your vulnerable students and get in earlier for them and what does getting in earlier 
mean… It will look really different for each school.” (Trainer) 

Page 182

Agenda Item 12

http://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/
http://www.gl-assessment.co.uk/


41 
 

 

 

The YoungMinds ARA programme trainers also noted that schools were working together in 
the context of implementing and learning from the approach. This was reinforced by the 
information gathered at the workshop event. The training was seen as a ‘protected time and 
space’ where schools could listen and share example of their practice, and provided an 
opportunity to meet with other schools and develop new networks.  

Resources 
The Local Authority had invested in the programme and so there had not been a cost to the 
schools who participated in the ARA training. As part of the training, YoungMinds went into 
schools and these visits were seen to give direction and to help communicate the importance 
of ARA to school staff, helping to ‘get them on board’. It was also found to be reassuring and 
motivational. The practical support provided through the training had enabled schools to look 
at existing practices through a ‘fresh pair of eyes’, identify their areas of strength and areas 
for improvement. The SEN school planned to carry on using ARA and noted that the staff 
would like the ‘speaker’ to come again. The teachers who participated in the workshop also 
felt that an additional school visit would be beneficial to gauge how they were developing and 
how they may progress further with ARA. The Co-ordinator for Mental Health in the SEN 
school was of the view that mainstream schools may make more use of ARA. It was felt that 
as a SEN school, most staff were already experienced in working with young people facing 

“[The Academic Resilience Approach has]  given that framework really where 
we’re not working in isolation, we’re networking, working together with 

everybody and also sharing good practice... It’s all very positive at the moment, 
it’s more than we’ve ever had in terms of not feeling isolated, feeling that the 

local authority is behind us and that there are other schools out there, we’re all 
working together.” (School Co-ordinator for Mental Health) 

“…They feed off one another… to get the most out of 
their half day, some of the schools have joined up… that 

communication, and that community based work, it’s 
great that they’re coming together.” (Trainer) 

“The [schools attending ARA training] might all have concerns with 
parental engagement, but that in my experience tends to be 

something that secondary’s struggle with more anyway. So bringing 
them all together, for secondary’s to hear from the primaries can be 

quite a rich thing to happen.” (Trainer) 

Page 183

Agenda Item 12



42 
 

difficulties, and that they might, therefore, have more of an established base of good practice 
to build on. 

Teachers attending the final workshop event discussed whether there was the potential to 
develop more resources that could be utilised with parents and staff. It was clear that it was  
considered important for schools to be able to develop their own resources, as well as to 
adapt  those provided through the training, to fit their own situation/context. Going forward, 
the teachers spoke about the importance of maintaining a strong focus and momentum on 
ARA and expressed that they wanted more time to work collaboratively with other schools 
on implementing the approach. 

 

Page 184

Agenda Item 12



43 
 

 
Figure 10: School-level logic model – Academic Resilience Approach 

 

P
age 185

A
genda Item

 12



44 
 

Emotional Literacy 
Overview 
Like other SEL approaches (e.g. SEAL), Emotional Literacy has its origins in Daniel Goleman’s 
work on Emotional Intelligence [75]. It aims to help children to understand as well as 
articulate their emotions through the development of skills such as empathy and listening to 
others, which can enable them to form positive social interactions.  Emotional Literacy has 
five core aspects:  

• Self-awareness – recognising feelings as they happen; 
• Managing emotions/emotional control – the resilience to self-manage emotional 

reactions; 
• Empathy – emotional sensitivity to the feelings of others; 
• Handling relationships – self-confidence and social skills to work collaboratively/lead 

people; 
• Self-motivation – perseverance and determination to work with emotions and 

overcome challenge. 

Emotional Literacy has been used as a supporting framework for a whole school approach 
[76]. This case study is based on an interview with a Parent Support Adviser/Learning Mentor 
at a primary school in Sefton. The school is the lead school in a cluster of schools implementing 
an Emotional Literacy approach. The overarching aim for the school were to take a whole-
school approach and to build Emotional Literacy into the every day, and to change the ethos 
around EHWB. Emotional Literacy is being used as an overarching framework under which a 
number of EHWB programmes will sit. 

Emotional Literacy training has been provided to 44 schools in Sefton. This case study also 
draws on secondary data in the form of questionnaires completed by a number of staff from 
these schools who had attended the training. Two layers (or groups) were created at a senior 
level and practitioner/pastoral level.  Each group were trained and informed regarding subject 
matters of their choosing or regarding recent innovations of developments within it. 

Facilitators and barriers 
The implementation of the Emotional Literacy approach was driven by the school head 
teacher. This was seen to be beneficial as the approach was being driven from the top down. 
As the lead school within a cluster, the school also had a role in cascading information down 
to other schools. The head teacher was also keen to involve schools in Sefton that had not 
previously been involved in the Emotional Literacy training. The training was identified as a 

“It’s to change and move forward with people’s thinking and people’s ways 
and just to embed it more within the school. So looking at the bigger 

picture not just what’s just, for example, for a certain child that you’re 
working with at the time, not just what’s going on that day but looking a 

bit deeper and thinking a bit more. So changing people’s ways and people’s 
mindset...” (School Parent Support Adviser) 

Page 186

Agenda Item 12



45 
 

good networking opportunity that had highlighted what other schools are doing and the 
resources being used around the provision of EHWB support in schools.  

Emotional Literacy was seen to build upon and enhance what the school already had, and 
what was working well. The Emotional Literacy approach was therefore seen to be very 
compatible with existing work practices. There was a focus on the Emotional Literacy 
approach being delivered through the curriculum, in all lessons being taught, and that the 
approach was very much adapted to suit what was required at the time. 

 

Emotional Literacy was described as linking together other EHWB programmes that the school 
had implemented (e.g. Laughology and FEEL). It was considered that together they formed a 
suite of tools that could be used to meet individual, group or whole school needs. 

Perceived impact 
It was acknowledged that initially some staff may have been sceptical or resistant to the new 
approach, but that by providing a greater understanding and awareness of EHWB and 
Emotional Literacy, there had been a change in the culture and mind set of the school staff. 
Key areas of Emotional Literacy and the EHWB development of students were seen to be self-
awareness, managing emotions/emotional control, empathy, relationships and self-
motivation. Developing these skills in the children was something that the Parent Support 

“There’s not a programme as such… We’ve implemented [Emotional 
Literacy] as a whole school approach and it’s holistic to suit each 

individual. We’ve done it across the board as well, so we’ve included 
the staff, parents, children...”  (School Parent Support Adviser) 

“They all link in together and you can take bits… I think if you 
look at the bigger picture it’s worth taking everything into 

account and then looking at what’s best suited for the individual 
again or the whole school depending on what you’re doing and 

the situation itself.” (School Parent Support Adviser) 

“It’s something that you like to think that you do on a daily basis anyway. 
However, just having that greater awareness, and looking deeper, and 

having that confidence. Talking personally for myself, feeling more 
confident and being able to go along with it more than I probably would 

have to begin with.” (School Parent Support Adviser) 

Page 187

Agenda Item 12



46 
 

Adviser felt that they would like to think that they did anyway, however, the Emotional 
Literacy training was perceived as increasing their confidence. 

The school representative hoped that through the Emotional Literacy approach, children 
would have more positive outcomes in relation to: their awareness around EHWB; being 
positive role models; and their future, such as through their input into the community and 
adult life. Starting early, whilst the children were in primary school, was felt to be key to this. 
The teacher felt that overall, it was also important to educate not only the children, but also 
parents around EHWB. 

The responses on the questionnaires completed by schools who attended the training 
highlighted how learning from the training had been translated in the schools’ approaches to 
mental health and wellbeing. There was a very positive approach to the training and building 
in approaches to EHWB based on Emotional Literacy and associated models into the school 
environment. Positive outcomes relating to changing practices in school were already 
beginning to be seen. The training was considered by many attendees to have increased their 
awareness and knowledge around Emotional Literacy and its associated models, such as 
Seligman’s PERMA model5 and the Five Ways to Wellbeing (developed by the New Economics 
Foundation6). It had also provided information relating to all aspects of developing wellbeing. 
This was seen to enhance a whole-school approach and lead to a greater focus on mental 
health, with initiatives being put in place that would benefit the whole school. For some 
schools, this change was seen to be beginning on a smaller scale. Implementation of an 
Emotional Literacy approach was at varying stages within the schools attending the training. 
Those that already had plans in place noted that attending the training had provided 
opportunities to listen to and share ideas about good practice. Schools’ ethos around EHWB 
was being shaped by the Emotional Literacy approach and there were the beginnings of 
culture change, with new ideas being developed and curriculums being revised. In one 
example, a training participant described the importance of mental health being built into all 
aspects of the school environment and talked about the use of displays and resources in 
classrooms to “help pupils and remind them to look after their mental health and wellbeing”.  

                                                       
 
5 A model of the five core elements of wellbeing and happiness developed by Martin Seligman (one the founders 
of Positive Psychology). The five elements are: Positive emotion; Engagement; Relationships; Meaning; and 
Achievement. 
6 The five ways to wellbeing are: Connect; Be Active; Take Notice; Keep Learning; and Give. 

“We have looked at the mental health of staff and pupils, 
linked it to [Seligman’s PERMA model] and looked at 

improvements that can be made.” (Training Participant) 

Page 188

Agenda Item 12



47 
 

Many of the training participants acknowledged the importance of focusing upon staff 
wellbeing and the direct impact that this could have. Some also reported that staff in their 
respective schools were more encouraged to take part and be ‘on board’ with ideas and 
future projects around mental health and wellbeing. 

Resources 
Whilst the Emotional Literacy approach was something that the school would like to continue 
to use and develop, it was acknowledged that it was imperative to keep up the momentum 
of change. It was felt that this could be done through additional training and networking. It 
was acknowledged that whilst there was little resource (in terms of additional staffing and 
materials) actually required to implement the Emotional Literacy approach in school on a day-
to-day basis, time was an important factor. In addition, if more teachers were to go on the 
training (and additional follow-on training, if available) then funding would be needed to 
support this.  

Referring more generally to EHWB support in Sefton, it was felt that long-term professional 
development was needed. This also included being able to access additional resources and 
knowing where these may be accessed, so that they may discuss specific cases where 
additional support or reassurance may be needed. 

“The biggest [barrier] is time, but you just have to find time to do things 
don’t you, but more so I would say probably money. It is always a barrier 
isn’t it, whether you’re buying more resources or training or you’d like to 

send more staff on this training.” (School Parent Support Adviser) 

“…In my role [additional resources] would be fantastic because we discuss 
children on a daily basis and I know what I need to do with them, but I just 
haven’t got the resources or where would I go to, to find that out? For my 
role if there was just that link that you have got that you know you could 

just tap into...” (School Parent Support Adviser) 

“Staff wellbeing has improved and 
staff have commented on how much 

better they feel.” (Training 
Participant) 

“I now feel empowered and even more 
passionate about changing attitudes to and 

improving mental health of pupils and 
staff.” (Training Participant) 

Page 189

Agenda Item 12



48 
 

Growth Mindset 
Overview 
Growth mindset theory was developed by Dr Carol Dweck [77], based on the concept that 
individuals can develop and grow the capacity of their brain to learn and solve problems (also 
referred to as an incremental theory of intelligence). 

Research suggests that holding a growth mindset may predict better academic performance, 
particularly among students facing difficulties or challenges [78]. Haimovitz and Dweck [78] 
provide examples of both classroom-based and school-wide approaches to the 
implementation of a growth mindset culture. However, much of the work looking at the 
relationships between a growth mindset and academic success has been conducted outside 
of the UK. Warren et al. [79] examined whether there was support for the relationship from 
a UK perspective, but found that the relationship did not hold for children with free school 
meal status (FSM; as a marker of low socio-economic status) or who those with an identified 
SEN as it did for the rest of the sample. They note that as well as encouraging children to hold 
a growth mindset, interventions may also need to focus on enabling children to access 
additional support and resources. A recent evaluation of the Changing Mindsets project [80], 
based on approaches to developing a growth mindset, found a small impact of the approach 
on one non-cognitive skills measure, but it did not have a measurable impact on student 
attainment. One explanation for this is that growth mindset theory is already widely in use 
across schools.  

This case study was developed from an interview with the head of PSHE/RSE in a primary 
school in Sefton. The growth mindset approach has been applied within an overarching 
positive education framework (Figure 11) incorporating mindfulness and Seligman’s PERMA 
model. The ethos has existed within the school for some time but changes to the RSE 
curriculum had prompted the development of a new curriculum underpinned with a growth 
mindset approach and links to PERMA theory. There has been an effort to embed the growth 
mindset approach within the culture and ethos of the school and into everyday practice. 

Facilitators and barriers 

The staff had committed to the approach and were open to creating opportunities for the 
students to develop a growth mindset. At the start of the year, it had been identified that 
work was needed around the language the teachers were using. This involved a shift from 
praising for outcome to praising for effort and so reinforced the provision of constant 
encouragement and support to students. Other facilitators were funding provided by the 
Senior Management Team (SMT) to provide opportunities for training. The teacher also spoke 

“We were this year trying to prepare for the RSE curriculum… so we 
wanted to really help to reduce stress and anxiety and create that 

culture within the school, which is what growth mindset is all about, 
with the ‘I time’ and ‘I will’ and ‘I can’t do it yet’ and promoting the 

‘power of yet’. We also wanted to improve the emotional wellbeing of 
staff and pupils.” (Head of PSHE/RSE) 

Page 190

Agenda Item 12



49 
 

about growth mindset being on the school improvement planning agenda for the last two 
years. Delivery of the approach within the school was perceived to have become more 
consistent over time. 

Although in the minority, staff members who already had resilience were seen as a potential 
barrier to the approach as their resilience may hinder their understanding of why the 
approach was needed. It was felt that this was addressed through increasing knowledge and 
understanding of the approach through inset days and training. Overall staff had seen the 
benefits of the approach in helping themselves as well as the students. 

Time restraints in the curriculum and it not being a standalone lesson were also viewed as 
potential barriers, however, implementation into every day practice was viewed as being a 
key facilitator in the development of the growth mindset approach. 

Waiting lists for Parenting 2000 and CAMHS were seen to have the potential to hinder the 
benefits of implementing EHWB programmes such as growth mindset, as teachers did not 
have the skills or resource to work with those children ‘in crisis mode’. 

Perceived impact 
The growth mindset approach had become embedded into everyday school life, for example 
in improving staff and student communication outside of the classroom environment. Overall, 
the growth mindset approach was seen to improve the resilience of the children and was also 
seen to help improve the wellbeing of the teachers who were able to use the approach to 
help themselves. 

“I think having the time, a lot of teachers struggle with. I think sometimes they feel 
that there needs to be a place for it, and a timetable, and there doesn’t necessarily 
need to be, which is what we’ve really tried to push for this year. It’s not about you 
finding a slot in your timetable. It’s about you putting it into every lesson, maths, 
English, whatever. So I’d like to think that that has happened and I do think it has 

happened from feedback from children and feedback from staff...” (Head of 
PSHE/RSE) 

“I think there’s a lot of communication and professional 
conduct in talking to the children and how we speak to the 
children, and how we conduct ourselves… It’s become more 

high profile in the school.” (Head of PSHE/RSE) 

Page 191

Agenda Item 12



50 
 

The teacher spoke of an example where they have a ‘Take What You Need’ board, which the 
children have developed where there are inspirational quotes that the children can take when 
they need them. A teacher had also utilised this board after seeing the ‘stop and take a breath’ 
sign, which had encouraged them to just take a moment out of their hectic day. There was 
also a Staff Wellbeing board in the staffroom and there had been focus on supporting and 
helping teachers with their own wellbeing. 

A growth mindset was seen to be able to help children to understand that there will be set 
backs and challenges in their lives. However, it was felt that a growth mindset approach by 
itself was not enough, especially where there are issues (e.g. parental separation) that need 
to be supported by additional services. 

Resources 
The school used resources from a number of different places. External organisations that 
provided support in school included Relax Kids and Confident Minds, who provided resources 
and training on Cognitive Behavioural Therapy. Training was also provided to the teaching 
assistants from the Together Trust. Inset days also provided further opportunities for internal 
training around EHWB, and the teacher spoke about the resources and knowledge they had 
utilised from attending an ERASMUS course on the topic area. 

The teacher had been able to attend workshops along with other schools in the area where 
they had been able to share their practices and ‘magpie’ from each other and this was seen 
to have been invaluable. 

The teacher emphasised the importance of early intervention/access to support and felt that 
schools in Sefton needed access to: quality training and advice, increased funding, easy access 
to CYPMS, reduced waiting times, access to play therapy for younger children, talking therapy 
services for children and easy access to parenting courses.   

 

 

 

“It’s definitely improved the children’s resilience and approach to 
challenges, both academic challenges,  and also they’re taking it outside 
of school as well… they use it if they’re going to a football competition… 
dance practice… they use it throughout their life.” (Head of PSHE/RSE) 

Page 192

Agenda Item 12



51 
 

 
Figure 11: School-level logic model – Growth mindset 

P
age 193

A
genda Item

 12



52 
 

5.2 Working with external providers 

Big Love Little Sista project 
Overview 
The Big Love Little Sista project was piloted in two schools in Sefton, having previously been 
successfully delivered in Knowsley. The schools selected included one all girls secondary 
school, which was reported to have had high levels of self-harm amongst pupils, and one SEN 
school. Approximately 20 students in each school took part in the pilot. The programme was 
targeted at Year 10 students in the secondary school, and students of mixed ages in the SEN 
school who had problems with anxiety. This case study was developed based on interviews 
with a Teacher in one of the participating schools and the Big Love Little Sista Project Leader. 

Students were identified by school staff and were asked if they would like to sign up to the 
programme, all of the students voluntarily took part.  The aim of the project is to bring young 
girls together with women (teachers and community leaders) and use art and creativity to 
discuss and connect with their own and other people’s emotions. The programme encourages 
young girls to recognise their own strengths, take inspiration from other women, and 
understand how they can contribute to their community. It avoids using specific language 
around mental health and resilience.  

 
Students took part in six sessions that each lasted an hour and a half and used art therapy as 
a means of discussing issues that relate to EHWB. The girls were encouraged to sit with 
women and their teachers in ‘circles’ and discuss how they are feeling and any anxieties they 
have, however specific terms such as ‘mental health’ and ‘resilience’ were not used. All 
participants worked towards creating a ‘self-portrait’, which were displayed in a shop in 
Liverpool’s City Centre at the end of the programme.  

 

“A group of targeted individuals which we felt either had some concerns 
regarding anxiety and mental health but they weren’t seeking any 

specialist health, so no one under CAMHS or anything like that. So they 
were identified from the mentors, counsellors, form tutors and they 

signed up to it, so they wanted to do it.” (Teacher) 

“So we don’t ever come in and go this is how you have good metal health. We don’t 
even mention mental health or resilience because we get the girls to recognise their 

own strengths rather than tell them what they haven’t got.” (Project Leader) 

Page 194

Agenda Item 12



53 
 

 

Facilitators and barriers  
The engagement by teachers was seen as both a barrier and facilitator. Teachers who worked 
in the SEN school appeared to find it easier to adapt to having less formal conversations with 
the young people, for example they were more comfortable being referred to by their first 
name compared to those teachers from the secondary school. Furthermore, the secondary 
school had a stricter timetable which made it harder to fit the programme in compared to the 
SEN school.  

Funding from Public Health, Sefton Council facilitated the pilot. This one-off funding was 
agreed through a series of collaborative meetings (incorporating Public Health, the CCG, head 
teachers and members of the local community and voluntary services).   

Perceived impact  
Teachers at the SEN school have implemented some of the techniques into their daily routine, 
for example starting the day with a ‘circle’. Parents had fed back that children appeared to be 
more able to discuss emotions and noticed improved behaviour at home. The exhibition in a 
local shop was a milestone for the participants.  This was publicised by Public Health on social 
media and was included in Sefton’s Public Health Annual Report. A film was made to present 
the outcomes of the pilot, which has also been promoted on social media and has been shown 
to the council’s Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as well as the CCG.  

Resources  
The implementation of the Sefton pilot of the Big Love Big Sista project was funded by Public 
Health, Sefton Council. This paid for art materials for the project, and schools provided some 
additional materials that they already had in their stock. Time from staff was another key 
resource, however it was noted that the timetable of the programme could be flexible to fit 
around other school commitments, particularly important for the secondary school. However, 
the teacher at one of the schools was concerned that, going forward, the project would not 
be sustainable because of a lack of provision for future funding and the need for a member 
of staff with specific interests and training to lead the programme.  

 

  

“So the women and the teachers, leaders and girls all produced a self-
portrait which says something about who they are, what they love 

and what scares them.” (Project Leader) 

“We would benefit if they ran it again because the girls got a lot 
out of it, but I’m not sure if it is sustainable…You need someone to 
deliver it, someone with an interest in arts and training in mental 

health.” (Teacher) 

Page 195

Agenda Item 12



54 
 

Youth Connect 5 
Overview 
Youth Connect 5 (YC5) was designed by Merseyside Youth Association, in response to the 
need to improve children and young people’s resilience and EHWB. Funding for the 
programme has been provided by Cheshire & Merseyside Champs Public Health 
Collaborative. It provides families with the tools to help support children through resilience-
building techniques. The YC5 programme has been piloted across nine local authorities in 
Cheshire and Merseyside, including Sefton. The programme is based on a Train the Trainer 
model that has trained 249 frontline workers, chosen due to their roles within relevant 
organisations, to deliver a parenting course. The parenting course is primarily targeted at 
parents and carers of children aged 8-18 years and is free to attend. 

At the time of this evaluation, approximately 29 frontline workers within Sefton had attended 
the YC5 Train the Trainer programme, and over 100 parenting courses had been delivered to 
almost 700 parents and carers.  The YC5 parenting course is a 5-week course, covering seven 
topic areas (Figure 12). This case study was developed based on an interview with a staff 
member from Sefton Council Voluntary Services (CVS) who had participated in the YC5 Train 
the Trainer programme. They had run three 5-week parenting courses at the time of the 
interview. 

 
Figure 12: Youth Connect 5 topic areas 

The YC5 parenting course comprises five two-hour sessions. Sessions are delivered in a variety 
of community-based settings, such as community centres and schools. The course utilises a 
comprehensive workbook and worksheets, with additional online resources available. The 
YC5 website also provides a range of external links to local and national organisations offering 
support. The focus of the intervention is to empower the parents with skills and knowledge. 
Furthermore, as the parenting course includes group sessions, there is an opportunity for 
peer learning and support as parents are able to share their experiences with each other. One 
of the key aims is to reduce the number of referrals to higher tier services through 
encouraging young people to be more confident in discussing issues relating to EHWB with 

Youth Connect 5

Understanding 
young 

people's 
mental health

Think about 
what makes a 
family thrive

Develop 
family 

resilience

Understand 
your 

feelings

Develop 
skills to 
support 
children

Smart ways 
to make a 

change

Strategies 
to manage 

stress 

Page 196

Agenda Item 12



55 
 

their parents and by giving parents knowledge about how to help with these issues and raising 
their awareness of other sources of support.  

 

Facilitators and barriers 
One of the main facilitators of the programmes was the funding from Champs for the Train 
the Trainer model, which enabled the parenting course to be delivered free of charge. The 
trainer however described a number of barriers that they had encountered when delivering 
YC5. They reported that some trainers did not have the capacity to meet the demand for the 
parenting course and that a further impact on provision had been the loss of some trainers 
from the area because of redundancy. The trainer also discussed how some parents would 
drop out partway through the programme, which affected the completion rate.  

 
Impact 
An evaluation of the YC57 found that there was a marked improvement in knowledge, 
confidence, resilience and mental wellbeing among parents who attended the course. The 
validated Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental-Wellbeing Scale was used to measure parent 
wellbeing outcomes before and after the course, and the data for Sefton showed an improved 
mean score among parents. The trainer discussed how parents had reported that they 
learned new techniques and strategies to help them manage their children, as well as their 
own mental health. Parents also reported gaining a benefit from peer support, which came 
about through the group-based delivery. It gave them the opportunity to share experiences 
and reduce the feeling of isolation that the parents had felt prior to the course. 

Resources  
The main resource required to implement the programme was time and dedication from the 
trainers. As delivery of the parenting course is not funded8, frontline staff who received the 
YC5 training were required to implement the course alongside the other commitments of 
their full-time frontline role. In order for YC5 to be sustainable and available for more parents 
in Sefton, more trainers are required. 

                                                       
 
7 https://phi.ljmu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Champs-Youth-Connect-Report-executive-summary.pdf  
8 Champs Public Health Collaborative provided funding for the Train the Trainer element of the programme only 
and not delivery of the parenting course. 

“[YC5] is targeted at parents of high school children and it’s to teach them 
strategies and skills to support their child’s emotional health and wellbeing… It’s 

ultimately meant to reduce demand on higher tier services.” (Trainer) 
       

“The main problem we have had is trainers’ capacity. The demand for the [parenting 
course] is there but we can’t meet it because of time constraints. I know a few people 

who were trained to deliver [YC5] have also left Sefton…” (Trainer) 

Page 197

Agenda Item 12

https://phi.ljmu.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Champs-Youth-Connect-Report-executive-summary.pdf


56 
 

  

Page 198

Agenda Item 12



57 
 

Nurture and Thrive 
Overview 
Nurture and Thrive is a package of intervention and preventative services delivered in and by 
Children’s Centres across Sefton. Nurture and Thrive was designed as a means of trying to 
reduce the number of referrals to CAMHS. The intervention package supports parenting, adult 
and child mental health and emotional wellbeing. The programme was funded by Public 
Health, Sefton Council. This case study was developed from interviews with managers in three 
Children’s Centres in Sefton. 

 
The programme was developed by staff at children’s centres in an attempt to provide support 
that is more cohesive across Sefton.  

 
Places are allocated on a referral only basis, requiring a referral form from a school, Children’s 
Centre or relevant professional (e.g. health visitor). Appropriate courses (Figure 13) and 
venues for each participant are decided by the Nurture and Thrive panel. Currently, the 
programme is run across all 10 of Sefton’s Children’s Centres. 

 
Figure 13: Nurture and Thrive programmes 

Nurture 
& Thrive

Theraplay

Think 
Differently, 

Cope 
Differently

Relaxed 
KidsTriple P

Mellow 
Parenting 

“[Nurture and Thrive] is an early intervention and prevention 
programme. It stops children and their parents going down the route 

of having to need counselling, CAMHS services early on. It gives 
people the techniques to manage their own wellbeing and mental 

health but recognises that you might need medication or help but to 
try this [Nurture and Thrive] in addition.” (Centre Manager) 

“The Children’s Centres came together to do it. We had been delivering these 
courses as centres quite separately through different training courses that we had 

all been on and we recognised that we were duplicating.” (Centre Manager)  

Page 199

Agenda Item 12



58 
 

The training begins before children reach school age, and can be utilised throughout 
childhood. Each of the courses aims to tackle a different issue that may contribute to the poor 
mental resilience and wellbeing of families as a whole. Nurture and Thrive aims to address 
issues at both child and parental levels.  

 

Facilitators and barriers 
The manager of one of the Children’s Centres developed the bid for funding which had 
enabled the programme to be delivered across all of the Children’s Centres in Sefton. The 
funding had also facilitated transport for vulnerable parents to attend sessions if needed. A 
further facilitating factor was the crèche facilities that enabled parents who had young 
children to attend. One of the centre managers noted that a lack of crèche facilities might 
have previously prevented parents from attending similar programmes. Good relationships 
between stakeholders has also been a facilitator for the programme. 

 

A number of barriers were also identified by the Children’s Centre managers. One discussed 
how issues with staffing at their centre had affected provision of the programme. Another 
also discussed how some parents might struggle to engage with the programme if they are 
experiencing issues with their own mental health. 

 

 

“Nurture and Thrive came about because in Children’s Centres we were very 
conscious that, whilst we dealt a lot with the problems the parents had, we 

didn’t have anything in place that built resilience, that did any direct work with 
the children or direct work with the parents to actually inform them about child 

mental health and how they impacted on the children.” (Centre Manager) 

“The close relationship between the health workers and us, and with other 
agencies which have supported Nurture and Thrive and make it possible 
before it was the Nurture and Thrive pathway. Working so closely with 
those agencies has meant that we have had the right people, the right 

staff and the right families. This has allowed us to put it on and make sure 
it is working.” (Centre Manager)    

“Staffing has been an issue for me because we are such a small centre. All 
the staff here are only part time…when you have a small number of staff 

you lose skills if someone is off ill.” (Centre Manager) 

“I think if you are struggling with your own metal health, things like that 
might be a barrier.” (Centre Manager)   

Page 200

Agenda Item 12



59 
 

Perceived impact 
According to the Children’s Centre managers, the impact of Nurture and Thrive could be seen 
at both an individual and a family level. The multi-faceted approach was perceived to have 
helped improve family relationships and bonding, as well as child behaviour. In the long-term, 
parents had shown a better understanding of children’s mental health, and supportive 
strategies.  

 

 
Resources  
The formation of Nurture and Thrive came about through Children’s Centres desire to develop 
a more direct package of interventions to help parents and children to build resilience from 
an early age. Additional staff costs were minimal, but some of the courses offered within 
Nurture and Thrive did have additional delivery costs (e.g. Mellow Parenting). In order for the 
programme to be sustainable, funding for staff to attend additional training is required (e.g. 
on attachment and linked behaviours), as well as a more comprehensive referral scheme in 
order to make sure the needs of the family are addressed. 

  

“We have had parents on social care plans and be stepped down from 
them and one of the reasons is that they have engaged [in Nurture and 

Thrive].” (Centre Manager) 

“The older children certainly have told us that they know how to calm themselves 
down now… The teaching staff have commented on the difference of these 
children in class, and parents, the difference at home.” (Centre Manager) 

 

“…Some of the programmes will stop. Some of it can continue with very 
little money but the particularly expensive bit is the [Mellow Parenting] 

programme because it’s a 14 week programme.” (Centre Manager) 

Page 201

Agenda Item 12



60 
 

Summary: Specific programme case studies 

• Interviews were undertaken with staff and trainers involved in the implementation and 
delivery of seven EHWB intervention programmes in Sefton schools, which encompassed 
a range of approaches. 

• Four programmes (Rainbow Leaders, Academic Resilience Approach, Emotional Literacy 
and Growth Mindset) were focused on changing school culture, capacity and/or approach 
to EHWB. The Academic Resilience Approach and Emotional Literacy are large-scale 
programmes with implementation supported through external training provision. Both 
approaches has provided schools with a supporting framework for delivery of EHWB 
activities and had increased staff confidence in addressing EHWB. These approaches had 
also provided opportunities for schools to network and share good practice. 

• Three programmes (Big Love Little Sista, Youth Connect 5 and Nurture and Thrive) 
involved working with external providers based on referral of targeted students. All three 
programmes were well received by schools, children and their parents, but issues were 
raised about the sustainability of delivery. 

 

 

Page 202

Agenda Item 12



61 
 

6 Student wellbeing and resilience survey 

6.1 Sample characteristics 

Overall, students from 29 schools took part in the surveys, including 20 primary schools, six 
secondary schools and three SEN schools. This equates to 29.0% of schools in Sefton. In total 
2,309 students across school years 3-11 participated (1,347 primary students, 869 secondary 
students and 93 SEN students). Student sociodemographic data are presented in Table 1. 

Table 1: Student sociodemographic data 

  % (n) 
  All  

students 

Primary 
school 

students 

Secondary 
school 

students 

SEN 
students 

Sex Male 50.3 (1,182) 50.8 (684) 50.1 (435) 67.7 (63) 
 Female 45.8 (1,077) 46.5 (626) 48.6 (422) 31.2 (29) 
 Missing 2.1 (50) 2.7 (37) 1.4 (12) 1.1 (1) 
Age (years) 8 14.7 (340) 25.1 (338)  2.2 (2) 

9 32.1 (741) 54.8 (740)  1.1 (1) 
10 7.5 (173) 12.8 (173)  - 
11 8.8 (205) 4.7 (63) 15.8 (138) 5.4 (5) 

 12 12.7 (294)  32.8 (285) 10.6 (9.9) 
 13 8.1 (186)  19.8 (172) 15.1 (14) 
 14 11.1 (256)  27.5 (239) 18.3 (17) 
 15 2.3 (54)  2.5 (23) 33.3 (31) 
 16 0.5 (12)  - 12.9 (12) 
 Missing 2.1 (48) 2.4 (33) 1.5 (13) 2.2 (2) 
School year 
group 

3 3.6 (84) 6.2 (84)  - 
4 40.7 (957) 70.7 (953)  4.3 (4) 
5 7.9 (183) 13.6 (183)  - 

 6 4.3 (100) 7.7 (100)  - 
 7 17.6 (407)  45.2 (393) 14.0 (13) 
 8 4.9 (112)  12.3 (107) 5.4 (5) 
 9 15.1 (348)  37.3 (324) 25.8 (24) 
 10 2.8 (64)  3.8 (33) 33.3 (31) 
 11 0.7 (16)  - 17.2 (16) 
 Missing 1.7 (39) 2.0 (27) 1.4 (12) - 
School  
area 

Southport 23.5 (543) 22.9 (309) 26.9 (234) - 
Aintree/Litherland 8.2 (189) 8.5 (114) 8.6 (75) - 

Crosby/Waterloo 22.6 (522) 17.0 (229) 24.2 (210) 89.2 (83) 
Maghull 27.4 (633) 21.0 (283) 40.3 (350) - 

Bootle 8.5 (197) 13.9 (187) - 10.8 (10) 
Formby 9.7 (225) 16.7 (225) - - 

 

6.2 Resilience 

A modified 38-item version of the Student Resilience Survey (SRS) was used to measure 
students’ perceptions of their individual characteristics as well as protective factors in their 
environment from their family, school and community. The SRS is comprised of 11 subscales 

Page 203

Agenda Item 12



62 
 

which measure different sources of resilience including: family connection; school 
connection; community connection; participation in home life; participation in school life; 
participation in community life; peer support; self-esteem; empathy; problem solving; and, 
goals and aspirations. Response options included: none of the time; rarely; some of the time; 
often; and all of the time. Responses on each item were dichotomised into positive (all of the 
time, often) and negative responses (none of the time, rarely, some of the time) for each item. 
Total scores for each source of resilience were calculated by averaging participant’s scores on 
each question related to that construct (e.g. family connection). Student’s scores on each 
resilience construct were then categorised as high (3.6-5), moderate (2.5-3.5) and low (1-2.3). 

Individual characteristics 
Self-esteem 
The sample mean score for self-esteem was 3.81 (SD=0.85). Two-thirds (68.8%; n=1,421) of 
students had high scores, 26.1% (n=539) had moderate scores, and 5.0% (n=104) had low 
scores. There was a significant association between sex and self-esteem score, with a higher 
proportion of females with low or moderate self-esteem scores, compared to males (Table 2; 
p<0.01). The proportion of students reporting high self-esteem scores was also significantly 
different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary school students having high 
self-esteem scores compared to secondary or SEN school students (Table 2; p<0.001). 
Similarly, high self-esteem scores were significantly more prevalent amongst students in years 
3/4 and years 5/6 compared to years 7/8/9, and years 10/11 (Table 2; p<0.001). 

Empathy 
The sample mean score for empathy was 4.07 (SD=0.94). Seven in ten (70.6%; n=1,457) 
students had high scores, 23.8% (n=491) had moderate scores, and 5.6% (n=116) had low 
scores. There was a significant association between sex and empathy scores, with a higher 
proportion of males with low or moderate empathy scores, compared to females (Table 2; 
p<0.001). The proportion of students reporting high empathy scores was also significantly 
different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary school students having high 
empathy scores compared to secondary or SEN school students (Table 2; p<0.001). Empathy 
score was also significantly associated with year group, with the highest prevalence of low or 
moderate empathy scores amongst years 9/10/11 (Table 2; p<0.001). 

Problem solving 
The sample mean score for problem solving was 3.60 (SD=1.03). Six in ten (59.1%; n=1,220) 
students had high scores, 30.3% (n=626) had moderate scores, and 10.6% (n=218) had low 
scores. There was no significant association between sex and problem solving score (Table 2). 
Problem solving score significantly differed across school type, with a higher prevalence of 
low problem solving scores amongst secondary and SEN school students, compared with 
primary students (Table 3; p<0.001). Problem solving scores were also significantly associated 
with year group, with the highest prevalence of low or moderate problem solving scores 
amongst years 7/8 and years 9/10/11 (Table 2; p<0.001). 

Goals and aspirations 
The sample mean score for goals and aspirations was 4.02 (SD=1.01). Almost seven in ten 
(67.6%; n=1,395) students had high scores, 25.2% (n=520) had moderate scores, and 7.2% 

Page 204

Agenda Item 12



63 
 

had low scores. There was no significant association between sex and goals and aspirations 
score (Table 2). Goals and aspirations scores significantly differed across school type, with a 
higher prevalence of low goals and aspirations scores amongst SEN school students, 
compared with primary or secondary school students. Goals and aspirations scores were also 
significantly associated with year group, with the highest prevalence of low or moderate 
scores amongst students in years 7/8 and years 9/10/11 (Table 2; p<0.001). 

Protective factors 
Family connection and participation 
The sample mean score for family connection was 4.38 (SD=0.63). The majority (88.7%; 
n=1,922) of students had high scores, 10.0% (n=217) had moderate scores, and 1.2% (n=27) 
had low scores. There was no significant association between family connection score and sex 
(Table 3). The proportion of students reporting high family connection scores was significantly 
different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary school students having high 
family connection scores compared to secondary or SEN school students (Table 3; p<0.001). 
Family connection score was also significantly associated with year group, with the highest 
prevalence of low or moderate family connection scores amongst students in years 9/10/11 
(Table 3; p<0.001). 

The sample mean score for family participation was 3.53 (SD=0.93). Four in ten (42.7%; n=881) 
students had high scores, 47.5% (n=981) had moderate scores, and 9.8% (n=202) had low 
scores. The proportion of students reporting high family participation scores was significantly 
different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary school students having high 
family participation scores compared to secondary or SEN school students (Table 3; p<0.001). 
Family participation score was also significantly associated with year group, with the highest 
prevalence of low or moderate family participation scores amongst students in years 9/10/11 
(Table 3; p<0.001). 

Community connection and participation 
The sample mean score for community connection was 4.38 (SD=0.63). The majority (87.6%; 
n=1,878) of students had high scores, 9.6% (n=206) had moderate scores, and 2.8% (n=59) 
had low scores. There was no significant association between community connection score 
and sex (Table 3). The proportion of students reporting high community connection scores 
was significantly different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary school 
students having high community connection scores compared to secondary or SEN school 
students (Table 4; p<0.001). Community connection score was also significantly associated 
with year group, with the highest prevalence of low or moderate community connection 
scores amongst students in years 9/10/11 (Table 3; p<0.001). 

The sample mean score for community participation was 3.55 (SD=1.42). Approximately half 
(53.0%; n=1,135) of all students had high scores, 24.6% (n=526) had moderate scores, and 
22.4% (n=479) had low scores. There was no significant association between community 
participation score and sex (Table 3). The proportion of students reporting high community 
participation scores was significantly different across school type, with a higher proportion of 
primary school students having high community participation scores compared to secondary 
or SEN school students (Table 3; p<0.001). Community participation score was also 

Page 205

Agenda Item 12



64 
 

significantly associated with year group, with the highest prevalence of low or moderate 
community participation scores amongst students in years 7/8 and 9/10/11 (Table 3; 
p<0.001). 

School connection and participation 
The sample mean score for school connection was 4.03 (SD=0.89). The majority (71.7%; 
n=1,544) of students had high scores, 22.4% (n=483) had moderate scores, and 5.9% (n=127) 
had low scores. There was a significant association between sex and school connection score, 
with a higher proportion of males with low or moderate scores, compared to females (Table 
4; p<0.05). The proportion of students reporting high school connection scores was 
significantly different across school type, with a higher proportion of primary and SEN school 
students reporting a high school connection scores compared to secondary school students 
(Table 4; p<0.001). School connection score was also significantly associated with year group, 
with the highest prevalence of low or moderate school connection amongst students in years 
9/10/11 (Table 4; p<0.001). 

The sample mean score for school participation was 2.75 (SD=1.02). Approximately half 
(48.6%; n=1,003) of students had moderate scores, 34.0% (n=702) had low scores, and 17.4% 
(n=358) had high scores. There was no significant association between school participation 
score and sex (Table 4). School participation score was significantly different across school 
type, with a higher proportion of secondary school students having low school participation 
scores compared to primary or SEN school students (Table 4; p<0.001). School participation 
score was also significantly associated with year group, with an increase in prevalence of low 
school participation score among students in the older year groups (Table 4; p<0.001). 

Peer support at school 
The sample mean score for peer support at school was 3.92 (SD=0.86). Seven in ten (71.9%; 
n=1,530) students had high scores, 22.9% (n=487) had moderate scores, and 5.2% (n=110) 
had low scores. There was a significant association between sex and peer support score, 
with a higher proportion of males with low or moderate scores, compared to females (Table 
4; p<0.001). Peer support score was significantly different across school type, with a higher 
proportion of SEN school students reporting low peer support scores compared to primary 
or secondary school students (Table 4; p<0.001). Peer support score was also significantly 
associated with year group, with the highest prevalence of low peer support scores amongst 
students in years 7/8 and years 9/10/11 (Table 4; p<0.001). 

Page 206

Agenda Item 12



65 
 

Table 2: Individual sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student survey 

  Self-esteem score Empathy score Problem solving score Goals & aspirations score 
  Low Moderate High Low Moderate High Low Moderate High Low Moderate High 
Sex Male 3.9 24.3 71.8 7.1 28.5 64.4 11.2 29.9 59.0 6.5 24.4 69.2 

Female 6.1 28.1 65.8 3.9 18.8 77.3 9.8 30.8 59.3 7.9 26.1 66.0 
χ2   10.563   42.119   1.004   2.939 
p   <0.01   <0.001   NS   NS 

Year 3 & 4 3.1 25.7 71.2 4.8 22.2 73.0 7.9 27.7 64.4 5.4 23.7 70.9 
5 & 6 3.0 20.0 77.0 3.4 18.9 77.7 8.7 26.8 64.5 4.2 23.0 72.8 
7 & 8 8.1 25.9 65.9 5.9 23.1 71.0 12.1 31.6 56.3 10.3 25.5 64.2 

9, 10 & 11 7.6 31.7 60.7 8.9 31.9 59.2 16.8 38.0 45.3 10.2 30.1 59.7 
χ2   38.698   35.117   52.098   30.638 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

School 
type 

Primary 3.1 24.4 72.5 4.4 21.6 74.0 8.0 27.5 64.5 5.2 23.5 71.3 
Secondary 7.2 28.6 64.2 6.7 26.8 66.5 14.2 35.6 50.2 9.7 27.5 62.8 

SEN 13.0 29.3 57.6 13.0 28.3 58.7 15.2 25.0 59.8 14.1 28.3 57.6 
χ2   37.715   25.496   45.794   29.644 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 207

A
genda Item

 12



66 
 

Table 3: Family and community sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student survey 

  Family connection score Family participation score Community connection score Community participation score 
  Low Moderate High Low Moderate High Low Moderate High Low Moderate High 
Sex Male 1.5 10.2 88.3 11.6 48.2 40.2 3.1 10.5 86.3 21.4 24.9 53.7 

Female 1.0 9.7 89.3 7.7 46.9 51.3 2.3 8.5 89.1 23.4 24.3 52.3 
χ2   1.449   11.412   3.959   1.265 
p   NS   <0.01   NS   NS 

Year 3 & 4 0.6 9.6 89.9 8.9 45.3 45.7 1.5 9.6 88.9 17.4 26.5 56.0 
5 & 6 0.4 7.2 92.5 9.1 40.8 50.2 1.1 4.4 94.5 11.8 20.3 67.9 
7 & 8 1.9 8.2 89.9 9.7 49.9 40.4 3.5 8.7 87.8 30.1 24.1 45.8 

9, 10 & 11 2.8 15.4 81.9 12.6 55.0 32.5 6.0 14.4 79.6 32.5 23.2 44.3 
χ2   32.103   27.892   46.869   82.797 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

School 
type 

Primary 0.5 9.1 90.4 9.0 44.2 46.8 1.4 8.5 90.1 16.1 25.2 58.7 
Secondary 1.9 10.5 87.7 10.5 51.5 37.9 4.3 10.7 85.0 30.1 23.2 46.7 

SEN 5.4 19.6 75.0 14.1 58.7 27.2 7.6 15.2 77.2 41.3 28.3 30.4 
χ2   32.746   24.692   30.778   81.629 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 208

A
genda Item

 12



67 
 

Table 4: School and peer sources of resilience by sex, year, and school type, student survey 

  School connection score School participation score Peer support score 
  Low Moderate High Low Moderate High Low Moderate High 
Sex Male 6.3 24.2 69.4 36.0 47.0 17.0 7.1 25.5 67.5 

Female 5.3 20.5 74.2 31.8 50.4 17.8 3.0 20.2 76.8 
χ2   6.027   4.078   29.744 
p   <0.05   NS   <0.001 

Year 3 & 4 1.5 17.8 80.7 28.6 50.0 21.4 3.4 24.0 72.7 
5 & 6 2.5 13.0 84.5 33.6 47.5 18.9 2.2 16.8 81.0 
7 & 8 9.9 25.8 64.3 39.6 47.8 12.6 8.0 20.6 71.3 

9, 10 & 11 14.4 36.5 49.1 41.4 46.9 11.8 8.1 27.2 64.7 
χ2   206.826   41.734   39.820 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

School 
type 

Primary 1.7 16.7 81.5 29.8 49.5 20.8 3.1 22.4 74.5 
Secondary 12.5 31.5 56.0 41.8 46.3 11.9 7.4 22.2 70.4 

SEN 6.5 22.8 70.7 27.5 56.0 16.5 13.0 35.9 51.1 
χ2   187.267   44.146   42.733 
p   <0.001   <0.001   <0.001 

P
age 209

A
genda Item

 12



68 
 

6.3 Mental wellbeing 

We measured student mental wellbeing using the Stirling Children’s Wellbeing Scale (SCWBS) 
for primary school children and the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMWBS) 
for secondary school students. WEMWBS is a 14-item scale with five response categories 
(none of the time, rarely, some of the time, often, all of the time), summed to provide an 
overall score ranging from 14-70. Items are positively worded and cover both feeling and 
functioning aspects of mental wellbeing. Total scores were categorised into low (≤40), 
average (41-58), and relatively good mental wellbeing (≥59). The SCWBS is a positively 
worded measure of emotional and psychological wellbeing in children aged 8-15 years and is 
based on the same constructs as WEMWBS, making it an age appropriate comparable 
measure. SCWBS is a 12-item scale with five response categories (never, not much of the time, 
some of the time, quite a lot of the time, all of the time), summed to provide an overall score 
ranging from 12-60. Total scores were categorised into low (≤37), moderate (38-49), and high 
(≥50). 

The mean score for secondary school students on WEMWBS was 47.97 (SD=12.31). The mean 
score for primary school students on SCWBS was 45.85 (SD=9.02). Overall, almost half (48.2%; 
n=954) of students had moderate mental wellbeing scores, 31.4% (n=621) had high mental 
wellbeing scores, and 20.4% (n=403) had low mental wellbeing scores. There was a significant 
association between sex and mental wellbeing score, with a higher proportion of females 
reporting low scores, compared to males (Table 5; p<0.05). There was a significant association 
between year group and mental wellbeing score, with the highest prevalence of low mental 
wellbeing scores amongst students in years 7/8 and years 9/10/11 (Table 5; p<0.001). Mental 
wellbeing score also significantly differed across school type, with a higher proportion of SEN 
and secondary school students having low mental wellbeing scores compared to primary 
students (Table 5; p<0.001). 

Table 5: Mental wellbeing by sex, year, school type and area, student survey 

 Mental wellbeing score 
Low Moderate High 

Sex Male 17.7 50.1 32.2 
Female 23.1 46.3 30.6 

χ2   8.801 
p   <0.05 

Year 3 & 4 17.1 45.0 37.8 
5 & 6 16.5 43.3 40.2 
7 & 8 22.9 53.4 23.7 

9, 10 & 11 28.8 54.3 16.9 
χ2   80.131 
p   <0.001 

School type Primary 17.0 44.7 38.4 
Secondary 25.2 53.8 21.0 

SEN 29.4 54.1 16.5 
χ2   74.651 
p   <0.001 

Page 210

Agenda Item 12



69 
 

6.4 Associations between resilience and mental wellbeing 

For all sources of resilience, there was a significant association between a student’s resilience 
score and their mental wellbeing score. This indicated a graded relationship, with the highest 
prevalence of low mental wellbeing scores amongst students with low resilience scores, and 
the lowest prevalence amongst those with high resilience scores (p<0.001; Figures 14-16). 

The majority of students with low self-esteem scores had a low mental wellbeing score 
(82.1%; n=78; Figure 14). Approximately half (53.2%; n=58) of the students with a low 
empathy score also had a low mental wellbeing score, whilst approximately two thirds of 
students with a low problem solving score (63.2%; n=132) and goals and aspirations score 
(69.3%; n=97) had a low mental wellbeing score (Figure 14).  

 
Figure 14: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by individual resilience 
scores, student survey 

Approximately seven in ten students who had low family (70.8%; n=17) and community 
(74.5%; n=38) connection scores had a low mental wellbeing score, compared to 
approximately 16% of those with high family (16.9%; n=297) and community (16.2%; n=282) 
connection scores (Figure 15). Approximately half (54.6%; n=106) of the students with low 
family participation scores had a low mental wellbeing score compared to 8.4% (n=71) of 
those with high family participation scores (Figure 20). Approximately one third (36.6%; 
n=159) of the students with low community participation scores had a low mental wellbeing 
score compared to just 12.7% (n=133) of those with high community participation scores 
(Figure 15).  

 

82.1

53.2
63.2

69.3

40.8

30.5 30.3
34.7

8.3 14.5
7.6 9.9

0.0
10.0
20.0
30.0
40.0
50.0
60.0
70.0
80.0
90.0

Self esteem Empathy Problem solving Goals and aspirations

%

Low Moderate High

Page 211

Agenda Item 12



70 
 

 
Figure 15: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by family and community 
resilience scores, student survey 

Low mental wellbeing scores were also more prevalent amongst students with low school 
connection scores (61.7%; n=66) and peer support scores (69.1%; n=67) compared to those 
with high scores (school, 14.1%; n=201; peer, 11.2%; n=159) (Figure 16). Similarly, low mental 
wellbeing scores were higher amongst students with low school participation scores (36.8%; 
n=246) compared to those with high scores (5.3%; n=18; Figure 16). 

 
Figure 16: Proportion of students with low mental wellbeing scores by school and peer 
resilience scores, student survey 

  

70.8

54.6

74.5

36.6

45.2

24.1

43.7

22.616.9

8.4 16.2 12.7
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Family connection Family participation Community connection Community participation

%

Low Moderate High

61.7

36.8

69.1

30.4
14.2

38.6

14.1
5.3 11.2

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

School connection School participation Peer support

%

Low Moderate High

Page 212

Agenda Item 12



71 
 

Summary: Student wellbeing and resilience survey 

• The student survey sample comprised 2,039 students aged 8-16 years attending primary 
(n=1,347), secondary (n=869), and SEN (n=93) schools in Sefton across a total of 29 
schools. 

Resilience 
• A modified 38-item version of the SRS was used to measure students’ perceptions of their 

individual characteristics as well as protective factors in their environment from their 
family, school and community. 

• Students’ perceptions of their individual characteristics showed that female students 
were significantly more likely than male students to report low to moderate self-esteem 
scores, but female students were significantly more likely to report high empathy scores. 
There was no difference in scores for problem solving and goals and aspirations between 
female and male students. 

• School year and type had a significant association with scores for each of the four 
individual constructs (self-esteem, empathy, problem solving, and goals and aspirations). 
High scores on each construct were more prevalent amongst students in years 5 and 6 
compared to other years, and among students in primary school compared to secondary 
and SEN schools.  

• There were no clear differences in scores between male and female students on the 
protective factors (family connection, family participation, community connection, 
community participation, school connection, school participation). However, female 
students were significantly more likely than male students to report high peer support 
scores. 

• School year and type were significantly associated with scores on each of the protective 
factors. With the exception of school participation, high scores on each construct were 
more prevalent among students in years 5 and 6 compared to other years, and among 
students in primary school compared to secondary and SEN schools. 

Mental wellbeing 
• Student mental wellbeing was measured using SCWBS for primary school children and the 

WEMWBS for secondary school students. 

• Female students were more likely than male students to report low or moderate mental 
wellbeing scores. 

• School year and type were significantly associated with student mental wellbeing scores. 
Low mental wellbeing scores were most prevalent amongst students in years 7 and 8, and 
years 9, 10 and 11, compared to other years, and among students in secondary and SEN 
schools compared to students in primary schools. 

• Resilience and mental wellbeing scores were significantly associated. The prevalence of 
low mental wellbeing scores was highest amongst those with low resilience scores on the 
individual characteristics and protective factors.  

Page 213

Agenda Item 12



72 
 

7 Staff wellbeing and resilience survey 

7.1 Sample characteristics 

A total of 312 staff participated in the survey across 24 schools, including 16 primary schools, 
5 secondary schools and three SEN schools. The staff who took part in the survey 
encompassed a number of different roles supporting the learning and welfare of students, 
but the majority (77.9%, n=243) were in teaching and learning support roles. This included 
staff in the following teaching and learning support roles9: teachers (n=116), 
department/year heads (n=32), heads and assistant heads (n=30), SEN coordinators (n=13) 
and teaching assistants (n=71). Staff sociodemographic data are presented in Table 6. 

Table 6: Staff sociodemographic data 

  % (n) 
Sex Male 17.6 (55) 
 Female 80.1 (250) 
 Missing/Prefer not to say 2.2 (7) 
Age group (years) 20-29 10.9 (34) 
 30-39 18.3 (57) 
 40-49 29.2 (91) 
 50-59 32.7 (102) 
 60+ 4.8 (15) 
 Missing/Prefer not to say 4.2 (13) 
School type Primary 49.0 (153) 
 Secondary 42.0 (131) 
 SEN 8.7 (27) 
 Missing 0.3 (1) 
Role Teaching and learning support 77.9 (243) 
 Pupil support and welfare 7.7 (24) 
 Administrative and management 7.1 (22) 
 Facilities (Caretakers, caterers, cleaners) 1.3 (4) 
 Specialist and technical 1.9 (6) 
 Missing/Prefer not to say 4.2 (13) 
School area Southport 30.1 (94) 
 Aintree/Litherland 8.0 (25) 
 Crosby/Waterloo 22.8 (71) 
 Maghull 17.9 (56) 
 Bootle 10.6 (33) 
 Formby 10.3 (32) 
 Missing 0.3 (1) 
Local authority of 
residence 

Sefton 84.9 (265) 
Liverpool 7.1 (22) 

Other/Missing 8.0 (25) 
  Mean (SD) 
Time in current school (years) 10.2 (7.4) 
Time in education sector (years) 15.0 (8.7) 

                                                       
 
9 Survey participants could select more than one role. 

Page 214

Agenda Item 12



73 
 

 

7.2 Resilience 

We used the 12-item Resilience Research Centre Adult Resilience Measure (RRC-ARM) to 
measure staff resilience resources. Response options included: not at all, a little, somewhat, 
quite a bit, a lot. Responses on each item were dichotomised into positive (quite a bit, a lot) 
and negative responses (not at all, a little, somewhat) for each item. The majority of staff 
responded positively to most questions (Figure 17). Approximately four in ten staff gave 
negative responses to: I know where to get help in my community; I feel I belong in my 
community; and, Getting and improving qualifications or skills is important to me (Figure 17).  

 
Figure 17: Proportions of staff responding positively and negatively to adult RRC-ARM 
questions, staff survey 

Similar to practice elsewhere [27], to provide an overall measure of resilience, a count was 
created of the number of items a participant responded positively to. The average number of 
positive items was 9.9. Participants were then grouped into three categories: low resilience 
resources (<7 positive items); moderate resilience resources (7-9 positive items); and high 
resilience resources (10-12 positive items). Almost two thirds (64.5%; n=182) of staff who 
took part in the survey were classed as having high resilience resources, whilst almost three 
in ten (27.7%; n=78) had moderate resilience resources and 7.8% (n=22) had low resilience 

11.2

10.4

19.9

10

6.6

38.4

41.5

0.7

8.3

13.1

40.5

9.0

88.8

89.6

80.1

90.0

93.4

61.6

58.5

99.3

91.7

86.9

59.5

91.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

I enjoy my family's/partner's cultural and family
traditions

I have opportunities to apply my abilities in life

I am treated fairly in my community

My friends stand by me during difficult times

My family stand by me during difficult times

I feel I belong in my community

I know where to get help in my community

I can solve problems without harming myself or
others

I try to finish what I start

My family know a lot about me

Getting and improving qualifcations or skills is
important to me

I have people I can respect in my life

Negative Positive

Page 215

Agenda Item 12



74 
 

resources. There was no significant association between age or sex and level of resilience 
resources.  

7.3 Mental wellbeing 

We measured staff mental wellbeing using WEMWBS. Approximately half of staff responded 
positively to most items (Figure 18). However, 74.6% and 80.8% of staff responded negatively 
to items about feeling relaxed and having energy to spare (Figure 18).  

 
Figure 18: Proportions of staff responding positively and negatively to WEMWBS questions, 
staff survey 

The mean mental wellbeing score for staff was 48.51 (SD=9.26). This is lower than the mean 
wellbeing score for the English population based on norms for England developed from the 
Health Survey for England 2011 (mean score = 51.61). Total scores were then categorised into 
low (≤40), moderate (41-58), and high (≥59). Approximately seven in ten (69.1%; n=197) staff 
had moderate mental wellbeing scores, one in ten (10.9%; n=31) had high scores, and 20.0% 
(n=57) had low scores. There was no significant association between age or sex and mental 
wellbeing score. There was a significant difference between school type and prevalence of 
low mental wellbeing scores amongst staff, with the lowest prevalence of low mental 

42.8

50.3

37.5

29.9

55.8

45.5

57.9

37.5

42.3

80.8

27.5

74.6

33.3

50.7

57.2

49.7

62.5

70.1

44.2

54.5

42.1

62.5

57.7

19.2

72.5

25.4

66.7

49.3

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

I've been feeling cheerful

I've been interested in new things

I've been feeling loved

I've been able to make up my own mind about
things

I've been feeling confident

I've been feeling close to other people

I've been feeling good about myself

I've been thinking clearly

I've been dealing with problems well

I've had energy to spare

I've been feeling interested in other people

I've been feeling relaxed

I've been feeling useful

I've been feeling optimistic about the future

Low High

Page 216

Agenda Item 12



75 
 

wellbeing scores amongst primary school staff (14.2%; n=20) compared to secondary (26.3%; 
n=31) and SEN school staff (24.0%; n=6; p<0.05). There was no significant association between 
mental wellbeing score and number of years working in current school or education sector. 

7.4 Associations between resilience and mental wellbeing 

To examine the association between resilience and mental wellbeing, wellbeing scores were 
dichotomised into the presence (scores ≤40) or absence (scores 41-70) of low mental 
wellbeing. There were significant relationships between all individual resilience questions and 
low mental wellbeing except I can solve problems and the enjoyment of partner/family’s 
cultural and family traditions. All significant associations between individual resilience 
questions and low mental wellbeing, showed a decreased prevalence of low mental wellbeing 
for each item (Table 7).  

Table 7: Prevalence of low mental wellbeing by responses to adult RRC-ARM questions, staff 
survey 

 Response % low mental 
wellbeing χ2 p 

I have people I can respect in my life Negative 60.0   
Positive 15.6 25.741 <0.001 

Getting and improving qualifications or skills is 
important to me 

Negative 28.9   
Positive 13.7 8.998 <0.01 

My family know a lot about me Negative 40.5   
Positive 16.7 10.000 <0.01 

I try to finish what I start Negative 22.2   
Positive 19.0 0.860 NS 

I can solve problems without harming myself 
or others 

Negative 50.0   
Positive 19.6 0.033 NS 

I know where to get help in my community Negative 32.5   
Positive 10.4 19.605 <0.001 

I feel I belong in my community Negative 38.0   
Positive 8.6 34.231 <0.001 

My family stand by me during difficult times Negative 44.4   
Positive 18.3 5.695 <0.05 

My friends stand by me during difficult times Negative 39.3   
Positive 17.7 6.079 <0.05 

I am treated fairly in my community Negative 46.3   
Positive 13.7 26.914 <0.001 

I have opportunities to apply my abilities in life Negative 55.2   
Positive 15.8 22.917 <0.001 

I enjoy my family’s/partner’s cultural and 
family traditions 

Negative 28.1   
Positive 18.6 1.071 NS 

Note: negative = somewhat, a little, not at all; positive = quite a bit, a lot. 

There was a significant difference in the proportion of individuals who had a low mental 
wellbeing score across levels of resilience (using the overall measure of resilience). Two thirds 
(66.7%; n=14) of staff who had low levels of resilience had a low mental wellbeing score, 
compared to one third of staff with moderate levels of resilience (34.2%), and less than one 
in ten (7.9%) staff who had high levels of resilience (p<0.001; Figure 19). 

Page 217

Agenda Item 12



76 
 

 
Figure 19: Proportion of staff with low, moderate and high mental wellbeing scores by 
resilience level, staff survey 

7.5 Staff satisfaction with school provision of wellbeing activities 

Individuals participating in the staff survey were asked to rate their satisfaction (1 = very 
unsatisfied; 10 = very satisfied) with the provision of resilience building or EHWB activities for 
staff and students in their school. The average satisfaction score for provision of staff activities 
was 6.1 (SD=2.5) and for provision of student activities was 7.3 (SD=1.8) (Figure 20). Overall 
the majority of staff were satisfied (scores of >5) with both staff (78.8%; n=238) and student 
(62.6%; n=189) resilience building or EHWB activities in their school. There was a significant 
association between mental wellbeing and satisfaction with the provision of activities for 
staff, with 70.5% (n=160) of staff with average or relatively good mental wellbeing reporting 
being satisfied with activity provision, compared to 29.8% (n=17) of staff with low mental 
wellbeing. 

66.7

34.2

7.9

33.3

63.2
71.1

0.0 2.6
16.3

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

Low resilience Moderate resilience High resilience

%

Low wellbeing Moderate wellbeing High wellbeing

Page 218

Agenda Item 12



77 
 

 
Figure 20: Staff satisfaction with school provision of resilience building or EHWB activities for 
staff and students, staff survey 

The majority (79.8%; n=241) of staff reported that they would be interested in wellbeing or 
support services for staff being offered at their school, whilst 15.6% (n=47) were unsure and 
4.6% (n=14) were not interested. The mean satisfaction score with the provision of staff 
wellbeing activities was significantly lower amongst staff who reported they would be 
interested in activities being offered in the future (5.8) than amongst staff who were not 
interested (7.6) or were unsure (7.1; p<0.001). 

  

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Staff Students

M
ean satisfaction level

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

Very satisfied 

Very unsatisfied 

Page 219

Agenda Item 12



78 
 

Summary: Staff wellbeing and resilience survey 

• The staff survey sample comprised 312 members of staff working in primary (n=153), 
secondary (n=131), and SEN (n=27) schools in Sefton across a total of 24 schools. Staff in 
a range of roles responded to the survey, although the majority (77.9%, n=244) were in 
teaching and learning support roles 

Resilience 
• The 12-item RRC-ARM was used to measure staff resilience resources. Almost two-thirds 

(65%) of staff had a high level of resilience resources. There was no significant association 
between age or sex and level of resilience resources. 

Mental wellbeing 
• WEMWBS was used to measure staff wellbeing. Four out of five (80%) staff had moderate 

or high mental wellbeing scores. There was no association between age or sex and mental 
wellbeing score. 

• School type had a significant association with mental wellbeing score. Low mental 
wellbeing scores was more prevalent amongst secondary school (26%) and SEN school 
(24%) staff compared to primary school staff (14%). 

• There were significant relationships between most of the individual resilience questions 
and mental wellbeing score. Two-thirds (67%) of staff who had low levels of resilience had 
a low mental wellbeing score. 

Staff satisfaction with school provision of wellbeing activities 
• Most staff were satisfied with both staff (79%) and student (63%) EHWB and resilience 

building activities in their school. There was a significant association between mental 
wellbeing and satisfaction with the provision of wellbeing activities for staff. Staff with 
average or relatively good mental wellbeing were more likely to report being satisfied with 
wellbeing activity provision in their school. 

 

 

Page 220

Agenda Item 12



79 
 

8 Key learning and recommendations 

The importance of the relationship between young people’s EHWB and academic success has 
become increasingly prominent within national agendas seeking to improve educational and 
health outcomes. Research has shown the importance of young people developing skills to 
increase their mental resilience at a young age and the impact that poor EHWB can have on 
outcomes in childhood as well as later in life. 

National guidance states that there should be treatment provision for young people who have 
poor EHWB, as well as services that can offer appropriate support. In addition to this, national 
guidance highlights the importance of all young people having access to preventative 
programmes that help them to gain skills that would improve their EHWB as well as develop 
their mental resilience. 

Prevention of young people developing poor EHWB is a key factor in national policy. An 
emphasis is also placed on approaches that support communities and families, to ensure that 
parents and carers are also able to develop the necessary skills to help improve their own and 
child’s EHWB. This evaluation has demonstrated that schools in Sefton are aware of and 
actively addressing the need to support young people’s EHWB from an early age.  

8.1 Addressing EHWB with a focus on multiple aspects of wellbeing through 
whole-school approaches 

Through the different sources of data analysed, it was evident that promotion of good EHWB 
was a key part of the programmes implemented across Sefton. The approaches implemented 
varied both in ethos and in terms of what the expected impacts were. Many programmes 
were designed to give students skills to build resilience and other aspects related to EHWB. 
For example, ways to cope with stress, as well as recognising when they were having problems 
with their EHWB, and who they could go to in order to get support. 

The whole-school approaches (ARA, Emotional Literacy and growth mindset) provided an 
overarching framework for schools to support the implementation of programmes and 
activities for EHWB. The importance of considering and addressing the wider context of young 
people’s EHWB (through community and parent/family approaches) was accordingly 
evidenced. Further, many of the mission statements for schools emphasised the importance 
of maintaining a good relationship between schools and parents and carers. 

It was clear, however, that provision was not consistent across schools, with some schools 
having more established provision in place, whilst others were in the early stages of 
establishing programmes. Active and practical support from senior figures within schools is 
often cited as a key driver in the successful implementation of health promotion approaches 
[73, 81]. The specific programme case studies demonstrated how staff time was often the key 
resource needed to establish programmes, and that this time commitment was, in some 
circumstances, difficult to sustain. There may be opportunities to address this through the 
provision of greater senior management support (for example, adequate training and 
administrative support). 

Page 221

Agenda Item 12



80 
 

The two large-scale, whole-school approaches examined (Academic Resilience Approach and 
Emotional Literacy) appeared to be credible and workable for staff based on the case study 
interviews and training feedback. More generally, the topics and approaches of the 
programmes examined in this evaluation did not appear to be contentious and appeared to 
work in conjunction with the current practice and interests of the participating schools. 
Approaches that are flexible and adaptable to school and classroom contexts are more likely 
to be successfully implemented [73, 81]. There was the suggestion of a clear readiness for 
schools to engage in addressing EHWB among their students and that the whole-school 
organising frameworks were facilitating this. 

Recommendations: 
• Ensure that senior management in schools across Sefton are aware of and supported to 

fulfil their role of as a key driver in the implementation and delivery of whole-school 
approaches. 

• Develop processes to promote the sharing of school’s experience of programme 
development and implementation. This could include continuation of events open to all 
schools and the development of resources to share learning and details of available 
support. 

8.2 Resilience and mental wellbeing decline as students progress through school 

The collection of baseline data suggests that student wellbeing and resilience peak in school 
years 5 and 6 (Upper Juniors). Early adolescence is a period of transition and other studies 
have shown similar declines in resilience factors [82]. Universal preventative approaches need 
to be delivered over the long term, including over several years and there is evidence that 
Sefton schools are starting early to develop student’s social and emotional skills. Examples of 
delivery and implementation of EHWB approaches were, however, more readily available 
from primary schools across Sefton and we lack a good understanding of provision and 
approaches within Sefton secondary schools, or in the period of transition between primary 
and secondary school. A 2010 survey of mental health promotion in primary and secondary 
schools in England found that secondary schools were mainly focusing on helping children 
who were starting to develop, or who already had experienced, problems as opposed to 
taking a more preventive approach [83]. 

Recommendations:  
• Consider the provision of specific, targeted support to secondary schools to promote the 

implementation and delivery of preventative approaches. To support integration within 
the mainstream secondary school curriculum, additional research may be required to gain 
a better understanding of particular barriers to implementation and delivery in secondary 
schools. 

8.3 Addressing both individual and structural factors to make a difference 

It is important to recognise that wider structural factors, including political and economic 
factors, are an important external influence on children and young people’s EHWB. Hart et al. 
[74] outline the need to unite resilience research and practice with an inequalities approach. 
An ecological understanding of resilience (i.e. extending beyond the individual to aspects of 

Page 222

Agenda Item 12



81 
 

the person’s ecology; the family, school, and the cultural and community contexts in which 
they live) may assist in achieving this aim. This thinking underpins the resilience framework 
of the whole-school Academic Resilience Approach developed by Hart and collaborators. 

The whole-school approaches examined in this evaluation appear to provide a valuable 
organising framework for schools to address both individual and structural factors, although 
the Academic Resilience Approach is more explicitly based on socio-ecological theories. 
Currently, there isn’t a sufficiently developed evidence base to recommend delivery of one 
whole-school approach over another.  

Recommendations: 
• Schools should be supported to adopt a whole-school approach that best aligns with their 

school ethos and that takes account of the wider social and economic context of the 
school (e.g. schools with challenging community contexts may benefit more readily from 
the Academic Resilience Approach).  

• Schools should be provided with support to identify evidence based classroom-based 
programmes and teaching practices that they can deliver within a whole-schools 
framework to support EHWB. 

8.4 Formal evaluation of the programmes is rare, potentially causing difficulties 
with sustaining implementation 

Through the case studies undertaken in the first stage of the evaluation (Big Love Little Sista, 
YC5 and Nurture and Thrive) [1] we identified that an important issue was the difficulty in 
evidencing impact. This was also perceived to be the case with the large-scale programmes 
being implemented (Academic Resilience Approach and Emotional Literacy). These 
programmes were described as being ‘bespoke’ and were serving as overarching frameworks 
for the implementation of a range of (formal and informal) activities and programmes, both 
within and outside the school curriculum. Many of the outcomes discussed were based on 
teacher observations and feedback from parents, rather than formal outcome evaluation. As 
discussed in the introduction to this report, much of the responsibility for the provision of 
programmes to support EHWB has been placed with local CCGs. It may be important, 
therefore, that in order to secure future funding, schools are able to measure impact based 
on traditional health research criteria. Support for more formalised monitoring and 
evaluation is required to demonstrate measurable impact of EHWB programmes. Alongside 
this, future research also requires a shift in approach for two purposes: (i) the impact of 
whole-school approaches is difficult to measure based solely on traditional research criteria 
(e.g. Randomised Controlled Trials); and (ii) to ensure that research incorporates both a public 
health and education perspective.   

Recommendations: 
• Future research and impact evaluation should incorporate meaningful engagement (and 

potentially co-produced research) with school staff and students. New forms of 
knowledge production and exchange should be explored and the routine sharing of 
expertise facilitated and encouraged.  

Page 223

Agenda Item 12



82 
 

• The potential for differential impacts by sex or subgroups (e.g. based on SEN and 
measures of socio-economic status such as FSM) is of importance. Schools should be 
supported to monitor EHWB outcomes alongside implementation in relation to their 
specific student populations and school contexts. 

• The resilience and wellbeing surveys should be repeated annually. Repeated 
measurement could be done longitudinally (i.e. with the same students as they progress 
through different years of education), or as repeated snapshots of the same cohort (e.g. 
repeated for each year 7 group). Surveys should be repeated at the same time of year 
each time to ensure results are comparable. 

8.5 Teacher’s own EHWB is important 

Research has highlighted the links between teachers’ own emotional health needs and their 
ability to consider the EHWB needs of their students [84, 85]. Strengthening staff abilities to 
support their own EHWB was a feature of the implementation of the whole-school 
approaches (ARA, Emotional Literacy and growth mindset) and examples of staff activities 
supporting EHWB were captured through the logic model. However, we lack an in-depth 
understanding of the activities and approaches that support teacher’s own EHWB more 
broadly. The majority of staff who participated in the survey were interested in wellbeing and 
support services being available.  

Recommendations: 
• Teachers and schools should be supported to share good practice on supporting and 

strengthening their staff’s own EHWB. 

• Consider whether staff EHWB would benefit from further focused investigation. 

  

Page 224

Agenda Item 12



83 
 

9 Conclusions 

This two-stage evaluation has demonstrated how many schools in Sefton are following 
national guidance through their provision of support for children and young people’s EHWB. 
It was clear that schools have internal policies, and are implementing a range of formal and 
informal activities and programmes that broadly relate to EHWB. However, it was also 
apparent that provision is not consistent across schools. There were perceived to be 
difficulties in evidencing the impact of EHWB programmes and this may affect future 
opportunities for funding and, consequently, sustainability. There was also an implied gap in 
provision between primary and secondary schools.  

Whole-school approaches are widely acknowledged as the most effective way for schools to 
promote the EHWB of children and young people. The approaches examined were well 
received by the schools that participated in this evaluation, and appeared to be credible and 
workable for staff. Importantly, these approaches had supported schools to focus on the 
ability of their staff to support and strengthen their own EHWB. While support for more 
formalised monitoring and evaluation is required to demonstrate measurable impact of 
EHWB programmes it should be borne in mind that the impact of whole-school approaches 
may be difficult to measure based solely on traditional research criteria. 

In conclusion, the programme of early support in Sefton funded through Public Health has 
provided a solid foundation for schools to develop frameworks to support the 
implementation and delivery of programmes and activities for EHWB. 

 

 

  

Page 225

Agenda Item 12



84 
 

10 References  
1. Public Health Institute, Supporting Young People’s Emotional Health and Well-being in Sefton: 

Interim Report. 2018, Public Health Institute, Liverpool John Moores University: Liverpool. 
2. Public Health England, Child and Maternal Health Observatory. 2014, Public Health England: 

London. 
3. NICE, Social and emotional wellbeing in primary education. 2008, National Institute for Health 

and Care Excellence: London. 
4. NICE, Social and emotional wellbeing in secondary education. 2009, National Institute for 

Health and Care Excellence: London. 
5. Sefton Council, Sefton's Children and Young People's Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. 2016, Sefton Council: Bootle. 
6. Public Health England, Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing, in 

Fingertips. 2015, Public Health England. 
7. Sefton Council, Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment. 2014, Sefton Council: Bootle. 
8. Pople, L., et al., The Good Childhood Report 2018. 2018, The Children's Society: London. 
9. Faulkner, J., Class of 2011 yearbook: how happy are young people and does it matter. A report 

from Relate. 2011, Relate: Doncaster. 
10. NSPCC, Child cruelty in the UK 2011: an NSPCC study into childhood abuse and neglect over 

the past 30 years. 2011, NSPCC: London. 
11. Social Exclusion Task Force, Think family: improving the life chances of families at risk. 2008, 

Cabinet Office: London. 
12. Pitchforth, J., et al., Mental health and well-being trends among children and young people in 

the UK, 1995 – 2014: analysis of repeated cross-sectional national health surveys. 
Psychological Medicine, 2018: p. 1-11. 

13. Sadler, K., et al., Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2017. 2018, NHS 
Digital. 

14. Institute of Education, Mental ill-health and wellbeing at age 14. Initial findings from the 
Millennium Cohort Study age 14 survey 2018, Institute of Education: London. 

15. House of Commons, Children and young people's mental health. The role of education. 2017, 
House of Commons: London. 

16. Patalay, P. and E. Fitzsimons, Correlates of mental illness and wellbeing in children: are they 
the same? Results from the UK Millennium Cohort Study. Journal of the American Academy of 
Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 2016. 55(9): p. 771-783. 

17. Patalay, P. and E. Fitzsimons, Mental ill-health and wellbeing at age 14 – Initial findings from 
the Millennium Cohort Study Age 14 Survey. . 2018, Centre for Longitudinal Studies: London. 

18. Anda, R.F., V.J. Felitti, and J.D. Bremner, The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse 
experiences in childhood: A convergegence of evidence from neuorbiology and epidemiology. 
Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci, 2006: p. 174-186. 

19. Bellis, M.A., et al., Measuring mortality and the burden of adult disease associated with 
adverse childhood experiences in England: a national survey. Journal of Public Health, 2015. 
37: p. 445-454. 

20. Felitti, V.J., et al., Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the 
leading causes of death in adults. American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 1998: p. 245-
258. 

21. Bellis, M.A., et al., National household survey of adverse childhood experiences and their 
relationship with resilience to health-harming behaviors in England. BMC Medicine, 2014. 
12(72): p. 1-10. 

22. Bellis, M.A., et al., Adverse childhood experiences: retrospective study to determine their 
impacts on adult health behaviours and health outcomes in a UK population. Journal of Public 
Health, 2013. 36(1): p. 81-91. 

Page 226

Agenda Item 12



85 
 

23. Chartier, M.J., J.R. Walker, and B. Naimark, Seperate and cumulative effects of adverse 
childhood experiences in predicting adult health and health care utilization. Child Abuse and 
Neglect, 2010. 34(6): p. 454-64. 

24. Bellis, M.A., et al., The impact of adverse childhood experiences on health service use across 
the life course using a retrospective cohort study. Journal of Health Services Research and 
Policy, 2017. 22(3): p. 168-177. 

25. Hughes, K., et al., Relationships between adverse childhood experiences and adult mental well-
being: results from an English national household survey. BMC Public Health, 2016. 16(222): 
p. 1-11. 

26. Hughes, K.A., et al., The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a 
systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet, 2017. 2: p. e356-66. 

27. Hughes, K., et al., Sources of resilience and their moderating relationships with harms from 
adverse childhood experiences. 2018, Public Health Wales: Wrexham. 

28. Bellis, M.A., et al., Adverse childhood experiences and sources of childhood resilience: a 
retrospective study of their combined relationships with child health and educational 
attendance. . BMC Public Health, 2018. 18(1). 

29. Rutter, M., Resilience in the face of adversity. Protective factors and resistance to psychiatric 
disorder. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 1985. 147: p. 598-611. 

30. Marmot, M., et al., Fair Society, Healthy Lives (The Marmot Review). 2010, UCL Institute of 
Health Equity: London. 

31. Department of Health and Public Health England, Health Visiting and School Nurse 
Programme: supporting implementation of the new service offer. Promoting emotional 
wellbeing and positive mental health of children and young people. 2015, Department of 
Health: London. 

32. Department of Health and NHS England, Future in mind: promoting, protecting and improving 
our children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing. 2015, Department of Health: 
London. 

33. NHS England, The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: A report from the independent 
Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in England. 2016, NHS England: London. 

34. Department for Education, Counselling in schools: a blueprint for the future. Departmental 
advice for school leaders and counsellors. 2016, Department for Education: London. 

35. Department of Health, Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision – a 
green paper. 2017, Department of Health: London. 

36. Care Quality Commission, Review of children and young people's mental health services: Phase 
one report. 2017, Care Quality Commission: London. 

37. Young Minds, CQC review finds urgent action required for CAMHS, in Young Minds Online. 
2018, Young Minds: London. 

38. Department of Health & Social Care and Department for Education, Government Response to 
the Consultation on Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health Provision: a 
Green Paper and Next Steps. 2018, Department of Health & Social Care and Department for 
Education: London. 

39. Education, D.f., Mental health and behaviour in schools. 2018, Department for Education: 
London. 

40. Public Health England, Promoting children and young people’s emotional health and 
wellbeing: A whole school and college approach. 2015, Public Health England: London. 

41. Public Health England, Best start in life and beyond: improving public health outcomes for 
children, young people and families. 2018, Public Health England: London. 

42. Public Health England, Overview of the 6 early years and school aged years high impact areas. 
Health visitors and school nurses leading the Healthy Child Programme. 2016, Public Health 
England: London. 

Page 227

Agenda Item 12



86 
 

43. House of Commons, Children's and adolescents' mental health and CAMHS. Third report 2015, 
House of Commons: London. 

44. Durlak, J.A., et al., The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-
analysis of school based universal interventions. Child Development, 2011. 82: p. 405-432. 

45. Cohall, A.T., et al., Overheard in the halls: what adolescents are saying, and what teachers are 
hearing, about health issues. Journal of School Health, 2007. 77(7): p. 344-350. 

46. Kideger, J., et al., Part and parcel of teaching? Secondary school staff’s views on supporting 
student emotional health and well-being. British Educational Research Journal, 2009. 36(6): p. 
919-935. 

47. Moor, S., et al., Improving the recognition of depression in adolescence: can we teach the 
teachers? Journal of Adolescence, 2007. 30(1): p. 81-95. 

48. Walter, H.J., K. Gouze, and L. K.G., Teachers’ beliefs about mental health needs in inner. Journal 
of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 2006. 45(1): p. 61-68. 

49. Greenberg, M.T., School-based prevention: current status and future challenges. Effective 
Education, 2010. 2: p. 27-52. 

50. Fazel, M., et al., Mental health interventions in schools in high-income countries. The Lancet 
Psychiatry, 2014. 1(5): p. 377-387. 

51. World Health Organization, Health-Promoting Schools. 1998, World Health Organization: 
Geneva. 

52. Langford, R., et al., The WHO Health Promoting School framework for improving the health 
and well-being of students and their academic achievement. Cochrane Database of Systematic 
Reviews, 2014(4). 

53. Stewart, D. and D. Wang, Building resilience through school-based health promotion: a 
systematic review. 2012. 14(4): p. 207-218. 

54. Langford, R., et al., The Health Promoting Schools Framework: Known Unknowns and an 
Agenda for Future Research. Health Education & Behavior, 2017. 44(3): p. 463-475. 

55. Bonell, C.P., et al., Theories of how the school environment impacts on student health: 
Systematic review and synthesis. Health & Place, 2013. 24: p. 242-249. 

56. Goldberg, J.M., et al., Effectiveness of interventions adopting a whole school approach to 
enhancing social and emotional development: a meta-analysis. European Journal of 
Psychology of Education, 2018. 

57. Humphrey, N., A. Lendrum, and M. Wigelsworth, Making the most out of school-based 
prevention: lessons from the social and emotional aspects of learning (SEAL) programme. 
Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties, 2013. 18(3): p. 248-260. 

58. Slee, P.T., K. Dix, and H. Askell-Williams, Whole-school mental health promotion in Australia. 
International Journal of Emotional Education, 2011. 3: p. 37-49. 

59. CASEL, Safe and sound: an educational leader’s guide to evidence-based social and emotional 
learning programs. 2005, Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL): 
Chicago. 

60. White, M. and A.S. Murray, Well-being as freedom: future directions in well-being., in 
Evidence-based approaches in positive education: implementing a strategic framework for 
well-being in schools, M. White and S. Murray, Editors. 2015, Springer: Dordrecht. p. 167-175. 

61. Noble, T. and H. McGrath, Well-being and resilience in education, in Oxford Handbook of 
Happiness, S. David, I. Boniwell, and A.C. Ayers, Editors. 2012, Oxford University Press: Oxford. 

62. Dray, J., et al., Systematic Review of Universal Resilience-Focused Interventions Targeting Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health in the School Setting. Journal of the American Academy of Child 
& Adolescent Psychiatry, 2017. 56(10): p. 813-824. 

63. Mackenzie, K. and C. Williams, Universal, school-based interventions to promote mental and 
emotional wellbeing: what is being done in the UK and does it work? A systematic review. BMJ 
Open, 2018. 8: p. e022560. 

Page 228

Agenda Item 12



87 
 

64. Bond, l., et al., The Gatehouse Project: Can a multilevel school intervention affect emotional 
wellbeing and health risk behaviours? Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 2004. 
58(12): p. 997-1003. 

65. Sawyer, M.G., et al., School-Based Prevention of Depression: A 2-Year Follow-up of a 
Randomized Controlled Trial of the beyondblue Schools Research Initiative. Journal of 
Adolescent Health, 2010. 47(3): p. 297-304. 

66. Lordan, G. and A. McGuire, Healthy Minds: Health Outcomes. Evaluation report and executive 
summary. 2019, Education Endowment Fund: London. 

67. Cheney, G., et al., Targeted group-based interventions in schools to promote emotional well-
being: a systematic review. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry, 2014. 19(3): p. 412-38. 

68. Wolpert, M., et al., THRIVE Framework for system change. 2019, CAMHS Press: London. 
69. Day, L., et al., Mental health services and schools link pilot: evaluation. 2017, Department for 

Education: London. 
70. King's Fund Transforming children and young people’s mental health provision – our response. 

2018. 
71. Keshavarz, N., et al., Schools as social complex adaptive systems: a new way to understand the 

challenges of introducing the health promoting schools concept. Social Science & Medicine, 
2010. 70(10): p. 1467-1474. 

72. Samdal, O. and L. Rowling, Theoretical and empirical base for implementation components of 
health-promoting schools. Health Education, 2011. 111(5): p. 367-390. 

73. Pearson, M., et al., Implementing health promotion programmes in schools: a realist 
systematic review of research and experience in the United Kingdom. Implementation Science, 
2015. 10(1): p. 149. 

74. Hart, A., et al., Uniting resilience research and practice with an inequalities approach. SAGE 
Open, 2016. 6(4): p. 2158244016682477. 

75. Goleman, D., Emotional Intelligence. 1996, London: Bloomsbury. 
76. Weare, K. and G. Gray, What works in developing children’s emotional and social competence 

and wellbeing? 2003, Department for Education and Skills: London. 
77. Dweck, C.S., Mindset: the new psychology of sucess. 2006, New York: Random House. 
78. Haimovitz, K. and C.S. Dweck, The Origins of Children's Growth and Fixed Mindsets: New 

Research and a New Proposal. Child Development, 2017. 88(6): p. 1849-1859. 
79. Warren, F., et al., The relationship between implicit theories of intelligence, attainment and 

socio-demographic factors in a UK sample of primary school children. British Educational 
Research Journal. 0(0). 

80. Foliano, F., et al., Changing Mindsets: Effectiveness trial. 2019, Education Endowment 
Foundation: London. 

81. Tancred, T., et al., Interventions integrating health and academic interventions to prevent 
substance use and violence: a systematic review and synthesis of process evaluations. Syst Rev, 
2018. 7(1): p. 227. 

82. Sun, J. and D. Stewart, Age and gender effects on resilience in children and adolescents. 
International Journal of Mental Health Promotion, 2007. 9(4): p. 16-25. 

83. Vostanis, P., et al., How do schools promote emotional well-being among their pupils? Findings 
from a national scoping survey of mental health provision in English schools. Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health, 2013. 18(3): p. 151-157. 

84. Roorda, D., Koomen, H. and Split, J., The Influence of Affective Teacher-Student Relationships 
on Students' School Engagement and Achievement. Review of Educational Research, 2011. 
23(4): p. 457-477. 

85. Split, J.L., Teacher wellbeing: the importance of affective teacher-student relationships. 
Educational Psychology Review 2011. 23(4): p. 457-477. 

86. Braun, V., Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 2006. 
3(2): p. 77-101. 

Page 229

Agenda Item 12



88 
 

87. Hsieh, H.F. and S.E. Shannon, Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qualitative 
Health Research 2005. 15(9): p. 1277-1288. 

Page 230

Agenda Item 12



89 
 

Appendix 1. Methods and analysis  

Content Analysis of Mission Statements 

Mission statements were downloaded from the websites of all primary, secondary and SEN 
schools in Sefton10 (n=99). These were uploaded to QSR Nvivo 11 and thematically coded 
using a summative content analysis approach to identify common themes, such as priorities, 
curriculum that relates to EHWB as well as the school ethos and its relation to EHWB [86, 87]. 
Illustrative quotations from mission statements have been used to evidence common themes.    

School Survey 

A semi-structured survey was sent to all primary, secondary and SEN schools in Sefton1 (n=99). 
Schools were initially contacted by email and were invited to complete and return the survey; 
the research team followed up with phone calls and emails and Sefton Council emailed all 
schools to endorse the study and encourage participation. The survey asked questions about 
the school’s current provision of programmes that relate to the EHWB of their students, as 
well as the key issues that they feel affect young people’s EHWB. As the survey was semi-
structured the participants were able to expand on their answers and were also able to 
provide links to policy documents and resources if appropriate.  

Due to the timing of the study there was a low response rate (n=9 completed the survey and 
n=2 declined). Therefore, examples have been presented as case studies. Each survey was 
summarised and key points were considered alongside the analysis of the mission statements. 
The survey will be re-sent to all schools that did not respond in the upcoming academic year.   

Qualitative Interviews 

Qualitative interviews were carried out with 10 members of staff who were involved in the 
design and/or implementation of any one of the seven EHWB programmes: Academic 
Resilience Approach, Emotional Literacy, growth mindsets, Rainbow Leaders, Big Love Little 
Sista, Youth Connect 5 and Nurture and Thrive. Two individuals who provided the training for 
the Academic Resilience Approach were also interviewed. 

Sefton Council provided the research team with a list of key contacts who had been involved 
in these projects and introduced the research team via email. The research team then 
contacted potential participants to invite them to take part in a semi-structured telephone 
interview. All interviews were transcribed. The interview transcripts were used alongside 
supplementary documents (such as previous evaluation reports and programme websites) to 
produce illustrative case studies.    

Development of the Logic Model  

On 31st October 2018, 60 individuals from primary and secondary schools and the council in 
Sefton attended the Sefton Children and Young People’s Wellbeing Conference at Crosby 

                                                       
 
10 Excluding private schools.  

Page 231

Agenda Item 12



90 
 

Lakeside. As part of this conference, a 60 minute time slot was allocated to the researchers 
at PHI, LJMU to deliver a stakeholder engagement activity to help to identify: 

• the key activities undertaken by primary, secondary and special schools in the area 
around emotional and mental health;  

• how these activities are measured (outputs); and  
• what changes are experienced (by the children, their families and teachers etc.) as a 

result of engaging with these activities. 

A breakdown of the specific activities that individuals engaged with and approximate timings 
are shown below: 

Approximate 
Timings 

Activity 

5 minutes Introducing the session 

25 minutes Defining the outcomes 

List the key outcomes of the activities/support you or your organisation 
provide. 

Please use one post-it for each outcome. For each outcome please 
detail: 

- Your school and programme 
- What the change is 
- Is this change actual (has it happened) or proposed (do you 

expect it to happen)? 
- Who is experiencing this change? 
- Are these changes experienced in the short-, medium- or long-

term? 
20 minutes Understanding the activities  

List the activities that you or your organisation deliver. 

Please use one post-it for each activity. For each activity please detail: 

- Your school and programme 
- The frequency and duration e.g., once a week for one hour 
- - Who the activity is carried out with e.g., age/year group of 

children; gender (if applicable)? 

15 minutes Exploring the outputs 

Explore what data are currently collected to enable us to find out 
whether the activities lead to the outcomes 

Please use one post-it for each output. For each output please detail: 

- Your school and programme 
- What the countable product is 
- How this is measured 
- Which activity is this related to 

Page 232

Agenda Item 12



91 
 

Two additional meetings, on the 25th January and 1st February, were also attended by 
researchers. These meetings had been set up for the Mental Health leads from primary, 
secondary and special schools in Sefton and were held at the Sefton Professional 
Development Centre. Each lead gave a short presentation about their school and their 
emotional and mental health and wellbeing provision. Researchers used these two meetings 
as an opportunity to gather further information around activities, outputs and outcomes. 

The information from the conference and the Mental Health lead meetings were used to 
develop an overall logic model to provide an overall picture of the provision in Sefton as well 
as to develop a number of individual, school-level logic models. The logic model can be used 
for a number of reasons, including: as an illustrative example of the reach of activities and 
programmes; to focus and improve the implementation of activities and programmes; and to 
identify where there are gaps in provision, and what resources may be required to address 
these gaps.  

Survey with school students and staff 

All Sefton school head teachers were contacted with a letter of invitation for their school to 
participate in the school student and staff survey. Each school was provided with a letter, a 
detailed information sheet and both an opt-in and opt-out consent forms which they can use 
at their own discretion to inform parents about the study and allow them to withdraw their 
child if they wish using the method of consent they feel is most appropriate for their children’s 
age group. Head teachers of participating schools were asked to provide written consent in 
loco parentis for children whose parents do not contact them to opt out of the study or if the 
head teacher chooses not to send out the opt-out forms. 

Participating children completed a developmentally appropriate questionnaire. This method 
is considered appropriate for this age group in line with the general consensus from the 
literature that children and young people with average cognitive development will feasibly be 
able to take part in questionnaires with carefully adapted questions by age seven [5, 6]. The 
questionnaire was available in English and completed online hosted via Survey Monkey. 
Children completed the questionnaire on their own on a whole class basis, supervised by a 
school teacher. 

The questionnaire collected basic demographic information (sex, age) and school name and 
year group. It includes validated tools to measure mental wellbeing and resilience, the Stirling 
Children’s Wellbeing Scale for primary school children, the Warwick Edinburgh Mental 
Wellbeing Scale for secondary school children and the Student Resilience Survey for primary 
and secondary school children.  

The Stirling Children’s Wellbeing Scale: is a positively worded measure of emotional and 
psychological wellbeing in children aged between 8-15 years. It contains 2 subscales; positive 
emotional state, positive outlook, and a social desirability indicator.  

The Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale: measures positive mental wellbeing with 
the general population and has been validated with children aged 13 and above but has been 
used with children aged 11 and above.  

Page 233

Agenda Item 12



92 
 

The Student Resilience Survey: measures different protective factors in children’s lives. It is 
the combination of 2 scales: the California Healthy Kids Survey and the Perception of Peer 
Support Scale. It is appropriate for children aged 7+ years. Following feedback from schools 
two items were removed from the peer support scale to lessen the impact on children who 
do not have many friends and who may have to tick ‘never’ to the majority of these items. 

All staff working in Sefton primary and secondary schools were invited to complete the staff 
survey. A link to the survey (hosted on Survey Monkey) was provided to heads of schools to 
distribute to staff. The questionnaire collected basic demographic information (age, sex, local 
authority of residence), school name, years working in current school and educational sector 
and role in school. Section 2 of the survey asked participants to rate their level of satisfaction 
with the provision of resilience building or mental health activities in their school for staff and 
students, and asked whether they would be interested in wellbeing services for staff being 
offered in their school. The third section of the survey includes validated tools to measure 
adult mental wellbeing and resilience; the Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale and 
the Resilience Research Centre Adult Resilience Measure.  

The Resilience Research Centre Adult Resilience Measure: includes 12 items used to 
measure current adult resilience. It has previously been used in a Public Health Wales 
population survey about adverse childhood experiences.  

Ethical considerations 

Gatekeeper consent was sought from the head teachers of all schools that participated in the 
survey and interviews. Staff who took part in an interview or who completed a survey were 
also asked to provide consent and were free to withdraw from the study at any time. Names 
of schools and individuals who have taken part in the research have not been included in this 
report. Whilst examples of outcomes relating to specific students were discussed in the 
surveys and interviews, students were not named.  

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Liverpool John Moores University Research 
Ethics Committee (18/PHI/028).  

Study Limitations  

There are a number of limitations associated with this study: 

• Mission statements were downloaded from school websites. It is possible that some 
of the schools did not keep their websites up to date and, consequently, some 
outdated mission statements may have been included in the analysis.  

• The survey was sent to every school in Sefton, however due to the timing of the study 
there was a low response rate. This has limited the analysis that we have been able to 
carry out on the surveys. Therefore, case studies have been presented in this report 
as opposed to an overview of the current provision of support available to support 
young people’s EHWB across Sefton, which was originally intended. Schools that did 
not respond to the initial invite to complete the survey will be contacted again in the 
new academic year in an attempt to increase the response rate.  

Page 234

Agenda Item 12



93 
 

• All schools and organisations that were involved in the implementation of the four 
case study programmes in Sefton were invited to participate in an interview. Youth 
Connect 5 and Nurture and Thrive were implemented in a number of schools and 
children’s centres. However, not all of these are represented in the interviews that 
were conducted. Therefore the case studies of the four programmes provided in this 
report may not be fully representative. 

 

Page 235

Agenda Item 12



94 
 

Appendix 2. School-level case studies 

Nine schools returned a completed survey. The following were selected and presented as case 
studies in the interim report to demonstrate how some schools have approached the issue of 
the EHWB of their students. 

The case studies include an overview of the school and their current approach to EHWB, a list 
of the EHWB resources that they included on the survey, and an overview of what they 
consider to be the main factors that need to be considered in regards to young people’s 
EHWB.  

School Case Study 1 (School 1) 

• This primary (junior) school has over 400 students aged 7-11 years. 
• Currently, the school has one member of staff trained in Mental Health First Aid, a 

specific EHWB nurse, and three members of staff who lead on EHWB.  
• Staff recently attended the Academic Resilience Approach training, which aims to 

provide staff with the knowledge of key theories of resilience and the relationship 
between risk, protective factors and resilience in children. It also aims to help staff 
identify vulnerable children and know how to support those at risk. Staff at the school 
are encouraged to recognise the benefits of academic resilience. 

• The school has also been able to use Young Minds and Action for Happiness resources, 
and has paid for Relax Kids resources for children needing intervention. 

EHWB resources 
The school offers a range of pastoral sources and techniques for students, parents/guardians 
and staff including:  

• Rainbow room 
• Mental health first aid trained SENCO 
• Peer mediators to help younger children manage conflict 
• Play leaders to assist younger children to play together  
• 1 to 1 mentoring meetings 3 times a year 
• Mindfulness and Yoga 
• Reading dog - helps to reduce anxieties of children who have difficulties reading 

Main factors to be considered about young people’s EHWB according to School 1 
• Whole school responsibility 
• Understanding that children will learn and make progress when they have good 

mental health and wellbeing 
• Schools should ensure that everyone is committed to promoting good mental health 
• Schools should do as much as possible to reduce risk factors in all environments 
• Key members of staff who support EHWB for children and staff are part of the school 

improvement plan 

  

Page 236

Agenda Item 12



95 
 

School Case Study 2 (School 27) 

• This primary school has over 180 students aged 4-11 years. 
• Currently, a small number of staff have attended the 2-day Creating Mentally Healthy 

Schools training. There has also been a draft Health and Wellbeing policy created, with 
hopes of implementation going forward.  

• In relation to engagement with parents and the wider community about EHWB, the 
school has plans to do so in the future, but has nothing currently in place. 

• As part of their commitment to EHWB, the school has had involvement with two 
interventions: 
 Tackling the Blues – a partnership with Everton FC aimed at year groups who 

are struggling to get on to encourage a team mentality and greater empathy 
in disputes. 

 Fillies – a football-based intervention with girls, aimed at improving their 
mental health and encouraging ‘openness’.  

EHWB resources 
The school offers a range of pastoral sources techniques for students, parents/guardians and 
staff including:  

• Circle time 
• Tackling the Blues 
• Fillies 
• Transition meetings 
• Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) 

resources 
• Learning mentors 

Main factors to be considered about young people’s EHWB according to school 27 
• Behavioural issues may be due to underlying mental health issues that are 

undiagnosed 
• For SEN children, a greater awareness of how to recognise their EHWB issues 

 

 
 

  

“We hope to use a Whole School Approach 
once we have received training” (Teacher) 

“Children who attended ‘Tackling 
the Blues’ are happier to discuss 

their feelings and have the language 
to do so with confidence.  They 

understand how their actions can 
affect others” (Teacher) 

 

Page 237

Agenda Item 12



96 
 

School Case Study 3 (School 91) 

• This secondary school has approximately 1,200 students aged 11-18 years. 
• EHWB is encompassed within other school policies; however, no specific policy is in 

place at present. 
• Currently, the school consults with students about types of support around EHWB in 

the form of a PSHE focus group, student survey, a year 8 survey, and a bully box. In 
order to engage with parents and the wider community, the school also ensure 
parents receive regular contact with a pastoral team, and provide parents support 
evenings, home visits, as well as a school nurse and other resources.  

• As part of the schools commitment to the EHWB of their pupils, they use PSHE 
resources, bully busters and Citizenship days. They also utilise the Catch 22 alternative 
education services.  

• In addition to this, the school has also provided HeartMath training to pupils, which 
aims to help participants regulate their emotions, increase self-awareness and 
improve mental health. 

EHWB resources 
The school offers a range of pastoral sources techniques for students, parents/guardians and 
staff including:  

• Early help assessment 
• Lunch club 
• School nurse 
• Educational psychologist 
• Parenting 2000 centres 
• CAMHS and SWACA referrals 
• Family Centres 
• Mentoring 
• HeartMath 
• Duke of Edinburgh 
• Bully Busters 

Main factors to be considered about young people’s EHWB according to school 91 
• Safe place 
• Social media 
• Anxiety 
• For those who are at risk/vulnerable to abuse, child sexual exploitation and self-harm, 

a sense of self-worth is important 

  

“From September there is a 
new tutor programme to 
include mental resilience” 

(Teacher) 
 

Page 238

Agenda Item 12



97 
 

School Case Study 4 (School 43) 

• This primary school has over 400 students aged 4-11 years. 
• EHWB is currently part of the school behaviour policy; however, they are currently 

reviewing their mental health and EHWB action plan.  
• At present, there is no formal method for consultation with students about the type 

of support they would value, however the school is looking to implement a pupil 
wellbeing committee next year. 

• As part of their commitment to EHWB, the school has been involved in the CAPITA 
mental health and wellbeing project with the pastoral lead and support staff all being 
involved.  

• The school has also run the Think Yourself Great programme, which aims to help 
children with anxiety, self-esteem and anger issues to take responsibility for their own 
actions, have respect for others, to make the right choices and to understand the 
importance of positive actions. 

EHWB resources 
The school offers a range of pastoral sources techniques for students, parents/guardians and 
staff including:  

• Needs led mentoring 
• Achieve 360 art therapy 
• Pastoral support for parents 
• Think Yourself Great 
• Signpost to VENUS, SWACCA and other referral 

agencies 
• Andy Cope ‘Art of Brilliance’ 
• PSHE foundation mental health resources 

Main factors to be considered about young people’s EHWB according to school 43 
• Ways to keep mentally well 
• Building resilience 
• Build a sense of community and belonging 
• For those who are at risk/vulnerable to abuse, a listening ethos is key 

 

“[Think Yourself Great] 
did help give pupils 

strategies when feeling 
angry/ allowed them 
to discuss how they 

were feeling” (Teacher) 

Page 239

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

1 
 

Appendix 1: Primary and SEN school survey 

About you 

1. What year are you in? 

a. 3 

b. 4 

c. 5 

d. 6 

2. How old are you? 

a. 8 years old 

b. 9 years old 

c. 10 years old 

d. 11 years old 

3. Which of the following best describes how you think of yourself? 

a. Male 

b. Female 

c. Other 

d. Prefer not to say 

4. Do you get ‘free school meals’ at school? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Don’t know 

5. Do you have a long standing illness or disability, or difficulty with learning? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Don’t know 

6. Which of the following best describes your ethnic group? 

White  

a. English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish or British 

b. Irish 

c. Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

d. Any other white background 

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups 

a. White and Black Caribbean 

b. White and Black African 

c. White and Asian 

d. Any other Mixed or Multiple ethnic background 

Asian or Asian British 

a. Indian 

b. Pakistani 

c. Bangladeshi 

d. Chinese 

Page 241

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

2 
 

e. Any other Asian background 

Black, African, Caribbean or Black British 

a. African 

b. Caribbean 

c. Any other Black, African or Caribbean background 

7. Who is looking after you? 

a. One parent 

b. Two parents 

c. Carers 

d. Grandparents 

e. Other family member 

f. Other 

8. Do you move between homes (e.g. between mum’s and dad’s house)? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

 

9. How many adults that you live with have a paid job? 

 

Your wellbeing 

10. Please read every statement carefully and click on the answer that best describes your 

thoughts and feelings over the last two weeks. There are no right or wrong answers. 

Response options for each statement: Not at all, a little, some of the time, quite a bit, a lot 

a. I think good things will happen in my life 
b. I have always told the truth 
c. I’ve been able to make choices easily 
d. I can find lots of fun things to do 
e. I feel that I am good at some things 
f. I think lots of people care about me 
g. I like everyone I have met 
h. I think there are many things I can be proud of 
i. I’ve been feeling calm 
j. I’ve been in a good mood 
k. I enjoy what each new day brings 
l. I’ve been getting on well with people 
m. I always share my sweets 
n. I’ve been cheerful about things 
o. I’ve been feeling relaxed 

 

 

Page 242

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

3 
 

Your thoughts and your relationships 

11. Please read every statement carefully and click on the answer that fits you best. 

Response options for each statement: Not at all, a little, some of the time, quite a bit, a lot 

a. At home, there is an adult who is interested in my school work 

b. At home, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

c. At home, there is an adult who wants me to do my best 

d. At home, there is an adult who listens to me when I have something to say 

e. At school, there is an adult who really cares about me 

f. At school, there is an adult who tells me when I do a good job 

g. At school, there is an adult who listens to me when I have something to say 

h. At school, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

i. Away from school, there is an adult who really cares about me 

j. Away from school, there is an adult who tells me when I do a good job 

k. Away from school, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

l. Away from school, there is an adult I trust 

m. Away from school, I am a member of a club, sports team, church group or other 

group 

n. Away from school, I take lessons in music, art, sports, or have a hobby 

o. Are there children at your school who would explain the rules of a game if you didn’t 

understand them 

p. Are there children at your school who would invite you to their home 

q. Are there children at your school who would share things with you 

r. Are there children at your school who would help you if you hurt yourself 

s. Are there children at your school who would miss you if you weren’t in school 

t. Are there children at your school who would make you feel better if something is 

bothering you 

u. Are there children at your school who would pick you for a partner 

v. Are there children at your school who would help you if other children are being 

mean to you 

w. Are there children at your school who would tell you you’re their friend 

x. Are there children at your school who would ask you to join in when you are all 

alone 

y. I do things at home that make a difference (i.e. make things better) 

z. I help my family make decisions 

aa. At school, I decide things like class activities or rules 

bb. I do things at school that make a difference (i.e. make things better) 

cc. I can work out my problems 

dd. I can do most things if I try 

ee. There are many things that I do well 

ff. I feel bad when someone gets their feelings hurt 

gg. I try to understand what other people feel 

hh. When I need help, I find someone to talk to 

ii. I know where to go for help when I have a problem 

jj. I try to work out my problems by talking about them 

kk. I have goals and plans for the future 

Page 243

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

4 
 

ll. I think I will be successful when I grow up 

Your experience during COVID-19 and school closures 

12. How would you rate your knowledge level on COVID-19 

a. Scale: 1 (poor) - 5 (very good) 

13. How likely are you to get the vaccine for COVID-19 when you are offered it? 

a. Scale: 1 (very unlikely) – 5 (very likely) 

14. How did you find the experience of lockdown? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring); 5 = very fun) 

15. How did you found the experience of doing school work at home while the schools were 

closed? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring; 5 = very fun) 

 

16. How did you keep in touch with friends and family outside of your household during 

lockdown (select all that apply)? 

a. Telephone/text or whatsapp/video calls (e.g., facetime, Zoom, 

Houseparty)/Facebook/Instagram/Snapchat/TikTok/email/other/none 

 

17. How regularly (for each selected)? 

a. Daily/every other day/a couple of times a week/once a week/never 

 

18. The next few questions ask you about your feelings while you were at home during 

lockdown when school was closed. For each question you will be asked to circle how often 

you felt a certain way. 

Response options for each statement: Never, Almost never, Sometimes, Fairly often, Very 

often 

a. During lockdown, how often were you upset because of something that happened 

unexpectedly? 

b. During lockdown, how often did you feel you were unable to control the important 

things in your life? 

c. During lockdown, how often did you feel nervous and stressed? 

d. During lockdown, how often did you feel confident about your ability to handle your 

personal problems? 

e. During lockdown, how often did you feel things were going your way? 

f. During lockdown, how often did you find you could not cope with all the things you 

had to do? 

g. During lockdown, how often were you able to control the irritations in your life? 

h. During lockdown, how often did you feel that you were on top of things? 

i. During lockdown, how often were you angry because of things that were outside of 

your control? 

Page 244

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

5 
 

j. During lockdown, how often did you feel difficulties were piling up so high that you 

could not overcome them? 

 

19. The following questions ask about getting help with emotional problems. Remember you 
can skip any that you don’t want to answer. 

If you were having a personal or emotional problem, how likely is it that you would seek help 
from the following people? Please indicate your response by putting a line through the number 
that best describes your intention to seek help from each help source that is listed. 1 = 
Extremely Unlikely 3 = Unlikely 5 = Likely 7 = Extremely Likely 

Friend (not related to you)  

Parent  

Other relative/family member  

Mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, 
social worker, counsellor) 

 

Phone helpline (e.g., Childline)  

Doctor/GP  

Minister or religious leader (e.g., priest, Rabbi, 
Imam) 

 

I would not seek help from anyone  

I would seek help from another not listed above 
(please specify) 

 

 

20. Have you used any of the following resources to get help with a personal or emotional 
problem during the COVID-19 lockdown? 

a. Apps; online sites (e.g., Kooth); phone line (e.g., Childline); talked to friend or family 

member; counsellor or psychologist; other; none 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 245

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

6 
 

 

Appendix 2: Secondary School and College  

About you 

21. What year are you in? 

a. 7 

b. 8 

c. 9 

d. 10 

e. 11 

f. Sixth form/College 

22. How old are you? 

a. 11 years old 

b. 12 years old 

c. 13 years old 

d. 14 years old 

e. 15 years old 

f. 16 years old 

g. 17 years old 

h. 18 years old 

23. Which of the following best describes how you think of yourself? 

a. Male 

b. Female 

c. Trans male 

d. Trans female 

e. Other 

f. Prefer not to say 

 

24. Which of the following best describes how you identify? 

a. Heterosexual 

b. Homosexual 

c. Bisexual 

d. Other 

e. Prefer not to say 

 

25. Do you get ‘free school meals’ at school? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Don’t know 

26. Do you have a long standing illness or disability, or difficulty with learning? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Don’t know 

Page 246

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

7 
 

27. Which of the following best describes your ethnic group? 

White  

a. English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish or British 

b. Irish 

c. Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

d. Any other white background 

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups 

e. White and Black Caribbean 

f. White and Black African 

g. White and Asian 

h. Any other Mixed or Multiple ethnic background 

Asian or Asian British 

f. Indian 

g. Pakistani 

h. Bangladeshi 

i. Chinese 

j. Any other Asian background 

Black, African, Caribbean or Black British 

d. African 

e. Caribbean 

f. Any other Black, African or Caribbean background 

28. Who is looking after you? 

a. One parent 

b. Two parents 

c. Carers 

d. Grandparents 

e. Other family member 

f. Other 

29. Do you move between homes (e.g. between mum’s and dad’s house)? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

 

30. How many adults that you live with have a paid job? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

8 
 

Your wellbeing 

31. Please read every statement carefully and click on the answer that best describes your 

thoughts and feelings over the last two weeks. There are no right or wrong answers. 

Response options for each statement: None of the time, rarely, some of the time, often, all 

of the time 

p. I’ve been feeling optimistic about the future 
q. I’ve been feeling useful 
r. I’ve been feeling relaxed 
s. I’ve been feeling interested in other people 
t. I’ve had energy to spare 
u. I’ve been dealing with problems well 
v. I’ve been thinking clearly 
w. I’ve been feeling good about myself 
x. I’ve been feeling close to other people 
y. I’ve been feeling confident 
z. I’ve been able to make up my own mind about things 
aa. I’ve been feeling loved 
bb. I’ve been interested in new things 
cc. I’ve been feeling cheerful  

Your thoughts and your relationships 

32. Please read every statement carefully and click on the answer that fits you best. 

Response options for each statement: Not at all, a little, some of the time, quite a bit, a lot 

a. At home, there is an adult who is interested in my school work 

b. At home, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

c. At home, there is an adult who wants me to do my best 

d. At home, there is an adult who listens to me when I have something to say 

e. At school, there is an adult who really cares about me 

f. At school, there is an adult who tells me when I do a good job 

g. At school, there is an adult who listens to me when I have something to say 

h. At school, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

i. Away from school, there is an adult who really cares about me 

j. Away from school, there is an adult who tells me when I do a good job 

k. Away from school, there is an adult who believes that I will be a success 

l. Away from school, there is an adult I trust 

m. Away from school, I am a member of a club, sports team, church group or other 

group 

n. Away from school, I take lessons in music, art, sports, or have a hobby 

o. Are there children at your school who would explain the rules of a game if you didn’t 

understand them 

p. Are there children at your school who would invite you to their home 

q. Are there children at your school who would share things with you 

r. Are there children at your school who would help you if you hurt yourself 

s. Are there children at your school who would miss you if you weren’t in school 

Page 248

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

9 
 

t. Are there children at your school who would make you feel better if something is 

bothering you 

u. Are there children at your school who would pick you for a partner 

v. Are there children at your school who would help you if other children are being 

mean to you 

w. Are there children at your school who would tell you you’re their friend 

x. Are there children at your school who would ask you to join in when you are all 

alone 

y. I do things at home that make a difference (i.e. make things better) 

z. I help my family make decisions 

aa. At school, I decide things like class activities or rules 

bb. I do things at school that make a difference (i.e. make things better) 

cc. I can work out my problems 

dd. I can do most things if I try 

ee. There are many things that I do well 

ff. I feel bad when someone gets their feelings hurt 

gg. I try to understand what other people feel 

hh. When I need help, I find someone to talk to 

ii. I know where to go for help when I have a problem 

jj. I try to work out my problems by talking about them 

kk. I have goals and plans for the future 

ll. I think I will be successful when I grow up 

Your experience during COVID-19 and school closures 

33. How would you rate your knowledge level on COVID-19 

a. Scale: 1 (poor) - 5 (very good) 

34. How likely are you to get the vaccine for COVID-19 when you are offered it? 

a. Scale: 1 (very unlikely) – 5 (very likely) 

35. How did you find the experience of lockdown? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring); 5 = very fun) 

36. How did you found the experience of doing school work at home while the schools were 

closed? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring; 5 = very fun) 

 

37. How did you keep in touch with friends and family outside of your household during 

lockdown (select all that apply)? 

a. Telephone/text or whatsapp/video calls (e.g., facetime, Zoom, 

Houseparty)/Facebook/Instagram/Snapchat/TikTok/email/other/none 

 

38. How regularly (for each selected)? 

Page 249

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

10 
 

a. Daily/every other day/a couple of times a week/once a week/never 

 

39. The next few questions ask you about your feelings while you were at home during 

lockdown when school was closed. For each question you will be asked to circle how often 

you felt a certain way. 

Response options for each statement: Never, Almost never, Sometimes, Fairly often, Very 

often 

k. During lockdown, how often were you upset because of something that happened 

unexpectedly? 

l. During lockdown, how often did you feel you were unable to control the important 

things in your life? 

m. During lockdown, how often did you feel nervous and stressed? 

n. During lockdown, how often did you feel confident about your ability to handle your 

personal problems? 

o. During lockdown, how often did you feel things were going your way? 

p. During lockdown, how often did you find you could not cope with all the things you 

had to do? 

q. During lockdown, how often were you able to control the irritations in your life? 

r. During lockdown, how often did you feel that you were on top of things? 

s. During lockdown, how often were you angry because of things that were outside of 

your control? 

t. During lockdown, how often did you feel difficulties were piling up so high that you 

could not overcome them? 

 

40. The following questions ask about getting help with emotional problems. Remember you 
can skip any that you don’t want to answer. 

If you were having a personal or emotional problem, how likely is it that you would seek help 
from the following people? Please indicate your response by putting a line through the number 
that best describes your intention to seek help from each help source that is listed. 1 = 
Extremely Unlikely 3 = Unlikely 5 = Likely 7 = Extremely Likely 

Friend (not related to you)  

Parent  

Other relative/family member  

Mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, 
social worker, counsellor) 

 

Phone helpline (e.g., Childline)  

Doctor/GP  

Minister or religious leader (e.g., priest, Rabbi, 
Imam) 

 

I would not seek help from anyone  

I would seek help from another not listed above 
(please specify) 

 

41. Have you used any of the following resources to get help with a personal or emotional 
problem during the COVID-19 lockdown? 

b. Apps; online sites (e.g., Kooth); phone line (e.g., Childline); talked to friend or family 

member; counsellor or psychologist; other; none 

Page 250

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

11 
 

 

Appendix 3: Staff survey 

 

About you 

42. School name 

 

43. Number of years working in current school 

 

44. Number of years working in education sector 

 

45. Role in school 

a. Teacher 

b. Classroom assistant 

c. Lunchtime supervisor/playworker 

d. Head/assistant headteacher 

e. Head of year 

f. Department head 

g. Administration, business, accounts 

h. Learning mentor 

i. Special education needs coordinator and inclusion specialist 

j. Technical staff 

k. Caretaker, caterer, cleaner 

l. School nurse 

m. Other 

 

46. Age 

 

47. Sex 

a. Male 

b. Female 

c. Trans male 

d. Trans female 

e. Other 

f. Prefer not to say 

48. Sexual orientation 

a. Heterosexual 

b. Homosexual 

c. Bisexual 

d. Other 

e. Prefer not to say 

 

49. Local authority of residence 

a. Sefton 

b. Liverpool 

Page 251

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

12 
 

c. St Helens 

d. Knowsley 

e. Wirral 

f. West Lancashire 

g. Other 

 

50. Which of the following best describes your ethnic group? 

White  

a. English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish or British 

b. Irish 

c. Gypsy or Irish Traveller 

d. Any other white background 

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups 

i. White and Black Caribbean 

j. White and Black African 

k. White and Asian 

l. Any other Mixed or Multiple ethnic background 

Asian or Asian British 

k. Indian 

l. Pakistani 

m. Bangladeshi 

n. Chinese 

o. Any other Asian background 

Black, African, Caribbean or Black British 

g. African 

h. Caribbean 

i. Any other Black, African or Caribbean background 

Your wellbeing 

51. Please read every statement carefully and click on the answer that best describes your 

thoughts and feelings over the last two weeks. There are no right or wrong answers. 

Response options for each statement: None of the time, rarely, some of the time, often, all 

of the time 

dd. I’ve been feeling optimistic about the future 
ee. I’ve been feeling useful 
ff. I’ve been feeling relaxed 
gg. I’ve been feeling interested in other people 
hh. I’ve had energy to spare 
ii. I’ve been dealing with problems well 
jj. I’ve been thinking clearly 
kk. I’ve been feeling good about myself 
ll. I’ve been feeling close to other people 
mm. I’ve been feeling confident 
nn. I’ve been able to make up my own mind about things 
oo. I’ve been feeling loved 

Page 252

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

13 
 

pp. I’ve been interested in new things 
qq. I’ve been feeling cheerful  

 

52. On a scale of 1-10, with 1 being very unsatisfied and 10 being very satisfied, how satisfied 

are you with the provision of resilience building or emotional health and mental wellbeing 

activities for students in your school? 

 

53. On a scale of 1-10, with 1 being very unsatisfied and 10 being very satisfied, how satisfied 

are you with the provision of wellbeing or support services for staff in your school? 

 

54. Would you be interested in wellbeing or support services for staff being offered in your 

school? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Not sure 

 

55. To what extent do the sentences below describe you? 

Response options: not at all, a little, somewhat, quite a bit, a lot 

a. I have people I can respect in my life 

b. Getting and improving qualifications or skills is important to me 

c. My family knows a lot about me 

d. I try to finish what I start 

e. I can solve problems without harming myself or others (e.g. without using drugs or 

being violent) 

f. I know where to get help in my community 

g. I feel I belong in my community 

h. My family stands behind me during difficult times 

i. My friends stand behind me during difficult time 

j. I am treated fairly in my community 

k. I have opportunities to show others that I can act responsibly 

l. I enjoy my family’s/partner’s cultural and family traditions 

Your experience during COVID-19 and school closures 

56. How would you rate your knowledge level on COVID-19 

a. Scale: 1 (poor) - 5 (very good) 

57. Have you had the COVID-19 vaccine? 

a. Yes 

b. No 

c. Not eligible 

d. Have not been offered it 

58. How did you find the experience of lockdown? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring); 5 = very fun) 

Page 253

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

14 
 

59. How did you found the experience of teaching online while the schools were closed? 

a. (1=very bad; 5 = very good) 

b. (1=very hard; 5 = very easy) 

c. (1=very boring; 5 = very fun) 

 

60. How did you keep in touch with friends and family outside of your household during 

lockdown (select all that apply)? 

a. Telephone/text or whatsapp/video calls (e.g., facetime, Zoom, 

Houseparty)/Facebook/Instagram/Snapchat/TikTok/email/other/none 

 

61. How regularly (for each selected)? 

a. Daily/every other day/a couple of times a week/once a week/never 

 

62. The next few questions ask you about your feelings while you were at home during 

lockdown when school was closed. For each question you will be asked to circle how often 

you felt a certain way. 

Response options for each statement: Never, Almost never, Sometimes, Fairly often, Very 

often 

u. During lockdown, how often were you upset because of something that happened 

unexpectedly? 

v. During lockdown, how often did you feel you were unable to control the important 

things in your life? 

w. During lockdown, how often did you feel nervous and stressed? 

x. During lockdown, how often did you feel confident about your ability to handle your 

personal problems? 

y. During lockdown, how often did you feel things were going your way? 

z. During lockdown, how often did you find you could not cope with all the things you 

had to do? 

aa. During lockdown, how often were you able to control the irritations in your life? 

bb. During lockdown, how often did you feel that you were on top of things? 

cc. During lockdown, how often were you angry because of things that were outside of 

your control? 

dd. During lockdown, how often did you feel difficulties were piling up so high that you 

could not overcome them? 

 

63. The following questions ask about getting help with emotional problems. Remember you 
can skip any that you don’t want to answer. 

If you were having a personal or emotional problem, how likely is it that you would seek help 
from the following people? Please indicate your response by putting a line through the number 
that best describes your intention to seek help from each help source that is listed. 1 = 
Extremely Unlikely 3 = Unlikely 5 = Likely 7 = Extremely Likely 

Friend (not related to you)  

Parent  

Other relative/family member  

Mental health professional (e.g., psychologist, 
social worker, counsellor) 

 

Page 254

Agenda Item 12



Agenda Item 12b 
 
Appendices – please note the wording for the surveys may slightly change before 
administering after going through the ethics process at LJMU in September. However the 
concept behind the question will remain the same. 

15 
 

Phone helpline (e.g., Childline)  

Doctor/GP  

Minister or religious leader (e.g., priest, Rabbi, 
Imam) 

 

I would not seek help from anyone  

I would seek help from another not listed above 
(please specify) 

 

 

64. Have you used any of the following resources to get help with a personal or emotional 
problem during the COVID-19 lockdown? 

c. Apps; online sites (e.g., Kooth); phone line (e.g., Childline); talked to friend or family 

member; counsellor or psychologist; other; none 

 

 

Page 255

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of meeting held on Friday 28th May 2021
	5 Feedback and Evaluation report - Coronation Park
	6 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Hesketh Park Improvements
	7 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Coast & Parks User Satisfaction Survey
	Item 7a Communications Plan GS Customer Satisfaction Survey draft v01
	Item 7b Satisfaction Park-User Survey draftv2
	Item 7c Satisfaction Coast-User Survey draftv2

	8 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Integrated Care Partnership Communications and Engagement Approach (Presentation at Panel)
	9 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Co-Production Report Day Care Opportunities
	Item 9a EIA Day Care updated June 2021 v3
	Item 9b Day Opportunities - draft themes for engagement

	10 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Supported Living Briefing Paper
	11 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Bootle Area Action Plan Community Engagement Strategy with presentation at Panel by Michael Clare
	Item 11a Bootle AAP Community Engagement Strategy (CES) Jun 21

	12 Proposal to undertake Public Engagement and Consultation Activity - Mental Health Survey in Sefton Schools / Colleges
	Item 12a Point 3.6 Evaluation Report Link
	Contributions
	Acknowledgements
	Abbreviations
	Executive summary
	Literature review
	Current provision in Sefton schools
	Student wellbeing and resilience survey
	Staff wellbeing and resilience survey
	Conclusions
	Recommendations

	1 Introduction
	1.1 The Sefton context
	1.2 Research aims

	2 Evaluation methods
	3 Literature review
	3.1 The extent of the problem
	3.2 Risk factors associated with poor EHWB
	3.3 Adverse childhood experiences
	3.4 National policy approaches to EHWB
	Recent national mental health policy, guidance and advice
	Public health approaches

	3.5 The role of schools in EHWB
	Whole-school approaches
	School ethos and environment
	EHWB education in the curriculum
	Examples of universal EHWB interventions
	The Gatehouse Project
	The Beyondblue Schools Research Initiative

	Personal, social, health and economic education
	Selected and indicated approaches
	Early intervention/identification
	Access to specialist support

	Implementation and delivery

	Summary: Literature Review
	The extent of the problem
	National policy
	The role of schools in EHWB


	4 An overview of current provision in Sefton schools
	4.1 Approaches to supporting young people’s EHWB
	Main factors relating to young people’s emotional health and wellbeing
	Current programmes and services that support young people’s emotional health and wellbeing in Sefton
	The role of ‘community’ in supporting young people’s EHWB
	Young people’s role in their own emotional health and wellbeing
	The role of staff in addressing young people’s EHWB

	4.2 School-level examples
	Summary: Current provision in Sefton schools

	5 Specific programme case studies
	5.1 Changes to school’s culture, capacity and approach
	Rainbow Leaders
	Overview
	Facilitators & Barriers
	Perceived Impact
	Resources

	Academic Resilience Approach
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Perceived impact
	Resources

	Emotional Literacy
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Perceived impact
	Resources

	Growth Mindset
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Perceived impact
	Resources


	5.2 Working with external providers
	Big Love Little Sista project
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Perceived impact
	Resources

	Youth Connect 5
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Impact
	Resources

	Nurture and Thrive
	Overview
	Facilitators and barriers
	Perceived impact
	Resources


	Summary: Specific programme case studies

	6 Student wellbeing and resilience survey
	6.1 Sample characteristics
	6.2 Resilience
	Individual characteristics
	Self-esteem
	Empathy
	Problem solving
	Goals and aspirations

	Protective factors
	Family connection and participation
	Community connection and participation
	School connection and participation
	Peer support at school


	6.3 Mental wellbeing
	6.4 Associations between resilience and mental wellbeing
	Summary: Student wellbeing and resilience survey
	Resilience
	Mental wellbeing


	7 Staff wellbeing and resilience survey
	7.1 Sample characteristics
	7.2 Resilience
	7.3 Mental wellbeing
	7.4 Associations between resilience and mental wellbeing
	7.5 Staff satisfaction with school provision of wellbeing activities
	Summary: Staff wellbeing and resilience survey
	Resilience
	Mental wellbeing
	Staff satisfaction with school provision of wellbeing activities


	8 Key learning and recommendations
	8.1 Addressing EHWB with a focus on multiple aspects of wellbeing through whole-school approaches
	Recommendations:

	8.2 Resilience and mental wellbeing decline as students progress through school
	Recommendations:

	8.3 Addressing both individual and structural factors to make a difference
	Recommendations:

	8.4 Formal evaluation of the programmes is rare, potentially causing difficulties with sustaining implementation
	Recommendations:

	8.5 Teacher’s own EHWB is important
	Recommendations:


	9 Conclusions
	10 References
	Appendix 1. Methods and analysis
	Content Analysis of Mission Statements
	School Survey
	Qualitative Interviews
	Development of the Logic Model
	Survey with school students and staff
	Ethical considerations
	Study Limitations

	Appendix 2. School-level case studies

	Item 12b C&YP MH Survey Appendices




